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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

mEEE CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
HE12A31HIEEE
Year ended 31 December
20214 20204
ARBTFT AR®ETFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue 386,831 521,561
PRPTSI AR Profit before income taxation 8,964 56,944
FREMNR2E @ 4EEE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 6,624 44, 364
AANTER ANELERGF K Profit and total comprehensive income
SHEWEAEEE for the year attributable to owners of
the Company 7,250 44 364
BEKRERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
¥12H31H
As at 31 December
20215 20204F
ARBFT ARBEFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
ERIEE Non-current assets 63,246 51,031
TMENEE Current assets 473,511 448 140
BERE Total assets 536,757 499,171
Emkas Equity and liabilities
ErIasE Non-current liabilities 8,246 13,832
I =R Current liabilities 278,836 242,729
= REElR Total liabilities 287,082 256,561
EmABER Total equity 249,675 242,610
MBEERE Net current assets 194,675 205,411
B —FFR
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6 China New Energy Limited

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”or “We”), | am pleased to report the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (“Reporting Year”).

2021 was a year full of challenges. Domestic and foreign environments
were still complicated and highly changeable. Whilst the spread of
COVID-19 globally could not be contained effectively, its Delta and
Omicron variants were spreading and threatening the world. Due to many
unstable and uncertain external factors, we have been unable to make
progress in several potential projects in Africa, Southeast Asia and other
regions. China’s domestic epidemic prevention and control policies were
more stringent, and the economic environment was complicated by a
variety of uncertain factors. Domestic economic recovery and development
were also uneven, with upward pressure on upstream commodities and
raw material prices affected our industry and the Company, shrinking
our profit margin. Influenced by the 2017 national policy to expand fuel
ethanol production, capacities of the fuel ethanol and edible alcohol
industries have been saturated after years of domestic expansion. New
investors in the industries are unwilling to invest in the construction of new
ethanol production facilities, while policy support from the government
is also weakening. The Company’s business development has been
significantly affected.

Under adverse business environment and industry downturn, the Board
and management team of the Company led all employees to preserve
their beliefs, rise to challenge, work hard, uphold the business philosophy
of steady operation and continuous improvement, strengthen scientific
and technological innovation and actively adapt to the situation. They
also required the marketing team to explore project opportunities through
multiple channels, excel in technical, service and even price competitions
and do their very best to secure new projects. The engineering department
shall execute well in the completion of existing projects, consolidate
our overall capabilities in development, and turn disadvantages into
opportunities. We mainly aim to stabilise the Company’s operating
performance and try to control the degree of decline. Under the current
circumstance of shrinking business volume, the technology and R&D
departments continued to proceed in technological research, strengthen
project's R&D cooperation with well-known universities and elevate the
Company’s R&D level. We strive to take the lead in the development and
utilisation of new energy technologies in the future.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Our total revenue has decreased by 25.8% from approximately
RMB521.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB386.8 miillion for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Due to the aforementioned market environment and other factors, the
number of newly signed contracts this year has significantly decreased,
resulting in a decrease in the number of contracts that can be performed
and hence a decline in realised revenue this year.

Our profit for the year decreased by 82.4% from approximately RMB44.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB7.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, mainly due to the decline
in turnover, shrinking of gross profit margin and decrease in gross profit
by 65.9% year on year. Meanwhile, the impairment loss of contract assets
and receivables increased by 50.6%, resulting in a substantial decrease in
net profit.

PROSPECTS

From the macro environmental perspective, 2022 is a critical period for
the Chinese government to fully implement the 14th Five-Year Strategic
Plan. The main keynote of China's economic development is “Stability
comes first whilst pursuing progress with stability secured”. The pandemic
in China is still recurring in some areas, although it is under control on the
whole. China’s economy is expected to continue experiencing a steady
trend of recovery in 2022. While the economy is recovering, there are
also factors that might affect the sustainability of recovery. The overall
economic situation is still not optimistic.

S —FFR
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8 China New Energy Limited

In response to the national call for “carbon emission reduction” and
“carbon neutrality”, cellulosic ethanol technology is constantly being
improved. This year, the National Energy Administration Bureau has
issued “The Guiding Opinions on Energy Work in 2022”, which proposed
to “accelerate the advance in creating demonstrative examples in
cellulosic and other non-food biofuel ethanol industries”. This indicates
that the development of cellulosic fuel ethanol will be a key direction of
national support. The Company has been deeply engaged in the bio-
energy industry for many years and has developed certain cellulosic
ethanol production technical solutions which can provide the technology
and equipment required for industrialisation. The Company will continue
to optimise its cellulosic ethanol technology and build demonstrative
projects under the mature administrative policies and market conditions.
The Company has always paid attention to the research in energy saving
and emission reduction and upgrades with the latest technology and
equipment so as to provide replacement and upgrading services for
industries in which the Company operates.

The Company also contemplates to strengthen its research and
development in the field of clean and new energy, such as the
development of hydrogen energy technology and related equipment
manufacturing, for its future business expansion which shall provide
commercial momentum for its sustainable development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my appreciation to the
valued shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”), supportive
business partners and associates, insightful management team and
dedicated staff for all their contributions and commitments to the
Company. | would also like to thank the Board for their valuable advice in
steering the Group.

Yu Weijun
Chairman and Executive Director

14 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is a leading ethanol system producer in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”). We primarily provide integrated
services including engineering design, equipment manufacturing,
installation and commissioning, and subsequent maintenance for the core
system of ethanol production system in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industries in the PRC. The Company has been qualified as
a National High-Tech Enterprise equipped with a provincial standard
technology centre. We have cooperated with Guangzhou Institute of
Energy Conversion, Chinese Academy of Sciences and various well-
known universities, and have undertaken many national research projects
with over 30 patented technologies researched and developed by the
Company. These proprietary intellectual properties enable us to provide
production processes and technologies for alcohol, ethanol fuel and
similar chemicals for customers at large. The pressure vessel equipment
designed and constructed by the Company are both CE and ASME
certified.

The Company is well-equipped to undertake a full range of services
from engineering design, large-scale equipment manufacturing to
integration, installation and commissioning for alcohol, ethanol fuel
and similar production systems. We provide customers with complete
customised solutions for project construction, relocation, upgrading,
transformation and installation of systems through bidding, invitation
to bid and quotation. According to our business process and operation
system, we have established a business model led by marketing service
and followed by technical R&D centre support, centralised procurement,
collaborative production, distribution and on-site production, installation
and commissioning, where each step is assigned with technical engineer
service. We have thus created a comprehensive system of design,
construction and turnkey project to sincerely serve our customers.

S —FFR
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China New Energy Limited

In 2021, China’s fixed asset investment grew by 4.9% year-over-year,
significantly lower than the 8.1% growth in GDP for the same period.
This indicates that effective investment demands were weak, especially
for the fuel ethanol and edible alcohol production industries where the
Company operates. Apparently the willingness to invest in fixed assets was
not strong. Faced with complex and volatile domestic and international
environments, the ongoing global spread of the COVID-19 and the
emergence of the new Delta and Omicron variants, we barely made any
progress in our overseas projects under negotiation in recent years due
to mounting external instability and uncertainty. Domestically, as market
environment was affected and intricate, national economy registered an
unbalanced recovery where the rising raw material and commaodity prices
in the upstream constantly imposed pressure on downstream industries,
resulting in an unstable recovery in demand. As a result, domestic
production and economic activities experienced severe challenges. The
quarterly growth rates dropped from 18.3% in the first quarter to 4.0% in
the fourth quarter, with major economic indicators going weak. As for the
fuel ethanol and edible alcohol industries where the Company operates,
demand has been saturated following expansion of production capacities
in recent years. In response to the complicated and unfavorable business
environment, under the leadership of the Board, management team of
the Company has tried every means to overcome difficulties and control
the decline of the Company’s business performance by focusing on the
annual business objectives and tasks.

During the Reporting Year, trading in the shares of the Company on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) has
been suspended since 1 April 2021 due to the delay in publication of
the 2020 Final Results and will remain suspended until further notice.
The Company has been working effectively to fulfill the requirements in
accordance with the resumption guidance issued by the Stock Exchange.
Pursuant to the resumption guidance, the Company has established an
independent investigation committee; engaged a special independent
investigator to conduct an investigation in respect of the previous auditor's
concerns and announced the investigation results on 28 January
2022; engaged an internal control consultant to assess the Company’s
internal control system and implementation procedures, thus assisting
the Company to improve the deficiencies in its internal controls, and
announced the major findings in the internal control review on 2 June
2022. The Company has also engaged a new auditor to perform the audit
for the 2020 annual results and published its 2020 Annual Report, 2021
Interim Report and this 2021 Annual Report. The Company is expected
to apply to the Stock Exchange for resumption of trading upon completing
the publication of all the delayed reports in near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The main business activities of the Group in the current year are as

follows:

1)

Marketing activities and market development

During the Reporting Year, while the COVID-19 pandemic was
still raging around the world, some potential overseas projects of
the Company have almost ground to a halt. Marketing team of
the Company could only shift its focus to the domestic market
the environment of which was not that optimistic. The saturation
in the ethanol industry’s production capacity has affected the
Company’s business. In addition, as it is affected by the prevention
and control measures of the COVID-19 pandemic in some area
from time to time, and the market activities are not easy to carry
out, and most of our marketing activities had to be conducted on-
line rather than face-to-face, the effectiveness and success rates
have been significantly impaired, hence resulting in lower business
volumes.

During 2021, the Group has signed sales contracts with a total
value of approximately RMB179.0 million. When compared with
the Group's total contract value of approximately RMB659.3
million for 2020, the contract sum had decreased by RMB480.3
million or approximately 72.8%. It indicated that the market and
economic conditions in 2021 were considerably more unfavorable
to the Group and the substantial decrease in the amount of new
contracts has affected the operating income of the current year.

During the Reporting Year, the Company recorded a total
operating income of RMB386.8 million, representing a
decrease of RMB134.8 million or approximately 25.8%
when compared to approximately RMB521.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The significant drop in the
number of new contracts secured did not only impact the
operating income this year but also might affect that for the
coming years.

S —FFR
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China New Energy Limited

2)

The status of projects under construction

During the Reporting Year, Engineering, Procurement and
Construction (“EPC”") projects in fuel ethanol and edible alcohol
industries still represented the main types of projects for the
Company, with facility upgrades rather than completely new built
as the majority. The five highest value projects accounted for
about 90% of the total revenue for the year, having generated total
revenue of approximately RMB351 million. The remaining 10%
of revenue was attributable to certain equipment renovation and
upgrading projects provided to some small and medium-sized fuel
ethanol or edible alcohol producers in addition to direct sales of
small equipment and components. The five highest value projects
are outlined below.

The highest value project was our provision of a new set of
equipment producing an annual output of 300 thousand tons
of fuel ethanol with corn biomass as feedstock for a regular
customer in Heilongjiang Province. It contributed approximately
RMB133 million of revenue. The second highest value one was
an EPC project for upgrading and transforming an old production
facility to produce a daily output of 300 tons of high quality
alcohol in Heilongjiang Province, which contributed approximately
RMB70 million of revenue for the year. The third largest contract
contributed approximately RMB70 million of revenue and it
provided an existing customer in Heilongjiang Province with
a new set of equipment producing an annual output of 300
thousand tons of fuel ethanol using corn biomass as feedstock for
its phase 2 facility expansion. The fourth largest contract was to
supply, install and commission an alcohol distillation equipment
for an existing customer in Anhui Province for its relocation and
renovation of a fuel ethanol production plant with an annual
output of 300 thousand tons. It contributed approximately RMB65
million of revenue. The fifth highest value project was an alcohol
distillation and dehydration equipment with an annual output of
100 thousand tons of neutral edible alcohol and 100 thousand
tons of fuel ethanol alcohol for a new customer in Heilongjiang
Province, contributing approximately RMB13 million of revenue.
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Technology research and development

During the Reporting Year, the Company continued to increase
R&D investment and adhered to the innovation-oriented business
philosophy. It helped maintain the Company’s competitiveness
in ethanol production technology and create a sound technical
foundation for the Company’s market development. In 2021, the
Company invested RMB21 million in research and development
and applied for 2 new patents in order to further strengthen the
Company’s core technology competitiveness in the industry.

The Group is engaged in multiple research projects in fuel ethanol
and edible alcohol production plant and its process methods,
among which, there are two key research and development
projects. The first project performs R&D on hydrogen production
technology and equipment (RDO65). In 2021, the project has
manufactured the first set of hydrogen production devices for
gaining proof of concept and commissioning trials. In turn,
we have obtained important technical data and equipment
manufacturing experience, which helped us establish solid
foundation for diversifying into another new energy industry.
Another one is a major science and technology project (RD0O61)
in Guangdong Province, which is carried out by our project
team in close collaboration with a project team organised by
various universities. After several times of online and offline
communications and discussions, the process designs for the
above projects have been integrated and refined. Moreover,
the process flow diagrams of the projects including instruments
control and pipelines layout have been completed. The project
team has delegated its members for site inspection and
measurement in terms of its plant construction many times,
and the layout plans for equipment and the whole plant were
completed. At the same time, the design and processing plan
for the main equipment has been finished. According to the
design plan, we have formulated the material and equipment
procurement plan required for the entire pilot plant. Certain
materials and equipment included in the procurement plan have
been purchased. Those materials and equipment which have
been purchased are already put in the manufacturing process.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

(1)

Business development strategy

In the next few years, with the world’s attention and commitment
to carbon emission reduction and carbon neutrality and China’s
dual carbon goals, application and development of new energy
production technologies will enter into a new era. The Company
will seize this historic opportunity and actively develop new
technologies and new business given its leading position in the
industry.

The Company aims to maintain technical advantages in the fuel
ethanol market. Through our R&D efforts in the cutting-edge 1.5th
and 2nd generation cellulose ethanol production technologies
as well as hydrogen energy production technology and related
equipment manufacturing, we shall be able to increase project
income from these new areas in the future.

Looking forward, the Company will further strengthen the building
of our marketing team, continuously improve the depth and
breadth of sales network, maintain good relationships with the
existing customers and actively acquire new customers. The
Company will also proactively explore investment opportunities
in related industries and increase technical service income from
other chemicals in order to expand the current revenue mix.

The Company will, where possible, seek opportunities to enter
into downstream industries and cooperate with private enterprises
to produce and sell ethanol by leveraging on its technological
advantages. We believe the above maneuvers will bring additional
and stable energy income to the Group.
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(2)  Strengthen technology R&D

Independent innovation is vital to the Company’s sustainable
development. Since its establishment, the Company has
committed substantial resources to R&D for new technologies
and processes. As at the end of the Reporting Year, the Group
has successfully registered a total of 34 patents, including 22
invention patents. Relying on its leading position in the clean
energy technology industry, the Company will continue to increase
investment in technology R&D. We conduct effective and regular
exchanges with customers, universities and research institutes
so as to create an organic combination of learning, research
and production. Our R&D activities will focus on fuel ethanol
technology, super grade alcohol, hydrogen production and
equipment manufacturing technology. So long as our technology
is ahead of the curve, it will eventually be converted into business
income to our Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Year, the Company realised a total operating revenue
of RMB386.8 million (2020: RMB521.6 million), a decrease of 25.8%
over the year ended 31 December 2020, and a profit attributable to
owners of the Company of RMB8.4 million (2020: RMB44.4 million),
which decreased by 81.1% compared to the year ended 31 December
2020. The decrease of revenue was mainly due to the contracts secured
less than previous years. The total contracted amount shrunk about
72.8% in the Reporting Year as affected by the inactive investment
expenditure of ethanol industry during the COVID-19 outbreak period.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased by approximately RMB47.3 million, or 12.2%,
from approximately RMB388.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately RMB341.5 million for the Reporting Year. Such
decrease was mainly driven by the corresponding decrease in revenue of
the Reporting Year.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately RMB87.4 million,
or 65.9%, from approximately RMB132.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB45.3 million for the Reporting Year.
The Group'’s overall gross profit margin decreased from approximately
25.4% for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately 11.7% for
the Reporting Year. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to
a number of sizable contracts having been priced at discounts for regular
customers, or the costs being overrun.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses decreased by approximately
RMB2.8 million, or 31.8%, from approximately RMB8.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB6.0 million for the
Reporting Year, mainly due to difficult marketing promotion. The marketing
activities and communications through traditional visits previously were
shifted to on-line mode during the COVID-19 outbreak period in 2021,
which saved some costs but could not bring more contracts for the
Company.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately RMB30.2
million, or 57.5%, from approximately RMB52.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately RMB22.3 million for the Reporting
Year. Such great fluctuation was mainly attributable to most IPO listing
expenses incurred in 2020 which the IPO was completed, and some
expenses were non-recurring in 2021.

Net impairment losses Under Expected Credit Loss Model

The Group’s net impairment losses under expected credit loss model
increased by approximately RMB8.2 million, or 50.6%, from RMB16.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB24.4
million for the Reporting Year, mainly due to the uncertainty of the
economic development. The Company engaged a third independent
appraiser who prepared a valuation for trade receivables and contract
assets.
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Other income and other gains — net

The other income and other gains — net increased by approximately
RMB15.2 million from approximately RMB3.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately RMB18.3 million for the Reporting
Year, were mainly attributable to some contracts of the Concerned
Transactions (as defined on pages 39 and 82 of this annual report) being
cancelled, as a result of which an approximately RMB10.7 million was
refunded and recognised as other income of the Group in 2021.

Finance costs — net

The Group’s finance costs — net increased by approximately RMBO0.6
million from approximately RMB1.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB2.0 million for the Reporting Year.
The finance costs mainly represented interests on bank borrowings. There
was an increase on loan amount in 2021.

Income tax expenses

The income tax expense decreased by approximately RMB11.5 million
from approximately RMB12.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately RMB1.1 million for the Reporting Year, primarily
attributable to the decrease in the taxable profit during the Reporting
Year. Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology
Co. Ltd.* (BERARKTHERRIEERAE), being a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company which was qualified as High and New
Technology Enterprise in 2019, was entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15%. The effective tax rate for 2021 was 9.8%. The effective tax
rate is lower than the China corporate preferential income tax rate of 15%
because of the R&D expenses, while a deductible proportion can be
200% of the actual the R&D expenses.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, for the Reporting Year, the Group recorded
a profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB8.4
million as compared to a profit of approximately RMB44.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB36.0 million or 81.1%, mainly due to the decrease in revenue and
gross profit margin.

* For identification purpose only
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company’s ordinary shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 15 July 2020 (the “Listing Date”). The net proceeds
from the listing, after deduction of the underwriting commission and actual
expenses paid by the Group in connection thereto, were approximately
HK$20 million. As at 31 December 2021, the net proceeds have been
fully utilised in the manners as disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 June 2020 (the “Prospectus”).

The below table sets out the proposed and actual applications of the net
proceeds from the Listing Date up to 31 December 2021:
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NEER PSR LA IBE  Strengthening financial position to
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#IEIEE #E(10%) Funding the research and
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, there were a total of 589,758,898 shares
in issue. There was no change in the number of issued shares of the
Company during the Reporting Year.

The Group'’s operation and investments were financed principally by cash
generated from its business operations and equity contribution from the
Shareholders.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB194.7 million (2020: approximately RMB205.4
million) and bank deposits, balances and cash of approximately RMB6.9
million (2020: approximately RMB37.3 million).
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group's total equity attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately RMB249.9 million (2020:
approximately RMB242.6 million), and the Group’s total debt comprising
lease liabilities amounted to approximately RMB287.1 million (2020:
approximately RMB256.6 million). The Directors have confirmed that the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they
fall due in the foreseeable future.

The Group expresses its gearing ratio as a percentage of total debts
divided by total equity. The Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 1.15
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately 1.06).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures. Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have other plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets as
at 31 December 2021.

BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s borrowings were approximately
RMB31.9 million (31 December 2020: RMB20.7 million), of which
RMB24.4 million will be repayable within 1 year. Such loans were all
denominated in RMB. The weighted average effective interest rates as at
31 December 2021 and 2020 are 4.62% and 4.72% respectively. There
is no seasonal requirement for borrowings.

As at 31 December 2021, the right-of-use land and buildings of the
Company’s subsidiaries have been pledged to the bank as security for
banking facilities granted to the Group. The pledged land and properties
will be released upon the settlement of relevant loans.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the Group’s operation in China, the major revenue and expenses
are denominated in RMB. Since there are certain monetary assets and
monetary liabilities that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the Group
would be exposed to foreign exchange risk.
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The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Company monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the need arises.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's financing and treasury activities are centrally managed and
controlled at the corporate level. Bank borrowings of the Group are all
denominated in RMB and have been arranged on instalment repayment
basis. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative transactions for
speculative purposes.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2021 (2020:Nil).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments (2020: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information for the Group is disclosed in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 101 employees (2020: 103
employees). The decrease in the number of employees was mainly
attributable to the staff turnover in the project management and support
department in the PRC.

The Group believes that on-going and continuous development of its
employees is critical to its success. The Group provides its employees
with tailored training programmes that are designed to upgrade their skills
and knowledge and to prepare them for the next step in their career path
within the Group. The Group entered into separate labour contracts with
each of its employees in accordance with the applicable labour laws of
China. The remuneration offered to employees generally includes salaries
and bonuses. In general, the Group determines salaries of its employees
based on each employee’s qualification, position and performance.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Weijun, aged 57, is an executive Director and chairman of
the Board. He joined the Group in August 2006. Mr. Yu is primarily
responsible for the overall strategic planning and corporate development
of the Group. He is also a member of the remuneration committee, the
chairman of each of the nomination committee and the risk management
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu is a director of Guangdong Zhongke
Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (B & &K T
e RARHE BR/AT]) and Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High
and New Technology Engineering Co., Limited* (ER&1BZ&HRIKXTS
WMEMIEERAR).

Mr. Yu has over 33 years of experience in the technology sector. From
June 2014 to October 2018, he was appointed as the supervisor of Tiandi
Science & Technology Co., Ltd* CRHIEHZRMBERAE) (a listed
company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600582). From
September 2015 to December 2018, Mr. Yu was the director of Hubei Jin
Zhuang Renewable Resources of Science and Technology Co., Ltd* G5
It HREBEERAE/AT). From January 2016 to January 2022,
he acted as an independent non-executive director of Guangzhou Startec
Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (BMEZRFEKRMDERAHT) (a
listed company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 430429).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor's degree in Economics from Jilin University
of Finance and Economics (FMEF 48 A£2) (previously known as Jilin
Institute of Finance and Economics* (F#EFBEB%)) in Changchun,
China. He also obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration
from Sun Yat-Sen University (also known as Zhongshan University*) (F7LLJ
KE) in Guangzhou, China. Mr. Yu is a member of The Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants* (FREIsE & 5HEM#®) and a member
of the Guangdong Institute of Certified Public Accountants* (24 51
BEEIHE).

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. TANG Zhaoxing, aged 52, is an executive Director and chief executive
officer of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2006. Mr. Tang is
primarily responsible for overseeing the overall operation, sales and project
design and management of the Group.

From June 2002 to August 2006, Mr. Tang was a general manager of
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan Regeneration Resources Engineering
Co., Ltd.* (BEERFPR KX THBEERILIEBMAHT). He is the director
and deputy chief executive officer of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New
Energy Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (BRI KTHEREE A
RAED.

Mr. Tang has over 31 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sectors. Prior to joining the Group, he has held various
management and engineer positions in the sectors of operation and sales;
process and equipment installation design; process planning and design;
and technology and project management.

Mr. Tang obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from South China
University of Technology (EERIETAZ) in Guangdong, China and an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from Peking University
JERAZ) in Beijing, China.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Antony BENNETT, aged 53, was appointed as a Director
and re-designated as an independent non-executive Director in March
2011 and July 2020 respectively. He is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the risk management committee of the Company.

Mr. Bennett has over 28 years of experience in the technology sector.
Prior to joining the Group, he was a director and a co-founder and later
a consultant of FAI Inc. (currently known as Ziff Davis Inc.) from January
1994 to June 1999. Mr. Bennett was a director of Virtual Internet plc
(stock code: VI), the shares of which are listed on the London Stock
Exchange, from January 1999 to December 2001 and was a corporate
development director at Coms plc and later promoted as the chief
executive officer from November 2005 to January 2013. He was also a
non-executive director of MTI Wireless Edge Ltd. (stock code: MWE) from
February 2013 to March 2022. He has been a non-executive director and
chairman of Getech Group plc (stock code: GTC) since January 2021.
Both companies are listed on the London Stock Exchange. Mr. Bennett
is also a director and chief executive officer of Sunbird Bioenergy Africa
Limited and a director of related companies that include Grey Reach
Investments Limited, Sunbird Bioenergy Management Services, Sunbird
Bioenergy Sierra Leone Limited, Sunbird Bioenergy and Zambia Limited.

Mr. CHAN Shing Fat Heron, aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in July 2020. He is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of each of the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in marketing and sales
management. He has held various senior management, managing
directors, consultants and directors positions in sectors of account
management and marketing, managing sales and marketing activities,
liaison to various entities and business associations and project
partnership. Since May 2007, Mr. Chan has been the managing director
of IC Strategy Company Limited, where he has been responsible for
organising education and business related projects, and the business
development of the trading business in China and the international
market.
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China New Energy Limited

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor's degree in Public Administration and
Mathematics from the University of Saskatchewan in Canada, a master’s
degree in Business Administration from Oklahoma City University in the
United States and also a doctorate degree in Business Administration from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong.

Mr. CHAN Siu Shan Sam, aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in July 2020. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the risk management committee of the
Company.

Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in accounting, business
operations and financial management. He has held various finance
managers, audit managers and directors positions in sectors of finance
and administration, accounting and audit. Mr. Chan is a director of
Suntech Management Limited, where he is responsible for accounting,
tax and consultancy matters. He is also a managing director of HPIL
Limited, where he is responsible for a hotel construction project in Saipan,
Northern Mariana Islands (a commonwealth of the United States). Mr.
Chan is a director of CKIT Services Limited, where he is responsible for
providing advisory services on company secretarial matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of science in Biochemistry with
Pharmacology from the University of Southampton and a master's degree
in Business Administration (General Management) from the University
of Lincolnshire & Humberside. He is a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. PAN lJinfeng, aged 50, is our general manager. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall management and daily operations
of the Group, including providing technical support, equipment supplies,
after-sales technical services and company operation management.

Mr. Pan joined the Group in April 2008 as the marketing director and was
responsible for the liaison, undertaking and post-construction services
of the domestic and overseas projects of the Group. He has been the
general manager of Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High and New
Technology Engineering Co., Limited* (ER&EZEPR KT
T T2 ABR/AT]) since February 2012, where he is responsible for
overseeing the overall management and daily operations of the company.
Mr. Pan has been the general manager of the Group since March 2022.

Mr. Pan has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sector. Prior to joining the Group, he has held management
positions in the sectors of technology and project management.

Mr. Pan graduated from Guangdong Science and Technology School* (&
HEREEMER). He has also obtained the national certificate of
senior winemaker.

* For identification purpose only
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China New Energy Limited

Mr. ZHOU Hongcai, aged 53, is our deputy general manager. He is mainly
responsible for overseeing the overall technical design, development and
management of engineering projects.

From April 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Zhou was a technical director at
Zhongke Regeneration. From September 2006 to August 2016, Mr. Zhou
became the technical director of Zhongke Tianyuan. Since August 2016,
Mr. Zhou has been our deputy general manager of Zhongke Tianyuan.

Mr. Zhou has over 30 years of working experience in the engineering
sector. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou has held various positions at
Hunan Jintian Chemical Fertilizer Company Limited* G#E 4 X1EAB1E
T AT . From July 1990 to July 1992, Mr. Zhou was a teacher at
the company’s vocational school where he was responsible for delivering
lectures. From August 1992 to December 1997, Mr. Zhou was the
technical supervisor and technical factory manager of the company’s
adhesive manufacturing plant where he was involved in management
of the factory. From January 1998 to March 2003, Mr. Zhou was the
technical supervisor of the company’s technology development centre,
where he was mainly responsible for technical management.

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’'s degree in chemical engineering at South

China University of Technology (ZEFIE T A%2)in Guangdong, China in
July 1990.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. CEN Delin, aged 48, is our finance director. He has been responsible
for overseeing the daily financial management and accounting matters of
the Group. Mr. Cen joined the Group in February 2012 as the investment
manager of Zhongke Tianyuan.

Mr. Cen has over 19 years of experience in finance and accounting.
Prior to joining the Group, from August 2002 to June 2003, Mr. Cen
was the finance officer of Saiwo Naru (Guangzhou) Shoes Materials
Co., Lid.* (BR#MUNEIMNEMBR/AST)where he was responsible
for overseeing financial matters. He was also the finance manager at
Guangzhou Guangzhong Electromechanical Equipment Engineering
Company Limited* (BIMNEE#ERE T E)and Guangzhou
Deji Aquarium Company Ltd* (BEMNER KIEARAR) from August
2006 to November 2010, and from December 2010 to December 2011
respectively, where he was mainly involved in overseeing daily financial
and accounting matters.

Mr. Cen completed a finance and accounting program at the Wuzhou
Branch of Guangxi University* (B275 A28 M 434 in Guangxi, China in
July 1995. Mr. Cen also studied a part-time course in professional English
at Sun Yat-Sen University * (LK) in Guangzhou, China from August
2005 to January 2008.

Ms. XU Huijuan, aged 42 is our Board secretary/joint company secretary.
Ms. Xu joined the Group in September 2006. She is primarily responsible
for equities management and company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Xu has over 18 years of experience in finance, accounting and
company secretarial matters. Ms. Xu has held various positions in the
Group since joining us in September 2006. From September 2006
to December 2007, she was the deputy office supervisor of Zhongke
Tianyuan. Ms. Xu has been the board secretary of Zhongke Tianyuan since
May 2011. She has also been the finance manager of our Company since
January 2008 and our Board secretary since May 2011.

* For identification purpose only
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China New Energy Limited

Before joining the Group, from July 2003 to September 2006, she was
an accounting assistant and an asset management manager at Zhongke
Environment, where she was primarily responsible for accounting matters,
asset management and equities management.

Ms. Xu obtained her bachelor's degree in Accounting at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies* (BEER4MEINE A Z2) in Guangdong, China
in June 2003. She obtained an intermediate economist qualification
issued by the Human Resources and Social Security Department of
Guangdong Province* (BEHE ANERMAEREES)in January
2011. Ms. Xu also obtained a master’s degree in Professional Accounting
from Sun Yat-sen University* (FALLAX2)in Guangdong, China in
December 2013.

Dr. OU lJingshen, aged 46 is the deputy director of our research and
development department. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
laboratory operations of the Group.

Dr. Ou joined the Group in 2007. From January 2007 to August 2007,
Dr. Ou was a researcher of Zhongke Tianyuan, where he was responsible
for the operation of laboratories and experiments. Since November 2015,
he has been our deputy director of the biofuel engineering technology
research centre of Zhongke Tianyuan, where he has been responsible
for its daily operations, developing research and development plans, and
providing technical support to other departments in Zhongke Tianyuan.

Dr. Ou has over 7 years of experience in laboratory operations. Prior
to joining the Group, from July 1999 to February 2001, Dr. Ou was an
assistant of Guangdong Huaning Group Co. Ltd.* (EREZEREREA
@), where he was responsible for the operation of laboratory tests.

Dr. Ou obtained a bachelor's degree in biopharmaceutical at South
China University of Technology (EEmIZ T A%)in Guangdong, China
in July 1999. He then obtained a master degree in engineering at South
China University of Technology GEmIET K% in Guangdong, China
in June 2006. He also obtained a doctor of science degree at South
China University of Technology (ZERFIE T AE)in Guangdong, China in
December 2014. He has published various articles such as “The Specific
SiRNA Plasmids Construction and their Inhibition Effect on Expression of
mcl-1 Protein in Liver Cancer Cell” and “Incorporation of Endoglucanase
E4 into Minicellulosomes by In-Vitro Assembly” on the Modern Food
Science and Technology and the Journal of South China University of
Technology GERFIE T A2)in 2010 and 2013, respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance. The Board believes that good and effective
corporate governance practices are key to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to sustain the success of the Group to create long-term
value for the Shareholders.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31
December 2021, except for the deviations disclosed on page 32 and
below.

Pursuant to Rules 13.49(1) and 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing Rules, the
Company was required to publish the annual results announcement of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (the “2020
Annual Results”) on or before 31 March 2021, and to despatch the
annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (the “2020
Annual Report”) to the Shareholders on or before 30 April 2021.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 March
2021, there was a delay in publication of the 2020 Annual Results and
despatch of the 2020 Annual Report.

The Board acknowledges that the delay in publication of the 2020 Annual
Results and despatch of the 2020 Annual Report constituted non-
compliance of Rules 13.49(1) and Rule 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing Rules
respectively.

Further, the Company has failed to convene an annual general meeting
and lay the 2020 Annual Results before the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting within the period of 6 months after the financial year
ended 31 December 2020 in accordance with the requirement under
Rule 13.46(2)(b) of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rules 13.49(6) and 13.48(1) of the Listing Rules, the
Company was required to publish the interim results announcement
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021 (the “2021
Interim Results”) on or before 31 August 2021, and to despatch the
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2021 (the “2021 Interim
Report”) to the Shareholders on or before 30 September 2021.
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China New Energy Limited

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8 September
2021, there was a delay in publication of the 2021 Interim Results and
despatch of the 2021 Interim Report.

The Board acknowledges that the delay in publication of the 2021
Interim Results and despatch of the 2021 Interim Report constituted
non-compliance of Rules 13.49(6) and 13.48(1) of the Listing Rules
respectively.

The 2020 Annual Results and the 2021 Interim Results had been
announced on 22 April 2022 and 16 May 2022 respectively and the 2020
Annual Report and the 2021 Interim Report had been despatched to the
Shareholders on 28 May 2022 and 16 June 2022 respectively.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirms that the Directors have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2021.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board comprised a total
of five Directors, being two executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Weijun
(Chairman) and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer); and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony
Bennett, Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron and Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam. The
Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to having (i) at least three independent non-executive directors under
Rule 3.10(1); (ii) at least one of the independent non-executive directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise under Rule 3.10(2); and (iii) independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the board under
Rule 3.10A during the year ended 31 December 2021. As such, there
exists a strong independent element in the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgement.
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Mr. Yu Weijun and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing, the executive Directors, are
interested in the Shares through their interests in Tewin Capital Holding
Limited and Tonzest Capital Holding Limited respectively. Save as
disclosed aforesaid, the Directors have no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 21 to 24 of this
annual report.

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing and approving the Group’s overall
business plans and strategies and monitoring the implementation of such
business plans, strategies and policies, and the leadership and control of
the Company.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The executive Directors are primarily responsible for the overall
management of the Group, while the senior management including
the finance director and the general manager are delegated the
responsibilities of managing the day-to-day businesses and operations and
executing the business decisions of the Group.

The roles of the independent non-executive Directors are to oversee
the Board independently to ensure that there is no potential conflict of
interest, to provide independent advice to the Board, and to ensure that
the Board has taken into consideration the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole when making decisions and the advice of the
senior management team of the Group.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. The
Directors may participate in meetings either in person or through
electronic means of communications. According to the current Board
practice, if a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting rather
than by a written resolution. The articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”) also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided
therein, a Director shall abstain from voting and not be counted in
the quorum at meetings for approving any transaction, contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) has a material interest.

Board and committee minutes are recorded in appropriate detail and
draft minutes are circulated to all Directors and committee members for
comments before being approved.

—EFIR
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China New Energy Limited

During the year ended 31 December 2021, eight Board meetings, of
which four were regular Board meetings, were held and attendance of
each Director at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed
“Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report. Code provision A.1.3 of
the CG Code stipulates that notice of at least 14 days should be given of a
regular board meeting to give all directors an opportunity to attend. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, certain regular Board meetings were
convened with less than 14 days’ notice to facilitate the Directors’ timely
decision-making process in respect of internal affairs of the Group. As
a result, the aforesaid regular Board meetings were held with a shorter
notice period than required with no objection by the Directors. The Board
will use reasonable endeavor to meet the requirement of code provision
A.1.3 of the CG Code in the future.

Code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman should
at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
directors without the presence of other directors. During the year ended
31 December 2021, no formal meeting was arranged between the
Chairman of the Board and the independent non-executive Directors
without the other Directors present due to tight schedules of the
Chairman of the Board and the independent non-executive Directors. The
independent non-executive Directors may communicate and discuss with
the Chairman directly at any time to share their view on the Company’s
affairs. The Company considers that there are sufficient channels and
communication for discussion of the Company’s affairs between the
Chairman and independent non-executive Directors in the absence of
other Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report, Mr. Yu Weijun is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Tang
Zhaoxing is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for overseeing the functions
of the Board and providing leadership for the Board to ensure that the
Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in a timely manner. The Chief
Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the overall management,
operation and businesses of the Group.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each independent non-executive Director pursuant to the requirements
of the Listing Rules. The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Although no new Director was appointed during the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group has an internal policy in place to give
each newly appointed Director a formal and tailored induction after his
appointment so as to ensure that he had appropriate understanding of
the Group’s business and operations and of his duties and responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. The Company provides regular updates on the business
performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are continuously
updated on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and maintain
good corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Directors participated in continuous professional development
by way of attending trainings and/or seminars organised by professional
organisations and director training webcasts organised by the Stock
Exchange and also reading materials relating to new practices, rules
and regulations to keep themselves updated on the roles, functions,
knowledge, skills and duties of a listed company director.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of trainings
received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as
follows:

1A g REM

Trainings/Seminars/

EENA Name of Directors Reading materials
BITES Executive Directors

RERIE Mr. Yu Weijun v
EIRE L Mr. Tang Zhaoxing v
BIJEMITES Independent Non-executive Directors

Richard Antony Bennettst 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett v
FRE%ES o Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron v
R/ DS Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam v

EEREEESR Appointment and Re-election of Directors

EEERTRIZ FRNRSCBAL UFRTE » FFIT
EEMNRTAREEANEESEESE ©XE
ABTRIZSFANRX EAAARTIRE  FREBERE
AR ERNES BT ESERNEERE
AREHRRER MBLEF BEEREEN
WESR) EE D E=FHFERET—R-

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by the
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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All Directors have been appointed for a specific term. Each of the
executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company on 16 June 2020 for a term of three years commencing from
15 July 2020. Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Board pursuant to their respective letters of appointment
dated 16 June 2020 for a term of three years commencing from 15 July
2020.

According to the Articles, any person appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only until the
next annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting. The Articles also provide
that at each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors who are
subject to retirement by rotation shall retire from office and shall be eligible
for re-election at that meeting.

Attendance Record of Meetings

Set out below are details of the attendance record of each Director at the
Board meetings and committee meetings of the Board held during the
year ended 31 December 2021. The Company did not hold any general
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021.

HERY, GEREERY
Attendance/Eligible to attend
B R4 wH REEERE
EX0g3 ZRCEE ZE9gE ZEEEE ZBgg:
Risk
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management
Board  Committee ~ Committee = Committee ~ Committee
EESee Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HiTES Executive Directors
REEEE (EF) Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman) 8/8 - 171 1 171
BB E ((TE#ER) Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer) 88 = = = =
BIERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
Richard Antony Bennettdc 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 718 4/4 171 17 171
TRE L E Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 7/8 444 1n 1 =
Bk E Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam 7/8 444 = = 11
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”) on 16 June 2020.
All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles and functions in
accordance with their respective terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The attendance of each member of the Board Committees is set out in the
section headed “Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are (among others) to review
and supervise the financial reporting process of the Group, review the
effectiveness of internal audit function, and oversee the audit process and
the audits of the financial statements of the Group. Meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

As at 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony
Bennett, Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron and Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam. Mr.
Chan Siu Shan Sam is the chairman of the committee. All members of the
Audit Committee possess in-depth experience in their own profession. At
least one of the committee members possesses appropriate professional
qualifications in finance and accounting and meets the requirements of
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held four
meetings to (i) review the unaudited annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 with recommendation to the Board for
approval and (i) propose appointment of auditor with recommendation to
the Board for approval.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (among others)
to make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board, review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors. Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least
once a year.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee comprised the
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Yu Weijun, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan
Shing Fat Heron. Mr. Yu Weijun is the chairman of the committee.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance its effectiveness. The
Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company should endeavour to
ensure that the Board members have the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of the Group’s business strategy. Pursuant to the policy, the
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural background, education, ethnicity,
length of service, personal integrity and time commitments of the
proposed candidates. The Board Diversity Policy also provides that the
ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board which will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The Board has also adopted a policy to nominate directors (the
“Nomination Policy”). The purpose of this policy is to set out the
procedures for nominating candidates for Directors, the procedures
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
recommending candidates for Directors, and the follow-up procedures
for considering and approving, as appropriate, nominations made by the
Board and, where applicable, Shareholders. The nominating procedures
are as follows:

a. To assess the qualifications, skills, knowledge, ability and
experience of candidates, and the time and attention that may
be spent in performing the duties of Directors in accordance with
the common law, legislation and applicable rules, regulations
and guidelines (including, but not limited to the Listing Rules
and guidelines on the Board) and by referring to the relevant
professional knowledge and business experience of the Company,
as well as the qualifications that candidates may bring to the Board
(including qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity);
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b. To assess the personal ethics, integrity and reputation of the
candidate (including, but not limited to, conducting appropriate
background checks and other verification procedures on the
candidate);

C. With reference to the Board Diversity Policy (to be revised from
time to time), to consider the structure, number and composition
of the Board at that time (including but not limited to skills,
knowledge, balance of experience and diverse perspectives that
is in line with the Company’s business requirements) and the
Company’s corporate strategy, and take into account the benefits
of the diversification of Board members and the contribution that
candidates may bring to the Board;

d. To consider the factors of Board succession planning and the
long-term needs of the Company;

e. In the case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
Director, assess (i) the independence of the candidate by
reference to (among other things) the independence criteria set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (i) code provision A.5.5
of the CG Code and the guidelines and provisions relating to
independent non-executive Directors contained in the guidelines
on the Board; and

f. To consider any other factors and matters that the Nomination
Committee may consider appropriate.

The Board shall consider the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee and make a decision on whether the nominated candidate is
eligible for appointment as a Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to (i) assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and (i) review the structure, size and composition of
the Board.

In carrying out the above review, the Nomination Committee accepted that
despite the lack of gender diversity, the composition of the Board satisfies
the Board Diversity Policy taking into account of the business model of the
Group and the backgrounds and experience of the current Directors. The
Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are (among others)
to review, determine and make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure or the remuneration payable to the Directors
and senior management and making recommendations on employee
benefit arrangements. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
the model under code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. Meetings of the
Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year.

As at 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee comprised one
executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron and Mr. Richard
Antony Bennett. Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron is the chairman of the
committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting to review and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group.

Remuneration of the Directors and Senior Management by Band
Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual

remuneration of the senior management (including all executive Directors)
by band for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

A
4B B Remuneration band Number of individuals
AR 0t ZE AR #1,000,0007T RMBO to RMB1,000,000 10
AR 1,000,001t E A K #2,000,00075 RMB1,000,001 to RMB2,000,000 0
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Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Risk Management Committee

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are (among
others) to monitor the Group’s exposure to sanctions risks and to oversee
its implementation of the related internal control procedures. Meetings of
the Risk Management Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

As at 31 December 2021, the Risk Management Committee comprised
one executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan Siu
Shan Sam. Mr. Yu Weijun is the chairman of the committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Risk Management
Committee held one meeting to (i) review the effectiveness and adequacy
of the risk management system of the Group; (ii) suggest corporate
governance improvement of the Company; and (iii) review the use of
proceeds from the global offering.

Going forward, the Risk Management Committee will hold meetings at
least twice a year to comply with its terms of reference.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total fees paid or payable to the Company’s auditor for services
rendered in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
below:

20214

AE®TT

2021

RMB’000

EIZRTE Audit services 747
IR IZ AR —E R AR SRR Non-audit services — review of interim

financial statements 83

4Est Total 830

%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁmﬁ

EERIAEAEENAEENKRRENERISR
2B E RS MR E R ERRE
BN TFRRAEEN I F R

EF T AT AR N A ATREEERE
TBEARERENESHIERAERBEARTHE
ERFE-

BRREER

U AEEHE2021FI2A3IHIEFEEZEE
HERARNBIUIZEARE RERRNELE)
—EFTRE > NARIZEEIA S 25 ENEHE
[RASIMAEEEHE2021F12A31HIEFEE >
REMBHRRERRERR (BREZGER) °

ENBERRERRCEEESIZREE KK
ARBEAR (8l 5.)

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for presenting a clear,
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects and
preparing the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group on a going-concern basis.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Audit Qualification

As disclosed in the paragraph headed “Basis for Qualified Opinion” in the
Independent Auditor's Report on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, the auditor of the
Company, KTC Partners CPA Limited, expressed a qualified opinion on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Audit Qualification”).

The matters which gave rise to the Audit Qualification related to the
payments made to various professional and consultancy services (the
“Concerned Transactions”).
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Our auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
satisfy themselves about (i) the validity, business rationale, commercial
substance and classification of the Concerned Transactions that led to
the recognition by the Group of the purported professional, advisory
and consultancy service fees of approximately RMB18,603,000 as legal
and professional fees expenses included in administrative expenses
recognised in consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2020 and (ii) whether any of the parties involved in the Concerned
Transactions were related to the Group or related parties of the Group.

Our auditor was of the view that there was certain limitation in the work
conducted by our independent advisor, Messrs. DLA Piper Hong Kong
(the “Advisor”) as certain part of the work of the Advisor was not backed
by sufficient supporting documents. The limitations of the independent
investigation were described in the announcement of the Company dated
28 January 2022, including the refusal of some interviewees to attend any
interview by way of video conference or telephone call with the Advisor.
The auditor was not entirely satisfied with the supporting documents
provided by the management of the Company and was of the view that
those were insufficient to corroborate the explanations about the business
rationale and commercial substance of the Concerned Transactions.

At the Board meeting held immediately after the meeting of the Audit
Committee on 22 April 2022, the Audit Committee reported to and
discussed with the Board on the Audit Qualification. The Board provided
response to the Audit Qualification and the Audit Committee concurred
with the management.

The management and the Audit Committee have the following opinions on
the matters which gave rise to the Audit Qualification:

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2021,
the independent investigation committee has appointed the Advisor to
conduct an independent investigation and prepare an investigation report
in respect of the audit issues discovered by the Company’s former auditor.

Key findings of the independent investigation are summarised in
the announcement of the Company dated 28 January 2022. Upon
consideration of the independent investigation report, the Board has
resolved to implement the recommendations suggested by the Advisor as
remedial actions.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 March
2022, the Company has appointed BT Corporate Governance Limited
(the “Internal Control Advisor”) to conduct an independent internal
control review and prepare an internal control review report. The internal
control review report was issued on 1 June 2022 and the announcement
on the major findings, recommendations and remedial actions taken
by the Company was published on 2 June 2022. Apart from the
recommendations suggested by the Internal Control Advisor, the Company
has engaged Stevenson, Wong & Co. to provide mandatory director's
training to the Directors with a view to strengthen the Director's knowledge
on the role and responsibilities of directors of listed companies, codes
and guidance relating to corporate governance, disclosure requirements
relating to inside information and update on the Listing Rules.

The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view that the Audit
Qualification have been duly dealt with given the amount relating to
the Concerned Transactions had been recognised in the profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the remaining amounts
from the Concerned Transactions were refunded or repaid to the Group
subsequently after the year ended 31 December 2020.

In the circumstances, the Company was informed by the auditor of the
Company that the Audit Qualification on the Concerned Transactions will
be removed completely in next year's audit.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 88 to 90 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and ensuring effective
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing their
effectiveness to safeguard the Shareholders’ interest and the Company's
assets. However, these systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risk of failure in business operations, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Group has implemented an effective internal control system
which includes a defined management structure with clear lines of
responsibility, limits of authority, proper procedures for income and
expenditure, monthly review by the executive Directors of management
reports on operations and financials, regular business meetings between
executive Directors and the core management team and periodic review of
the Group’s financial results by the Board.
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China New Energy Limited

The Audit Committee reviews regularly the effectiveness and adequacy of
the Group’s internal control system which includes financial, operational
and compliance mechanism and risk management functions in order
to identify, evaluate and manage risks and take appropriate measures
to avoid or mitigate those risks that could adversely impact the Group’s
business activities. The review also includes the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function. The review process consists of, amongst
other matters, assessment and implementation of material control issues
identified by an independent external auditor during the statutory audit.

In January 2022, the Company has engaged an independent consultant
to perform an internal control review on the Group's overall corporate
governance environment and selected operation cycles in order to assist
the Board to assess whether the Group can provide reasonable basis and
has established sufficient procedures, policies and monitoring measures to
enable Directors to make appropriate assessment of the Group’s financial
status and prospects.

The work approach of the review conducted includes the following:

(i) Through consultation and discussion with management and
key process owners to obtain a thorough understanding of the
corresponding processes and the existing procedures, policies
and monitoring measures to identify major control risks within the
Group;

(ii) Assess whether the main procedures, policies and monitoring
measures currently in place can meet the compliance
requirements defined in the Listing Rules, especially concerning
Chapters 14 and 14A;

(iii) Perform walk-through and compliance tests on the main
procedures, policies and monitoring to verify the effectiveness
of the design and operation of the Group’s internal control
mechanism; and

(iv) Following completion of the review, the independent consultant
makes appropriate recommendations for strengthening the
effectiveness and/or efficiency of the Group's relevant procedures,
policies and monitoring measures.

In the year under review, no material issues in the Group’s internal
control system have been identified in the reviewed areas and the
findings of the review have been reported to the Audit Committee. The
independent consultant also performed a follow-up review on the remedial
actions undertaken by the management of the Group on the control
risks identified during the internal control review conducted. The Board
considered that the risk management and internal control systems were
adequate and effective.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced as soon as reasonably practicable when
it is the subject of a decision.

The Board has implemented a “Policy on Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information” setting out the procedures and internal controls for
guiding the Group’s officers and employees in handling confidential and
price-sensitive inside information. It ensures that inside information of the
Group can be disseminated to the public promptly in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations.

Below is a summary of the key provisions of the Policy:

(i) Directors and employees must follow the reporting channels for
disclosing the inside information and take reasonable care to
safeguard the confidentiality of all inside information;

(ii) The Directors are empowered to take appropriate actions to ensure
compliance with the disclosure requirements including issuing
announcements and making a request to the Stock Exchange for
a trading halt in case the Company is facing an unexpected and
significant event; and

(iii) Directors and employees of the Group must not deal in the
Company’s securities when they are in possession of unpublished
inside information.

The Group also keeps Directors and employees informed of the latest
regulatory updates on disclosure requirements of inside information.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board communicates with the Shareholders and investors through
various channels. The Board members meet and communicate with
Shareholders and investors at annual general meetings and other general
meetings where the Shareholders can obtain better understanding
of the business and operating performance of the Group. Corporate
communications (such as interim and annual reports, notices, circulars
and announcements) are sent to the Shareholders in a timely manner and
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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China New Energy Limited

DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code stipulates that the issuer should have
a policy on payment of dividends and should disclose it in the annual
report.

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
June 2020 which sets out the guidelines to distribute dividends to its
Shareholders. Under the Dividend Policy, the Shareholders are entitled to
receive dividends that the Company declares. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Board and may require the approval
of the Shareholders, and the Company may change the Dividend Policy
in the future. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to
distribute dividends of such amounts or any amounts in every year or any
year in the future.

The Board may recommend a payment of dividends in the future
after taking into account the Group’s operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions, capital expenditure and other factors which the Board may
deem relevant at such time.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of the dividends will
be subject to the constitutional documents and the Companies (Jersey)
Law 1991, including the approval of the Shareholders, if required.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Xu Huijuan, a joint company secretary and the Board secretary, is
primarily responsible for equities management and company secretarial
matters of the Group.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also
engaged Mr. Sin Chi Yuen Edward (“Mr. Sin”), a manager of Gladson
Secretaries Limited, a company secretarial service provider, as a joint
company secretary to assist Ms. Xu to discharge her duties since the
Listing Date. Mr. Sin resigned as a joint company secretary on 1 June
2021 and Mr. Chan Kwong Leung Eric, nominated by Gladson Secretaries
Limited, was appointed as a joint company secretary in place of Mr. Sin
on the same day. His primary contact persons at the Company are Mr. Yu
Weijun, an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board, and Ms. Xu
Huijuan.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, Ms. Xu Huijuan and Mr. Chan
Kwong Leung Eric have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
members of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the joint company secretary at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong, which is presently situated
at Unit 2406, 24/F., Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong, for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business clearly specified in such requisition with
reasons therefor and signed by the requisitionist(s).

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries to the Company for
the attention of the joint company secretary at the Company's principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders at Shareholders’ Meeting

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting under the Articles or the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.
If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to convene an EGM as
described above and specify the proposals in such written requisition.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.

By order of the Board

Yu Weijun

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 14 June 2022
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China New Energy Limited

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
summarizes the initiatives, plans and performance of China
New Energy Limited (the “Company”) and together with its
subsidiaries, collectively (the “Group”) in the Environmental,
Social and Governance (the “ESG”) aspects, and illustrates the
sustainability of business activities in these aspects. This Report
was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (“Stock Exchange”). All the information contained
herein reflects the performance of the Group in environmental
protection and social responsibility from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021 (the “Reporting Period” or “FY2021"). This
Report has complied with all the “Comply or Explain” provisions
set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and included the disclosure of
environmental Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”). The Group
will publish an annual Report on a regular basis, which will be
available for public inspection at any time, so as to continuously
enhance the transparency of information disclosure.

ESG Governance

To effectively implement the ESG governance of the Group, it has
established and defined a framework for sustainable development
governance. The directors (the “Directors”) and the board of
Directors (the “Board”) as the top decision-making organization
of the Company lead the various functional departments and
subsidiaries, to promote the orderly progress of ESG governance.
The Board provides independent opinions during the review of
ESG reports as well as strengthens ESG risk management and
assumes responsibilities for internal control of the risks in order to
protect the development of the Group and the long-term benefits
of stakeholders.
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Reporting Scope

The scope of the report covers the KPIs data of the Group’s
main operating activities: mainly an office in Guangzhou and
a processing plant in Huizhou, to provide integrated services
including engineering design, equipment manufacturing,
installation and commissioning and subsequent value-added
maintenance for the core system of ethanol production system
in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industries in the PRC.
For equipment installation, the works are completed by approved
contractors who are not employees of the Group and do not
contain relevant data.

The details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of the annual
report 2021.

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment

The Group believes that a strong relationship built with its
stakeholders is a key driver of its business success. It maintains
close communications with various stakeholders (including but
not limited to investors and shareholders, customers, contractors,
subcontractors, suppliers, employees, government and regulatory
bodies as well as communities, non-governmental organizations
and the media) through different channels. The Group’s
communication channels with the key stakeholders are through
meetings, emails, teleconferences, interviews, trainings, annual
and extraordinary general meetings and annual reports with the
stakeholders during the Reporting Period to help refining the
Group's ESG strategies and reporting.

The materiality assessment process of ESG aspects includes:
(1) identification of ESG reporting issues; (2) importance to
the corporation under industry standard; (3) key ESG area
prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (4) evaluation
and endorsement by the management. Based on the results of
the materiality assessment, employee-related issues, product
responsibilities, anti-corruption and customer service are
considered to be the most concerned issues of the stakeholders
of the Group. The Group strives to review these issues regularly for
continuous improvement in its sustainability performance.

S —FFR
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China New Energy Limited

Contact us

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with us via email at zkty@zkty.com.cn.

ENVIRONMENT

The Group, as a clean energy system marketer, provides excellent
R&D capability and innovation-oriented business philosophy in the
ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industry. During the business
operations and management, the Group takes environmental
protection as the core issue. In order to control environmental
management and minimize the impact of the business operations,
the Group has formulated relevant environmental management
policies and reduced environmental footprints through effective
use of resources and adoption of environmentally friendly
technologies, enhancing employees’ environmental awareness
and complying with relevant laws and regulations at the same
time.

During the Reporting Period, the KPIs of major environmental
emissions and resource consumption are indicated in the table
“Summary of Environmental KPIs”. Due to the Group's effective
carbon emission reduction strategies and the COVID-19 epidemic
impacts, the total greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions had a
decrease of 25.2% from 404.2 tonnes CO2-e in 2020 to 302.5
tonnes in 2021. The total GHG emissions per million RMB
revenue was remained 0.8 tonnes in 2021.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect Al: Emission

The major exhaust gas and GHG emissions of the Group comes
from, among others, gasoline consumed by vehicles, air travel by
employees and the electricity consumed by processing facilities
and corporate offices. With the goal to reduce energy consumption
and carbon emissions, the Group has formulated relevant rules
and regulations for a sound and effective management of energy
consumption, GHG emission, as well as discharge of domestic
waste and sewage and other pollutants. The Group strictly
complies with the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC, the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste, the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.358 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.354
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other laws and regulations
concerning environmental protection.

Air emissions

The exhaust gas generated by the Group mainly comes from
transport vehicles for employees and guests. The gasoline
consumes also cause air pollutants to be emitted. The treatment
methods and emission reduction measures are as follows:

° Optimizing operating procedures for increasing the loading
rate of vehicles and lowering the idle rate;

° Turning off the engine when the vehicle is not in use;

° Conducting regular maintenance and repair of vehicles to

effectively reduce fuel consumption, which further reduce
carbon emissions and exhaust gas emissions;

° Selecting unleaded gasoline with low sulphur content as
fuel: and
° Preventing engine idling of vehicles.
S —FFR
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China New Energy Limited

ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
GHG emissions

The main sources of the Group’s GHG emissions were direct
emissions from the mobile combustion sources (“Scope 1”),
indirect emissions arising from the emissions related to acquired
electricity (“Scope 2") and other indirect emissions from air travel,
general waste and paper consumption and packaging materials
(“Scope 3").

The Group promotes energy saving and emission reduction
initiatives while strengthening environmental management.
Employees are encouraged to participate in green operation,
which aims at mitigating the impact of GHG emissions. In order
to minimize environmental pollution associated to vehicle use, the
Group monitors and regulates the fuel consumption, conducts
routine maintenance on vehicles, and encourages employees
to take public transport. Moreover, site visits and seminars were
often needed due to business nature, the Group also encourages
employees to make use of teleconferencing or videoconferencing
systems for reducing carbon footprint causing by business air
travel.

Sewage emission

The Group strives to properly conduct sewage treatment processes
to avoid polluting other natural resources. The sewage discharged
by corporate offices and the processing plant during the daily
operations will be discharged into the municipal sewage pipe
network to the regional water purification plant. The Group
continues to stay vigilant on the use and application of modern
technologies and installations to Improve the performance in this
regard.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
Waste emission

Due to the Group’s business nature, no significant number of
hazardous wastes has been generated and only limited non-
hazardous wastes has been generated during the Reporting
Period. Non-hazardous wastes such as metals, plastics, paper
and general waste are properly classified into recyclable waste
and non-recyclable waste, and are stored in designated collection
areas. During the Reporting Period, the collected scrap of 36.58
tonnes as recycle waste is then periodically recycled by the scrap
collector. The Group identifies and classifies waste, centrally
stores it, and disposes of it in a unified manner. The persons in
charge will dispose of waste in a timely manner and endeavour to
maintain environmental sanitation around them.

In addition to actively reducing waste in the processing plant,
employees in the offices are also encouraged to develop a “green
lifestyle” to minimize waste. Posters are posted everywhere in the
canteen, warmly reminding employees to order the right amount of
food to avoid wasting food.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with relevant
laws and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharge
into water and land, and generation of non-hazardous waste.
The Group did not violate any environmental protection laws or
regulations of the region where it operates, nor was it subject to
significant fines, non-monetary penalties and litigation relating to
environmental protection.
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A. RIEBw A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
EmA2.5RFER Aspect A2: Use of Resources
FHMNENBRAEEETEENARES Gasoline and electricity are the major types of energy consumed
FUHFEMN EERERIEE - ARERGITE T by the Group throughout and daily operations. The Group has
BRIV ENRE RIS ) LUEHIFEIR » 7k H developed rigorous policies for the use of resources to control
FEMEEL > LIRS B RMBRE R the conservation of energy, water and raw materials, in order to
AR BRI improve the efficiency of resource utilization, reduce waste and

promote recycling.

FETEHFE Energy Consumption

HMEARESFEHBOERES KR Notices and reminders on energy saving are regularly issued to

N RITE IR HESE R B - staff to raise their energy saving awareness on their behaviours,

including:

o ESPEFR 0 A > HEHEITH . Monitoring and regulating the fuel consumption, conducts
BAEE routine maintenance on vehicles;

o HASMEEMTRE ; . Using high energy-efficiency for equipment;

. MMM IIRE ; . Adopting technology to simplify processing;

. TR BR B ] R BE R A = RE R4 . Switching off all electronic devices during lunch hours and
FrE&EF2sM ; when leaving office;

] P EEISER E AEI R ; . Setting computers on energy saving modes;

o AR ERIEE ; & . Using energy-saved light bulbs and tubes; and

o BEESZRIRIETRRAN . Making good use of telecommunication system and video
%T’:ﬁi‘%ﬁm%%ﬁ& ° conferencing to replace arranging business trip.

52 China New Energy Limited
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources (Continued)
Water Consumption

During the Reporting period, there was no major problem about
sourcing water that is fit for use in its operations. Due to the nature
of the operations, water consumption mainly arises from the
daily use of water by the employees at the offices during working
hours. The Group regularly reminds its employees to conserve
water resources through notices and reminders. To reduce water
consumption, they are reminded to:

o Control flow from tap and avoid turning it to the full;

° Turn off tap when applying soap;

Avoid flushing unnecessarily; and

° Avoid wasting water in upflow water dispenser.

Paper Consumption

The Group is committed to a paperless operation, constantly
encouraging all employees to reduce paper usage through
duplex printing, paper recycle and frequent use of electronic
information systems for material sharing or internal administrative
documents. Reusable paper products, such as envelopes, are
properly recycled whereas the Group limited the use of disposable
paper products, such as paper cups and paper towels, wherever
possible and appropriate during the Group’s operations.

Use of Packaging Materials

The Group’s packaging materials of equipment manufacturing,
installation and maintenance for the ethanol production system
are mostly carton, plastic plates, sealing tapes, etc. To minimize
the use of packaging materials, the skillful packing workers can
effectively pack and protect products. In addition, the Group itself
not only produces as little waste as possible by choosing recyclable
packaging materials and reusing packaging materials wherever
possible but also encourages the suppliers and contractors for
participating together.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Since the Group is expanding domestic and overseas businesses,
the Group emphasizes corporate social responsibility and has
devoted massive resources in environmental protection initiatives
to reduce negative impacts on the environment and natural
resources caused by the Group’s business activities. The Group
has complied with all environment-related regulations and
international standards. The concept of environmental protection
has been incorporated into the management. The Group
implemented an environmental monitoring system for continuous
assessment in the daily operations. Therefore, it is obligated to take
responsibility for the environmental and natural resources of the
local community with the adopted measures including applying
new eco-friendly technology and practices for processing facilities
to reduce the consumption of non-renewable resources such as
petrol, water, electricity and reduce their associated greenhouse
gas emissions and minimizing waste generation in daily operations
through reduction, recycling and recovery.

Noise Control

Although the use of few heavy machinery in business operation,
work plant still creates noise. To minimize the level of noise
generated, processing facilities are inspected regularly to ensure
they remain in optimal conditions. Meanwhile, the Group also has
adopted sound-proofing designs and structures in the construction
of processing facilities. To comply with the industrial standards
for noise pollution and minimize the impact of its noise, the
processing plant has also taken noise-control measures on the
equipment that makes high level of noise.

Aspect 4. Climate Change

During the reporting period, the Group has not been affected
by extreme climate. Major issues related to climate, such as
heavy rains, earthquakes, hail, floods, etc. may affect delivering
equipment and maintenance service for the Group’s core
business of ethanol production system in the future. The Group
assigns special personnel to observe the weather and climate
and maintains close contact with the Municipal Emergency
Management Bureau. If there is irresistible weather and climate,
the management will proceed in accordance with the emergency
plan to reduce the Group’s unnecessary losses. The Group
formulates various emergency plans and prepares correspondingly
sufficient materials to ensure that it is prepared for major climate
emergencies that may affect the Group.
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A. RiF @ A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)
BHEIRIZRASRAENISIZNT - Summary of Environmental KPIs as follows:

Bfi 2021815 2020815

15H Item Unit FY2021 FY2020
EERHER Air emissions
—RAIEEYINOX) — Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) Afrkg 5.2 56
—IRE(EEH(S0x) — Sulfur Oxides (SOx) N 0.1 0.1
—FBRIPI(PM) — Particulate Matter (PM) NFr kg 04 04
RERBEHER GHG emissions
—-ERREREHN &EL) — Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) 0E — G 16hR 26.2 226
> FUHBFE — Petrol (Unleaded) consumption tonnes CO2-e
IR RER YR EE2) — Indirect GHG emission (Scope II) 0B — |E1EhR 220.7 2730
> BIH#E — Electricity consumption tonnes CO2-e
—HthEERE REEEER (BE3) - Other Indirect GHG emission (Scope I11) 0E — G 16hR 55.6 108.6
> BEMEER  —REYH — Alir travel, general waste and paper tonnes CO2-e
B consumption
BEREEEE Total GHG emission WA — LA 3025 404.2
tonnes CO2-e
BREREASEARBIEE?  Total Intensity per million RMB in revenue? Mg tonnes 08 08
EEKHERR Sewage emission
—RBE7k — Sewage VPN 2,331 5,863
cubic meter
EERERE ARBIE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? RPN 6.0 112
cubic meter
FEYIHERR Waste emissions
—BEEYP ~ Hazardous wastes? TEANA  FHEE NA TR NA
—mEEY — Non-hazardous wastes
> 4 > Paper N 5239 8%
FEZSABARBWGE Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue? Nl 14 17
> — Rk > General waste RFrkg 240 1,100
EEREAE ARERG? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? AFr kg 0.6 2.1
—E-—FFH
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Bfi 20218 2020814
15H ltem Unit FY2021 FY2020
RETRIHFE Energy consumption
— — Petrol (Unleaded) FL 9,663 8,360
EERERB ARG Intensity per million RMB in revenue? AL 25.0 160
—& — Electricity FREF kWh 350,083 433,056
RERSEEARBNG? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? FELBF kWh 905.0 830.3
FkE Water consumption
EIEAK — Domestic water I 75K cubic meter 2,331 5,863
FEREEEARBRGE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? 3775 3K cubic meter 6.0 112
BEMEMER Use of Packaging Materials
—iFE B BERE Carton, plastic plates, sealing tapes, etc. N Kg 100 =
FEREEEARBRGE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? AFr Kg 03 S

M3E

L BERBHREENR_ALHEEE 1.

Note:

GHG emission data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalence

5> W BE (BIEERRL) R EIRAZEAT
RERTFHEERIHEFETRZ(RE
FEREZEE | DERSTRBRSIRE)
2P T8 2 QRIBRIRA IS IR RIS
51) RhEEBNARABTIZEN 201755
FHESRRE) FRERT ;

RSB AEBERABARE
386,831,00075(2020844F & 521,561,0007T) 5
P4

RIREMR] AEBTRELTERFERE
o

China New Energy Limited

with reference to the requirements of, including but not limited to, the GHG
Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (CEZ=E & 8255
T ETEE  CEFHEREIZE)) published by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, the
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs ((B15 RIS AE IS 2SR5
3])) published by the Stock Exchange and the 2017 Sustainability Report
published by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited;

During the Reporting Period, the total revenue of the Group was

RMB386,831,000 (FY2020: RMB521,561,000); and

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not produce significant
hazardous waste.
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SOCIAL

Employees are the most valuable asset to the Group. The Group
protects employees’ rights and interests, cares for their health and
safety, improves their work conditions and explores opportunities
for better career development.

Employment and Labour Practices
Aspect B1: Employment

The Group strictly adheres to the local labour laws and regulations
where it operates, including the Labour Law of the PRC (the
“Labour Law”), the Labour Contract Law of the PRC (the “Labour
Contract Law”), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) by participating
in the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “EQ”), the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other laws
and regulations by offering competitive wages, medical insurance,
disability and invalidity coverage, maternity leave and other
compensation to the employees.

The Group offers competitive remuneration, promotional
opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to attract
and retain talents such as making contributions to the social
security fund and the housing reserve fund for staffs. For
general employees and management, remuneration is reviewed
annually on a basis taking reference to market trends, employee
qualifications, experience and performance. During the Reporting
Period, the Group had total of 101 (FY2020: 103) full-time staff
members. All employees are from different provinces in the PRC,
Hong Kong and UK. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
two male staff resigned due to his personal reason. The annual
turnover rate was approximately 1.9 percent (FY2020: 0).
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B1: Employment (Continued)

During the reporting period, the employee statistics (in %) of the
Group are summarized by gender, age group and level as follows:

Employee Statistics In %
By Gender

Male 78
Female 22
By Age

<30 9
31-50 76
>b0 15
By Level

Senior Management 8
Mid-level 19
Entry 73

Employment communication

Performance appraisal is an essential platform for the
management and frontline staff to evaluate their performances
and voice their expectations to the Group’s future development.
Workload of employees is also reviewed and adjusted during
appraisals to avoid overloading.

To raise employees’ sense of belonging, the Group organizes
celebratory activities during festivals such as Chinese New Year,
Mid-Autumn Festival and Christmas. Regular lunch gatherings
also foster interactive communication and create harmonious
relationships among employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations in respect of
human resources.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B2: Health and Safety

Employees’ health and safety has always been the Group’s top
priority. The Group strictly observes the Labour Law, the Work
Safety Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). In terms of processing facilities, employees
may potentially cause operations that have a significant impact
on health and safety when using equipment. The Group has
specifically certified the Work Safety Standardization (Level 3
enterprise) which was issued by Huizhou Safety Production
Association, to provide guidelines and policies to govern a
safe working environment. The health and safety affairs will
be arranged to designated staff responsible for reviewing and
updating the manuals and procedures on respectively a quarterly
and an annual basis.

Prevention and Control Measures for COVID-19 Epidemic

In order to strengthen the prevention and control of the COVID-19
Epidemic caused by the novel coronavirus infection, the Group
reduced the gathering of personnel, effectively blocked the
spread of the epidemic, and better protected the lives and health
of employees. It has launched the Resuming Production Guide
under the guideline issued by the local governments including
but not limited to the Work Guidelines for the Prevention and
Control of New Coronary Pneumonia in Organizations, Enterprises
and Factories Resuming Production and Resuming Production
(Second Edition) published by the Epidemic Prevention Group of
Guangdong New Coronary Pneumonia Prevention and Control
Command Office, and the Guidelines on Labour-related Matters
Arising from Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome for employers
and employees issued by the Hong Kong Labour Department.
Meanwhile, the Group issued the Resuming Production Guideline,
the management also distributes the Resuming Production
Notices to various departments and organizes “COVID-19
Responding Team”. The content includes organization, planning
and implementation of epidemic prevention plans, responsible
for employee health information collection and reporting, external
information reporting (including government and property
management departments), hazard information early warning, and
temperature monitoring of employees, anti-epidemic information
propaganda, disinfection of office areas, procurement and
distribution of anti-epidemic materials, assistance for personnel
rework difficulties, vehicle arrangements, etc. The Group ensures
physical health of employees and a safe workplace and prevent
disruption to all operations.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B2: Health and Safety (Continued)

Within the past reporting years, the Group never encountered any
severe injuries or casualties and none of work injury (more than
7 consecutive days). The Group did not record any accidents
that resulted in death or serious bodily injury, did not pay any
reimbursements or compensations to the Group’s employees
due to such accidents, and was not aware of any major violations
against laws and regulations related to employees’ health and
safety.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

All new employees are required to attend orientation training
and 1S09001:2015 management standard training to ensure
employees are aware of the Group’s values, polices and goals
and to ensure employees understand their roles in the Group.
At the Group’s processing facilities, all workers are trained and
have the necessary skills and knowledge before starting to work.
The management encourages employees to formulate their own
training objectives that will equip or improve themselves with the
skills and knowledge necessary for their jobs such as Intellectual
Property Protection training.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group complies with the Labour Law of the PRC, the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC,
the EO and other laws and regulations with respecting to the
employment of youths under 16 years of age and their legal rights.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not find any major
violations of child labour or forced labor to affect its operating
activities.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B4: Labour Standards (Continued)

The Group strictly prohibits the use of any child and forced labour
by its operations. All new employees are requested to provide
true and accurate personal information when they join the Group
for the recruitment staff to stringently verify their information
including, among other things, academic certificates, identity
card and hometown information. The recruitment staff verifies
the identity of all new staff members by the WeChat “Guangzhou
Provincial Affairs” or the Alipay “Electronic ID Card” etc. The
Group has a comprehensive recruitment process in education
and previous working experience check against every candidate,
as well as a formal reporting process to handle any exceptional
cases. It also conducts regular checks to guard against child or
forced labour in its operation. The probationary period or labour
contract of any employee who uses false information the Group’s
regulations will be terminated immediately. To ensure staff health
and safety, forced labour is strictly prohibited and no staff can start
working before the completion of the relevant training.

Equal opportunity

The Group puts effort in ensuring that equal opportunities
are given to employees in respect of recruitment, training and
development, job advancement, and compensation and benefits.
The employees are not discriminated against or deprived of
such opportunities on the basis of gender, ethnic background,
religion, colour, sexual orientation, age, marital status, family
status, retirement, disability, pregnancy or any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable laws in the PRC and Hong Kong. To
eliminate workspace discrimination, if employees are treated
unfairly or feel discriminated against by action or speech,
employees can report directly to the management of the Company.
The management of the Company will investigate the reported
case and take corresponding stringent disciplinary actions after
verification. Employees can also report directly to the Equal
Opportunities Commission.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group supports the reduction in emission of greenhouse
gases and will prioritize the use of local suppliers possessing
the same conditions as by non-local counterpart. During the
Reporting Period, the total number of suppliers, contractors, and
subcontractors were 253 (FY2020: 154) companies which mostly
are local and come from the PRC except one from Japan.

The Group adheres to fair and transparent operating
practices through the adoption of internal policies including
the Procurement Management System and the Outsourced
Processing Management System, which set out the selection
and assessment procedure for suppliers, contractors, and
subcontractors according to the criteria that should be taken
into account. Furthermore, while selecting the suppliers or
subcontractors, it avoids engaging questionable environmental
practices. Through these policies, we require our suppliers,
contractors and subcontractors to comply with all applicable
laws and regulations to commit safety, environmental and social
responsibilities. The Group has a deep understanding of working
with them in order to continue to provide high-quality one-stop
comprehensive services that are responsible for the environment,
society and customers.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
Product and service complaints

The Group values the importance of providing quality core
system of ethanol production system and integrated services to
customers. The Group requires the quality management to be
based on the 1SO9001:2015 certification standard, aiming to
continuously improve its quality control system and improve the
level of product manufacturing and service management. The
Group has set up various complaints and feedback channels,
such as telephone hotline, email and website, to collect
suggestions and advice from customers. The customer data
protection and privacy is followed to the Group’s policy. During the
Reporting Period, the total number of 11 (FY2020: 30) systems
were sold and none was recalled due to any complains or safety
and health reasons.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility (Continued)
Intellectual Property Protection

In order to be committed in protecting intellectual property rights,
the Group set the “Patent Management Handbook”, ensuring the
protection of business data and prevent unauthorized disclosure
of sensitive information to third parties. Policies and procedures in
place are regularly reviewed and updated to adhere to the latest
local laws and regulations, such as the Patent Law of the PRC,
the Trademark Law of the PRC, and the Patents (Amendment)
Ordinance 2016 of Hong Kong etc.

Confidentiality

Confidential information includes all knowledge of the Group
affairs, secrets or information of the Group. This includes but is
not limited to affairs, secrets and information relating to the scope
of business, personnel, operation, policies, strategies, clientele,
contracts and financial position. All employees acknowledge and
warrant not to disclose the above information, within and after the
period of employment, by signing the employee’s contract.

Aspects B7: Anti-corruption

The Group commits to managing all business without undue
influence and has regarded honesty, integrity, and fairness as its
core values. All Directors and employees are required to follow
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap 201 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) enforced by the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption to prevent unethical pursuit. It is stipulated in
the “Personnel Management Rules” that all employees should
have responsibility for understanding and complying with above
policies on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money-
laundering violations. Through the latest annual internal control
self-assessment operation, all departments and subsidiaries of
the company must conduct self-examination on their work items.
The internal control system can be adjusted timely on the design
and implementation of manner, implement a self-supervision
mechanism.
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China New Energy Limited

SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Aspects B7: Anti-corruption (Continued)

Meanwhile, the Group distributed the relating anti-corruption
booklets and cases to educate all employees on how to comply
with law and regulations, so as to promote the importance of
anti-corruption practices. The Group sets up various channels
such as telephone hotlines, an email address and mailbox for
whistleblowing. Dedicated staff members collect and sort reported
information on a regular basis, as well as oversee and investigate
reported matters referred to the audit department. The Group
also adopts various measures to encourage staff members to
proactively report acts of violation of rules and regulations, and
strengthens the privacy protection of the whistleblower.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
concluded cases of corruption brought against the Group or its
employees.

Community
Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Group promotes the social contribution of all members. We
attach great importance to inspire a sense of social responsibility
in employees and encourage them to make greater contribution
to our community both at work and in their spare time. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to focus on community services,
motivate employees to actively participate in volunteer services in
the future. We strive to increase our social investment to create a
better environment for our community as well as our business.

The Group also has been promoting a green and sustainable
lifestyle during these years. We share the responsibility to build a
green community with a blue sky and create an ideal home with
balanced environmental sustainability and urban prosperity.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol production system
technology integrated services in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage
industries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 228 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2021 and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business can be found in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 9 to 20 of this annual report. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year under review using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page 5 of
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have
a material impact on the Group’s performance and could cause actual
results to differ materially from expected and historical results. The Board
monitors risks on an ongoing basis and has implemented appropriate
procedures and processes to manage and mitigate the adverse
consequences of such risks. The principal risks are as follows:
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China New Energy Limited

Uncertainties in the promotion of fuel ethanol

Several years ago, many countries adopted mandatory laws and
regulations to promote the development of fuel ethanol market. However,
due to various reasons, these plans have been postponed one after
another in the recent two to three years. For example, Canada had
planned to increase the proportion of ethanol added in gasoline to 15%
by 2025. Although the plan was originally scheduled to implement in
the Spring of 2021, it has been postponed to the Autumn. Moreover,
the Philippines, Vietnam and other countries are planning to postpone
the implementation dates of their original ethanol-gasoline policies. In
Mainland China, the National Development and Reform Commission and
the National Energy Administration have adjusted the nationwide coverage
promotion plan to “Encouraged But Not Mandatory”. In the “List of Key
Tasks for Energy Supervision in 2021” issued by the National Energy
Administration, special supervision on the promotion of ethanol-gasoline
was included. Therefore, the post-pandemic downturn in the fuel ethanol
market may further worsen. In addition, it is often difficult to predict
whether or when the Company will secure new contracts as it depends on
a number of factors, such as the actual business needs of the potential
customers, market conditions, financing arrangements and government
policies.

Order book and contract backlog

Whilst the Group has a strong order book and contract backlog, the
projected revenue amounts might not be able to result in actual revenue
or translate into profits and therefore are not indicative of the future
results of the operations of the Group. Contract backlog figures represent
the estimate of the total contract value of work which remain to be
completed pursuant to the terms of the outstanding ethanol production
system technology integrated service contracts. The contract value of a
project or other transaction represents the amount the Group expects
to receive as at the relevant date. However, such backlog figure is
based on the assumption that the relevant contracts will be performed
in full in accordance with their terms and schedule. Since the contract
may be subject to cancellations or change of order or schedule by the
counterparty or other force majeure which may affect the progress of the
project, such changes to any one or more sizeable contracts could have
substantial and immediate effect on the backlog of the Group, and could
reduce the amount of backlog and revenue and profit that it can actually
generate and put pressure on our working capital.
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Accounts receivable and progress payment from customers

The Group may experience delays or defaults in recognising trade
receivables and progress payments from its customers. For the ethanol
production system technology integrated service projects, project owners
typically make progress payments to the Group with reference to the
percentage of work completed at specific milestone dates. In accordance
with the contracts entered into between the Group and its customers,
once the service project reaches a certain stage as specified in the
relevant contract, the Group will be paid a portion of the contract value on
a progressive basis. The milestone stages of payment generally include
(i) the signing of the contract; (ii) before delivery of the equipment to the
project site of the customer; (iii) after completion of installation of the
equipment and issuance of project completion report; and (iv) the expiry
of the defect liability period, which is generally 12 months from the date
of project completion report issued by the customer. From time to time,
the Group may be required to commit cash and other resources to the
projects prior to reaching a payment stage to cover certain expenses
for the projects. There is a risk that the customers do not fuffill their
contractual obligations pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
contracts and will fail to make full and timely payments to the Group.
Delays in progress payments by the customers may significantly increase
the working capital needs and thereby affects the liquidity of the Group,
and would also adversely affect the financial condition and results of
operations of the Group.

Research and development

As part of the business strategies, the Group continues to focus on
research and development to strengthen its design and engineering
capability. Advanced biofuels using cellulose as feedstock have been
touted as the next step beyond the corn-based ethanol. However,
cellulosic ethanol is more difficult to produce than grain ethanol because
it uses the inedible and irregular parts of the plants. Cellulosic ethanol
production also requires the in-house development of new technologies.
The Group may be unsuccessful in researching and developing such
new technologies. The success of the Group’s business is therefore
dependent upon its ability to continuously develop, in a timely manner,
new technological applications through research and development and
introduce new solution designs to cater to the customers’ requirements.
The Group may be required to invest extra time and resources to develop
new technological applications for solution designs in order to satisfy
changing requirements of the customers.
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Competition

The Group operates in a competitive industry and it may not be able to
maintain an edge over its competitors. There are other providers of ethanol
production systems operating in the market who may possess more in-
depth experience, expertise, technical know-how and financial ability
to capitalise on pricing strategies and other services to gain an edge in
the competition. There can be no guarantee that the competitiveness of
its competitors will not improve or that the Group will be successful in
expanding its market share against its competitors or expanding into new
markets. Hence this could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and operating results.

The Group’s financial instruments and financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the
state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 94 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 95 and notes 34 and 42 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves consist of share premium and
retained earnings. As at 31 December 2021, distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB74 million (2020: RMB74
million).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the global offering after deducting underwriting
commissions and related expenses were approximately HK$20 million.
As at 31 December 2021, the net proceeds had been fully utilised in
accordance with the use of proceeds set out in the Prospectus. Further
details are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, sales to the Group's five largest
customers amounted to approximately 93% of the total sales and sales to
the largest customer accounted for approximately 51%. Purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 40% of the
total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 28%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the total
number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers.
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China New Energy Limited

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates
and the local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success.
The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
employees, providing quality services to customers and collaborating
with business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
sustainable products and services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 46 to 64 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December 2021
and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Richard Antony Bennett
Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron
Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam

All existing Directors including Mr. Yu Weijun, Mr. Tang Zhaoxing,
Mr. Richard Antony Bennett, Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron and Mr. Chan
Siu Shan Sam shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 21 to 28 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the
independent non-executive Directors regarding their independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of
them being independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts or appointment letters,
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Group were entered into or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no contract of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules,
the “Controlling Shareholder”) or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition of Shares or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, and neither the
Directors nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or had exercised such
right.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any related company
(holding companies, subsidiaries, or fellow subsidiaries) was a party and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders or their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is interested in any business
which competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have
with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted
under the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including
former Directors) of the Company. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided for in the Articles and in the Directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and
costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought against such
Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ”")) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive of
the Company were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as

follows:
MBI EFE © Long position in Shares:
EERAEEEIT
SR B,/ #mEtE FriFRi &8 st REFBAOESLE
Approximate
% of the issued
Capacity/ Number of share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held Total of the Company
REHREE R EEER (Batl) 99,012,168 99,012,168
Mr. Yu Weijun Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1)
BREAA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
102,082,520 17.31%
BIKEEE REEBER (322) 48,000,000 48,000,000
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 2)
BRHEBEA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
51,070,352 8.66%
Richard Antony Bennettst 4 BEnEAA 3,908,099 3,908,099 0.66%
Mr. Richard Antony Bennett Beneficial owner
B —FFR
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China New Energy Limited

Notes:

1 These 99,012,168 Shares were held by Tewin Capital Holding Limited (“Tewin
Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Yu Weijun. Mr. Yu was deemed or taken to
be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tewin Capital for the purpose of the
SFO.

2. These 48,000,000 Shares were held by Tonzest Capital Holding Limited (“Tonzest

Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Tang Zhaoxing. Mr. Tang was deemed or
taken to be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tonzest Capital for the
purpose of the SFO. On 9 October 2020, 48,000,000 Shares have been pledged by
Tonzest Capital in favour of an independent third party as a security of a loan in the
amount HK$1,500,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to
the Company, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which the
Directors and chief executive of the Company were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein;
or were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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TERENIRG REBARMEY  SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

EmkXE

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

202112831 H » IBEEEFA > FH AL (EIE  As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
EEYANBETBTHAL) RIRHAERNZD  persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
A BIREE S RIS S EXVERE2R3%  interests or short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which would
EBRME S A A B R B AP R » SRt AA  fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
TIRIEE 5 R RSB SE3368 B FFEMESE  provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the

AR Eka

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to the section 336

of the SFO:
AT
B &7
MRt 8 BmtE et ahE {=] BB
Approximate
% of the issued
Number of share capital
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held of the Company
Tewin Capital BEEBEAA W) 99,012,168 16.79%
Beneficial owner (Note 1)
EREZT Fof@tess (Wazl) 102,082,520 17.31%
Ms. Tan Fenggiao Interest of spouse (Note 1)
Tonzest Capital BnEAA W:22) 48,000,000 8.14%
Beneﬂmal owner (Note 2)
BEZT foi@tEm (Wz2) 51,070,352 8.66%
Ms. Zeng Fanghua Interest of spouse (Note 2)
Best Full Investments Limited BEEBEAA Wi3) 48,000,000 8.14%
Beneficial owner (Note 3)
RSt TEE R (1523) 48,000,000 8.14%
Mr. Liang Hongtao Interest in controlled corporation (Note 3)
BEUL Fofdtgm (frat4) 48,000,000 8.14%
Ms. Han Jing Interest of spouse (Note 4)
Kapok Capital Management Limited EnB A Was) 44,652,107 7.57%
Beneficial owner (Note 5)
PRI %+ BT (W525) 44,652,107 7.57%
Ms. Chen Wan Ling Interest in controlled corporation (Note 5)
Jojo Global Investment Limited BmBEA A (Wat6) 32,100,000 5.44%
Beneficial owner (Note 6)
EMERLE REEEER (Wie) 32,100,000 5.44%
Mr. Jiang Xinchun Interest in controlled corporation (Note 6)
BEREAA 3,070,352 0.52%
Beneﬂual owner
Izt Foidtess (Hzz7) 35,170,352 5.96%
Ms. Wang Yan Interest of spouse (Note 7)
ZEI—FEFR
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China New Energy Limited

Notes:

Ms. Tan Fengqiao is the spouse of Mr. Yu Weijun, the Chairman and an executive
Director. The interests of Mr. Yu Weijun in the Company comprised (i) 99,012,168
Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation, Tewin Capital; and (ii) 3,070,352
Shares held by Mr. Yu directly. Ms. Tan Fengqiao was deemed to be interested in all
the Shares in which Mr. Yu Weijjun was beneficially interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

Ms. Zeng Fanghua is the spouse of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing, the Chief Executive Officer
and an executive Director. The interests of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing in the Company
comprised (i) 48,000,000 Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation, Tonzest
Capital; and (ii) 3,070,352 Shares held by Mr. Tang directly. Ms. Zeng Fanghua was
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Tang Zhaoxing was beneficially
interested for the purpose of the SFO.

Best Full Investments Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Liang Hongtao. Therefore, Mr.
Liang Hongtao was deemed or taken to be interested in 48,000,000 Shares held by
Best Full Investments Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Han Jing is the spouse of Mr. Liang Hongtao. Ms. Han Jing was deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Liang Hongtao was interested for the purpose
of the SFO.

Kapok Capital Management Limited was wholly owned by Ms. Chen Wan Ling.
Therefore, Ms. Chen Wan Ling was deemed or taken to be interested in 44,652,107
Shares held by Kapok Capital Management Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Jojo Global Investment Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Jiang Xinchun. Therefore,
Mr. Jiang Xinchun was deemed or taken to be interested in 32,100,000 Shares held
by Jojo Global Investment Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Wang Yan is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Xinchun. Ms. Wang Yan was deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Xinchun was interested for the purpose
of the SFO.



bR L PR BRE SN 1220214128318 » i E
AL EFHEARETBTHASRI Hik
mE R EX TEEREZITHASRKR 18R
IR R BRI A3 E ) — ) AR SIS
B P HEA SR B (PR R A RIRES
FHRE R BIEXVER 52537 BR R R X A A AE)
RSP ER » SECE N A A RIIR IR ST A A
155 583361F 7 ERVE sC ARV mE A

BRE BB RS

HE2021F12A31 B IEFE » AR HETT &
MiRA)FI4AEFIIEBET EHRAIEBE TS
] AE B ERALERE NI AREER S
HERER 5 o

N HBEBBETETHERRE X Z85F
BRI ARG AT ER A M EE30 o B S E IR BE RV RA R
AR ZEM LB RABIAAE N AT IRERNE
HREMER S NFERER S  MAAR TR
BE2021F 12831 H L FEBIE EHRRIE14A
ERMERIRE

ERRREITAGF K

Tewin Capital Sz R &8 54 ~ Tonzest Capital Bz JK
BR44 5 DU Jojo Global Investment Limited & 253
B4 RIEEEAN) UARBAZ@mA BE
TERAESKB AR ZHME B2020F64
16HDBIET L A T 22 (FHPEE)

LEANCHIWNEEE2EETAHILIE B
MIFRTESERABTAR I LR 2 BRI MK
LEANNE@MRERE > TR SHA 82
2021F12A3IHIEFEREEARRSE B K12
EA—BEETIRILEIE N ZE&RH-

EREHS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section headed “Directors” and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above)
had, or were taken or deemed to have interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which were required
to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in the note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of the related party transactions as disclosed
constituted disclosable non-exempted connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company had complied with the relevant requirements of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during year ended 31 December 2021.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Tewin Capital and Mr. Yu Weijun, Tonzest Capital and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing,
and Jojo Global Investment Limited and Mr. Jiang Xinchun (collectively,
the “Covenantors”) has each entered into a deed of non-competition
dated 16 June 2020 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of its subsidiaries).

The Covenantors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and written confirmation
from the Covenantors, and confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, all
the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied
with by each of the Covenantors during the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this report.
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China New Energy Limited

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is set up to award employees
and Directors based on their performance, qualifications, competence
displayed and market comparable companies. A remuneration package
typically comprises salary, contribution to pension schemes and
discretionary bonuses relating to the profit of the relevant company. The
remuneration of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and is decided by the Board, having regard to the prevailing
market practice, the Company’s remuneration policy and the employees’
seniority, experiences and their duties and responsibilities with the Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or subsisting
at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied with
the relevant environmental and occupational health and safety laws and
regulations in China and we did not have any incidents or complaints
which had a material and adverse effect on the business, financial
condition or results of operations of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021.

For more detailed information about the Group’s environmental policies
and performance for this financial year, please refer to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 46 to 64 of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 of the Jersey, Channel Islands, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
etc. The Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance of
the same. In addition, as the Group carries out business activities in China,
compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
PRC laws, rules and regulations which have significant impact on the
Group. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units
in the Company and subsidiaries from time to time.

Save as otherwise disclosed, as far as the Board is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the
public under the Listing Rules.

ks 3 3
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EFENZEE CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF THE DIRECTOR
RIE EHREISE1351B(ME  EEER 2 BEE  Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change in information
FIENF of the Director is set out below:
EENSH BEHAS
Name of Director Details of change
Richard Antony BennettZc 4 20223817 HBHEMTI Wireless Edge Ltd. (BIAASE -MWE) (ELRS AR 2E
HR N L) WIEHITES -
Mr. Richard Antony Bennett He retired as a non-executive director of MTI Wireless Edge Ltd. (stock code: MWE), the
shares of which are listed on the London Stock Exchange, with effect from 17 March
2022.

f& ESCFrIREEE SN  BEEEME R BIRIE E™IR  Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
AIZE1351B(1IEMZE TR EE disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

% BB AUDITOR

R2022FE187H S D ETEMSEFHFAAIRATE  On 7 January 2022, KTC Partners CPA Limited was appointed as the
EEEHFARATIZEE  LUERBELIEKE  auditor of the Company by the Board to fill the causal vacancy following
SN SEHATAH TR R T W EBZEREE  the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers and to hold office until the
RERBFAGERA L conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting.

HZE2021F12831 AL FEMGEESIFEMARE The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
BMEEHEIERFIERARBZ A AEFR 2021 have been audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited. A resolution to
EEREBFEAT MR8 HEMER  re-appoint KTC Partners CPA Limited as the independent auditor of the

FTBR AR AT AT I IZ BN R EZ Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
AEEG By order of the Board

FE Yu Weijun

RIEE Chairman and Executive Director

A 202268 14H Hong Kong, 14 June 2022

80 China New Energy Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of China New Energy Limited
(incorporated in Jersey with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New
Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 227, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding figures
of the matters described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of
our report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Room 617, 6/F., Seapower Tower, Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Bk ATd e P A I 2 A A A 6H61TE

Tel % 3%: (852)2314 7999

Fax @ % :(852)2110 9498

E-mail % + #844: info@ktccpa.com.hk
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Corresponding figures — Payments for various professional and
consultancy services

The auditors which were originally engaged by the Company to act
as auditors of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Predecessor
Auditors”) resigned as auditors with effect from 28 June 2021. The
Predecessor Auditors had raised concerns (the “Audit Issues”) over
certain payments of a total of not less than RMB18,603,000 (equivalent
to HK$21,995,000) paid by the Group to various service providers (the
“Service Providers”) for various professional and consultancy services (the
“Concerned Transactions”). The Audit Issues in relation to the Concerned
Transactions included the commercial substance and business rationale
for engaging the Service Providers to provide such services shortly
after the listing of the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 15 July 2020 and for prepaying the entire
contract sum in full, and whether there was any relationship between
certain of the Service Providers with the Group and its management.
The Independent Investigation Committee formed by the Company has
engaged an independent professional advisor (the “Advisor”) to conduct
an independent investigation on the Concerned Transactions. The Advisor
completed its investigation and issued an independent investigation report
dated 17 January 2022.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continued)

Corresponding figures — Payments for various professional and
consultancy services (Continued)

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves about the validity, business rationale, commercial substance and
classification of the payment transactions that led to the recognition by the
Group of the purported professional, advisory and consultancy service fees
of approximately RMB18,603,000 as legal and professional fees expenses
included in administrative expenses recognised in consolidated profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 and whether any of the parties
involved in the Concerned Transactions were related to the Group or
related parties of the Group as there were certain limitation in the Advisor's
work as stated in the Advisor's independent report. The limitations of
the independent investigation were described in the announcement of
the Company dated 28 January 2022, including the refusal of some
interviewees to attend any interview by way of video conference or
telephone call with the Advisor. In addition, certain part of the work of
the Advisor was not backed by sufficient supporting documents and the
management of the Company was unable to provide us with sufficient
documentary evidence to corroborate the explanations about the business
rationale and commercial substance of the Concerned Transactions. There
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to whether these professional, advisory and consultancy
services fee expense of approximately RMB18,603,000 and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements were free
from material misstatement. Any adjustments that might have been found
necessary may have a significant effect on the fair presentation of the
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, including the classification
and related disclosure in the consolidated financial statements of the
expenses or losses arising from the Concerned Transactions.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have
consequential effects on the consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020. Accordingly, our audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
modified in respect of this matter. Our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
is also modified because of the possible effects of this matter on the
comparability of the current year's and the corresponding figures.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our qualified opinion.
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Key Audit Matter
RCBEERRERCREREE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

EHE AN RIERRETEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition for ethanol production system construction contract

B2 RR G MBI EED -

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

HE2021F12831HLEFE »

BEBS RIREED -

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue
of RMB386,094,000 was derived from ethanol production
system construction contract for which revenue is recognised

over time.
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E R EIBERRE T BEMAITHER 8
Our procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

EEEBIJELEERSR
BERERELEHEEARS6,094,0007t BRASELE o

THEREEEE RS RMEBEEEEU RGOS
ERREZERZ SEERDAIRRZES ;
Obtained an understanding of the key controls over
management’s review and approval of project budgets
and estimates of revenue recognition from ethanol
production system construction contract;

Discussed with management and the respective project
teams to understand the progress of the projects and
relevant contract terms;



EERCERLERKERSRMENEXELERE
MTERENRESRIEBE NENEEREERS c ZEE T K
BARAE R s - ZEEHIRE SEERBITENE
AEFFELRE AL AT 8 U EEEREARFRA
EXNSRNAEEREERGFEMNANB D
The Group recognises revenue from its ethanol production
system construction contracts based on progress made
towards complete satisfaction of its performance obligation
under contracts. This basis involves significant judgements
and estimates. The progress is measured based on
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract costs
incurred up to the end of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each product in the contract.

%%E%LE—E%im%ﬁiﬁ’ml%éﬁﬁf%
STTERNIE B PR IER N AN FE A B Al > LUFERE
BB 72 b o R 2E R T #R &5 HARE R 58 o

We considered this as a key audit matter because
management applied significant judgements in estimating
the remaining cost to complete the projects in order to
determine the percentage of completion and thus the
revenue to be recognised for the reporting period.

B ZHENR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

J REEEZEEE2021F12831 B ILEEEEW
BERA UZFEERERZ MR EEER
AT A8 E RS
Tested, on a sample basis, the project costs incurred
during the year ended 31 December 2021 to supporting
evidence including purchase agreements, materials
receipt notes and labour cost records;

J BEERFERBELENERNAREREHIER
B A B9 FE 52 5T RV ZE B 14 > ST e Ak 1B B B9 E 5T AR
N ;
Evaluated the estimated cost to complete the project by
considering the actual costs incurred subsequent to the
year end, and the accuracy of management’s historical
estimation of the project costs;

. MR EERHEEREERE =1 RE  sHhTTMm

TEREANEENEE BEEETREERNRRZ
Enlmsy ; &
Checked, on a sample basis, the settlements from
customers and third-party evidence to evaluate progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, including final customer confirmation of
acceptance when a project is completed; and

o ZHEIEEHEE2021F12831HILFERMEEN
BRENALEEHERAB DA S WiREZE
DEEER T HEEEE
Checked management’s calculation of percentage
of actual costs incurred up to the year ended 31
December 2021 to total estimated costs, and
recalculated the revenue recognised based on the
percentage.

BEERD MR IBEEERREREREEEPTANRER
(S IRk CINIE

We found the key assumptions used in revenue recognition
from ethanol production system construction contract were
supported by the available evidence.

B —FFR
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Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets

BHR2REG ST FEIRRMIEE20 ~ 22537(b) °
Refer to notes 20, 22 and 37(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

1202112831 BN E Z RUWGRIE K B RIRAE R
UhEREBEED A ARE112,705,0007t & A K1
290,659,0007% > FR2021 4 12531 H N EEEE DB A A
K #%22,312,0007t 5 A R #525,795,0007T ©

The gross trade and bills receivables, and contract assets
amounted to RMB112,705,000 and RMB290,659,000
respectively as at 31 December 2021, with loss allowance of
RMB22,312,000 and RMB25,795,000 respectively as at 31
December 2021.

EEEFERARESENR  BRKER R RIBREEEE
ZER2HMEEZREREBEREREEURERE
ENFEREEHEREBE TrERPEEHER > &
EEERGENRE - TRATFEBNMEE RERANK
MABFEENEREEEE LASERIAR KA
MRRETAE -TTHBIBEMEREERR S£EEZE
NAREELSERR  REQEER TERBRRE R
B EE o

The Group assesses expected credit loss allowances of
trade and bills receivables and contract assets using the
risk parameters including historical default rates, forecast
economic conditions and expected credit loss. When
measuring expected credit loss, the Group considers
the ageing of the balances, the nature and credit profile
of different customer base, credit loss incurred for the
customers in the past, and adjusts by considerations such as
current conditions and forward looking factors. In assessing
forward looking factors, the Group considers factors including
economic policies, macroeconomic indicators, industry risks
and changes in customers’ conditions.

86 China New Energy Limited

EEREERARETFSEMANTHNEREE
Our procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

. THRHEEETGEESERRIEREREEUR S
& E R E R R SRS
Obtained an understanding of the key controls over
management’s assessment of the impairment of trade
and bills receivables and contract assets;

. SHEEEEBRANELEOE EFstkTEER
BHRERIME E R (5 AR AR EE SR IB 497K
Assessed the historical default rates applied by
management, considering the nature and credit profile
of different customer base, the historical levels of
defaults;

. BESERRLE - TERTSER sSHEERTR
MEEEEEMERERNAIEMEREE ;
Assessed current conditions and the forward looking
factors considered by management in the assessment
by referencing to macroeconomic, industry and market
information;

J R EEZE B S BN IE R EREREU KRG
BEHEZENREREMREZEER ; &
Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing
of the trade and hills receivables and contract assets to
invoices and other supporting evidence; and
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R EEZHFEAREBNERGEE
Tested, on a sample basis, settlement made by the
customers subsequent to year end.

We considered this as a key audit matter because

management applied significant judgements in the
impairment assessment of trade and bill receivables and

contract assets.

Hth &k

BERDESTEHHMENGTE - HAthENEE
FRETIEREHRANER EFEEEREaTE
BRKREETILE D IZHENRS -

o

EHGREMBRENBERLNRERMS
?ﬁ#’%% T*‘T7£E1&§:H§X$EEHH/TE’J

EEHREYBRENES EENEE
SR HMME R TLH:L%EEP %Ff‘ﬂ@éﬂ
CRG S B RANEFEBSBREDH
Tﬁ’éﬂ’\ﬂaﬂ?‘f%k??&)Ei%ﬂ)(‘?“?ﬂf%it
HERRAAIE R BN EZEERNITHNIE W
%ﬁffa %ET&éﬂﬁﬁikf R BE

BPRERFE-HEEHE’ D—r/’iﬁﬁﬁiﬁ

Hom EXFREBRENEE—FM &
EE ﬁt%zi2020$12)§31EIJLEFE’J“IK%M
#%ﬁﬁz%% ins BB RB ER X BISIT

DBE R - FHIL > FFE AL FHE EH
thE R RS FEE AR

EERREZRBFEREREREUREREE BB
PR RRAS IR T B Rl fik o

We found the key assumptions used in impairment assessment
of trade and bills receivables and contract assets were
supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. As described in
the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence about the professional, advisory and
consultancy service fees expense of part of these fees for the year ended
31 December 2020. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or
not the other information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

—FFR
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

T —FFR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that are of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO4686
Hong Kong, 14 June 2022



AREIRmR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HZE2021F12831HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

&t 20214 20204
AR%TT AREEF T
Note 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

e Revenue 5 386,831 521,561
THE RS Cost of sales (341,509) (388,845)
EH Gross profit 45,322 132,716
HE REHE X Selling and marketing expenses (6,021) (8,799)
THRX Administrative expenses (22,252) (52,493)
AR EEBEEN TN Impairment losses under expected

ERSTE > f0FREE[E] credit loss model, net of reversal 10 (24,411) (16,211)
HAA Other income 7 14,281 2,350
HthWm— 358 Other gains — net 8 4,041 751
T Operating profit 10,960 58,314
EUECT YN Finance income 9 11 45
7S Al A Finance costs 9 (2,007) (1,415)
AT Al A — 3 28 Finance costs-net (1,996) (1,370)
BREFISIR AT ERF Profit before income tax 10 8,964 56,944
Frig8fmt Income tax expenses 11 (1,169) (12,580)
FERHEF Profit for the year 7,795 44 364
WU TSR (E518) - Profit/(loss) attributable to:
S VNEIEZZ= DN — Owners of the Company 8,421 44,364
E |2 — Non-controlling interest (626) =

7,795 44 364

RATEE AFEMLEFIA  Earnings per share for profit

SREMN USSR attributable to owners of

ARBTERT the Company (expressed

in RMB per share)
BREARF Basic earnings per share 15 0.014 0.088
SR ERA] Diluted earnings per share 15 0.014 0.080
T —FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2021F12831HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

20214 20204F
ARBFT AR®EFT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FERiEH Profit for the year 7,795 44,364
Hith2m (558 Wk Other comprehensive (loss)/income
OJSET BT 7 218 HY ltemns that may not be reclassified
HH to profit or loss
— AT EAEMEEWE - Change in the fair value of financial
NEMEELTEEE assets at fair value through other
(0pRIRIE) comprehensive income, net of tax (324) (145)
B GEE T 7 4E E R a9 E H Items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss
— BB EE C ERERR — Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (847) 145
FRHME2EEE (O0RTIE)  Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of tax (1,171) —
FREENSMEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 6,624 44 364
LUTELGZEmKRE Total comprehensive income/(loss)
(E518) #B%E - attributable to:
—ARREHEBA — Owners of the Company 7,250 44,364
—JEEERG R — Non-controlling interests (626) =
6,624 44 364
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AREMBRRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

12202112831 H As at 31 December 2021

&t 20214 20204
AR%TT NS
Note 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERHEE Non-current assets
LY E N =Y Property, plant and equipment 16 17,467 14,710
| EE Intangible assets 17 27,461 19,847
FREESE Right-of-use assets 18 4,019 5,150
BT ESAEMEEW  Financial assets at fair value 19
mEREE through other comprehensive
income 4,463 4,845
R IEE B Deferred tax assets 28 9,836 6,479
63,246 51,031
BB E Current assets
78 Inventories 23 7,134 5,970
BEEWGRIBREWER  Trade and bills receivables 20 90,393 74,598
HhEWEIE R TEIFIE  Other receivables and 21
prepayments 104,216 186,409
EREE Contract assets 22 264,864 143,841
IRITAE R IR E Bank balances and cash 24 6,904 37,322
473,511 448,140
mEaE Current liabilities
B eI Trade payables 25 106,911 85,685
HhpE(rma Other payables 26 76,014 78,236
SEI=EE Contract liabilities 27 21,823 20,226
IRITEMN Bank borrowings 29 24,363 11,172
AR R Convertible notes 31 = -
HEAR Lease liabilities 32 1,186 1,075
SR8 Tax payable 48,539 46,335
278,836 242,729
REBEERE Net current assets 194,675 205,411
REERTHEE Total assets less current liabilities 257,921 256,442
“EC—FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

72202112831 H As at 31 December 2021

&t 20214 20204
AR%FT AR¥FT
Note 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ETHERE Non-current liabilities
SRITER Bank borrowings 29 7,500 9,500
HESE Lease liabilities 32 746 1,932
IEIEUTA Deferred income 30 = 2,400
8,246 13,832
BEEZFE Net assets 249,675 242 610
Bk #E Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 33 1,762 1,762
i Reserves 34 248,098 240,848
AT EE AELRER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 249,860 242,610
JEIERR A Non-controlling interests (185) =
MiER Total equity 249,675 242 610

FOIE227TE Z i &M BMEKREIN 2022468  The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 227 were approved
UHAKEETHERBETIZET AL TIESE  and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 14 June 2022 and

RREE . are signed on its behalf by:
RERE &k
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
EFE EE
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

kx  Hfth  RERA BEt el st
ARBTT AREBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARET:
(FeE33)  (EE34)

Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Total interests Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Note 33) (Note 34)

12020£181H At 1 January 2020 1,444 75,659 53,327 130,430 - 130,430
ERiET] Profit for the year = = 44,364 44,364 = 44,364
HthZ g8 Other comprehensive loss - - - _ _ _
FREEKGELEE Total comprehensive income for the

year - - 44,364 44,364 - 44,364
BRI RE Transfer to statutory reserves - 8,108 (8,108) - - -
MR AERN Share-based payment expenses

DE{E53 = %8 = 98 - %8
BT8R Issuance of shares 182 72965 - 73,147 - 73,147
BAORNEGRS Transaction costs attributable to issue

A of shares - (21,700) - (21,700) - (21,700)
HEZEERA Convertible notes converted to shares

Bt 52 10,333 - 10,385 - 10,385
IEERABEER  Exercise of the Pre-IPO Share Option

BEREETE Scheme 84 4,952 - 5,036 - 5,036

318 75,606 (8,108) 67,816 - 67,816
1202051283180 At 31 December 2020 1,762 151,265 89,583 242610 - 242,610
1202151818 At 1 January 2021 1,762 151,265 89,583 242,610 - 242,610
ERiHA] Profit for the year = = 8421 8421 (626) 7,795
Hth2EEE Other comprehensive loss = = (1,171) (1,171) = (1,171)
EREEKE, Total comprehensive income/(loss)

(§518) %8 for the year - = 7,250 7,250 (626) 6,624
ERE ARG Transfer to statutory reserves = 1,081 (1,081) = = =
BEE—R M EAR Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35)

(FizE35) - - - = 441 441
1202151283185 At 31 December 2021 1,762 152,346 95,752 249,860 (185) 249,675

“EC—FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#HZE2021F12H31HIEEE  For the Year Ended 31 December 2021

HiaE 20214 20204F
ARBFT AR®EFT
Note 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
REFHHRERE Cash flows from operating
activities
KEFTRIRE Cash used in operations 38(a) (20,550) (36,990)
BETFTER Income tax paid (2,264) (1,414)
REEBIFTRIRE FEE Net cash used in operating
activities (22,814) (38,404)
REFEHERE Cash flows from
investing activities
BEY= -HEMRE Purchases of property,
plant and equipment (7,239) (6,764)
BERTEE Purchases of intangible assets (8,971) (2,667)
HEYE BRE M Proceeds from disposal of
SRAEFTISRIE property, plant and equipment 5 10
WHE— M E A E] Acquisition of a subsidiary (78) =
KREFEFTAREFEE Net cash used in
investing activities (16,283) (9,421)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2021F12831HEFEE  For the Year Ended 31 December 2021

20215 20204F
ARBFT AR®EFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
RMEEBHRERE Cash flows from
financing activities
BEAFE Interest paid (1,996) (1,370)
RITERPIIERIE Proceeds from bank borrowings 48,441 27,882
BEIRITEmN Repayments of bank borrowings (37,250) (26,151)
BITRADFREIE Proceeds from issues of shares = 73,147
TIERER TS AIE Proceeds from exercise
of share options - 2,655
HENRNAEI D Principal elements
of lease payments (1,075) (955)
BITRMD MR Z WA Payment for transaction costs
NEN attributable to issue of shares = (17,602)
BIRHIRITERUR L Decrease in pledged bank
deposits - 2,321
RLEEBIFR1SIRE B EE Net cash generated from
financing activities 8,120 59,927
RERRESEEY (K2)  Net (decrease)/increase
/e NNEEE in cash and cash equivalents (30,977) 12,102
FYRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 37,322 26,466
RERIREZFEYN Translation differences on
HMEERE cash and cash equivalents 559 (1,246)
FERAEKRAESEEBY Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 6,904 37,322
—E-—FFH]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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China New Energy Limited (MZ~AF])) B4
BN REAR2006FE5 B2 HE 2 5t
ML A RRARAE c kit SRR
fiIi213 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE1
IES  ANB FEEEMBATHE LIRX
B ERED0824182406E - ANA T RIS B B
2011458 23H BN SRR ETIH(AIM) £
hMREEEE

122020578158 ' ZABRMPEREE
MEXZFAAERATERMIN LT [
B> ARABRMDERAERETHRT -

A B ER AP SRR (D 5202148
IHEEEES-

RATRKREERAT HNB AT E
EEFEARKNE (B #ERD
BRI BB T R IR M OB L E R
TR B ARTS

REVBREUARBT (AR 2
5 N\RETRERABRANBAR @
MBI HThEEE R

China New Energy Limited

1

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Jersey on 2 May 2006 as a public company with limited liability
under the Jersey Companies Law. The address of its registered
office is at 13 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 1ES. The
Company’s principal place of business is at Unit 2406, 24/F.,
Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The
shares of the Company have been listed and admitted to trading
on AIM since 23 May 2011.

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 15 July 2020,
and on the same day, the shares of the Company in AIM were
delisted.

The Company's shares listed on the Stock Exchange have been
suspended from trading since 1 April 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated service in the ethanol
fuel and alcoholic beverage industries in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
Yuan (“RMB”"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”).
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iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to IFRS 9,
|AS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to IFRS
16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021,
and the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations Committee
(the “Committee”) of the International Accounting Standards
Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity
should include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale”
when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments
to Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

— IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 00 China New Energy Limited

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related
disclosure requirements applying IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures (“IFRS 77).

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant contracts has been
transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during the year.

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee — Cost necessary to sell inventories (IAS 2
Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision,
clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs
necessary to make the sale” when determining the net realisable
value of inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be
limited to those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee
concluded that the estimated costs necessary to make the sale
should not be limited to those that are incremental but should
also include costs that an entity must incur to sell its inventories
including those that are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda
decision was to determine the net realisable value of inventories
taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon application
of the Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed its
accounting policy to determine the net realisable value of
inventories taking into consideration both incremental costs and
other cost necessary to sell inventories. The new accounting policy
has been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance.
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iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The Group has early applied the amendment in the current year.
The amendment extends the availability of the practical expedient
in paragraph 46A of IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16") by one year so
that the practical expedient applies to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for
applying the practical expedient are met.

The application has had no impact to the opening retained
earnings at 1 January 2021.

—ECEFR
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(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

2 FEREMRFERSEL 2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

(TR PR B4 #5 3R &5 22 ) INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

BT @ STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

E B 18 [ K £ XL BT #7 5T R A5 16 5T B New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

BRI R & ZE A

REBRIZRIIRAE T2 B EMERE R The Group has not early applied the following new and

A RBFTE T RS TR PR A T 3R 5 22 R - amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

B PR B 75 2 5 ZE R RERE R IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
$175% TERAEET? Amendments?

Bl PR 5 3R = 2 R BESAEZERY Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
SB35 (BT ) Rt Framework!

B PR B 75 2 5 ZE R KREEHHE Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
F10HRERE S B A B IFRS 10 and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
#ERI 552857 BEEZ Associate or Joint Venture?

Capy ENEE
HEIFES
B g st 2R BEaEDES Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
F15E (BFTA) TRENTL or Non-current?
FETRED?

PR SsZERH 1R R FETEERN Amendments to IAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
B PR B 75 2R 25 25 B I 522 IFRS Practice Statement
BERIEEE2NR 2

Capy
PRt Z£RISE8sE  gEHMEEH Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?
(BETA) E &
Rt EREI2S EEBE—R Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
(B5TA) SNEER Liabilities arising from a Single
EEER Transaction?
IRIEFRIE?

1 02 China New Energy Limited
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective: (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use!

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract!

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020"

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
T —FFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments:

° update a reference in IFRS 3 Business Combinations so
that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued by International Accounting Standards
Board in March 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
instead of the International Accounting Standards
Committee’'s Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
September 2010);

° add a requirement that, for transactions and other
events within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, an
acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a
business combination; and

° add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures deal
with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically,
the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted
for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in
that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting
from the remeasurement of investments retained in any former
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are
recognised in the former parent's profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

—ECEFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;
and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity's own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or noncurrent
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2021, and the related terms and conditions stipulated in the
agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the
application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies.

—FFR
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be
observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case,
an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in IAS
8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs
15 and 24 of IAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group applies IAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to relevant
assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Continued)

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to the
amendments amounted to RMB4,019,000 and RMB1,932,000
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing the full
impact of the application of the amendments.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were
produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management (such as
samples produced when testing whether the relevant property,
plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the proceeds
from selling such items should be recognised and measured in the
profit or loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of
the items are measured in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether
a contract is onerous in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the unavoidable costs
under the contract should reflect the least net cost of exiting from
the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of
fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the
Group has not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of initial
application.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-
2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
the lender on the other's behalf.

IFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS
16 removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
remove any potential confusion.

IAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements in
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by removing the requirement
in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows when
measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income and convertible notes
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices

included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

—FFR
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.



iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

EEMBRRENEER
FEFHHERX @

RKEEREHZ W

FEERTRBEOEER Gt HER
W BN B EBKEEEREMIR
BHERIE B E Pk

RYEEEEAERENARMNRE G—E
BRI  AEREFERN—R7
BRE P an Bl AR TS ©

il f7 & LUN H R —IEAR%E » QI RS
R MR 2R 2 E1T18R
BRYAEENERIT MR B

. & PR E R E R EUSIE
FERAERBAPTIRHATFE ;

. FAEENBORIBIRAZRR
FEBBARIZHINEE ; 5L

. FEENBOTREENAER
BEBERRENEE BAEEAR
SR T LR E 2 S EBAIER
DHIRRIE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell
a promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-
alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates
it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price
ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the
customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Revenue recognition on performance obligations for contracts
with customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major source:

Provision of ethanol production system technology integrated
service

The Group is engaged in the provision of ethanol production
system technology integrated service in the ethanol fuel and
alcoholic beverage industries. Revenue is recognised when control
over the asset has been transferred to the customer. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group'’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date. The equipment has generally no alternative use for the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date due to contractual restrictions and
the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to the contract.

B —FFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Revenue recognition on performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Provision of ethanol production system technology integrated
service (Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, that is, the
actual costs incurred up to the end of the reporting period as
a percentage of total estimated costs for each product in the
contract.

The Group generally offers 12 months warranties for its product.
The Group recognised retention money as contract assets as
the Group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional on
satisfactory completion of the warranty period. The retention
money will be recognised as trade receivables at the end of
warranty period.

The Group does not recognise the warranty service as a separate
performance obligation in a single contract as the warranty service
is assurance type, and the Group’s obligation to repair or replace
faulty products under the warranty terms is recognised as a
provision.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of offices and staff dormitories that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
° any lease payments made on or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
and
° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.
T —FFR
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties,
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments). After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
maodification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as
a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using the
unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required
by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these
conditions are met:

° the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

° the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to
apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is
a lease modification if all of the following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments

originally due on or before 30 June 2021/2022; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions (Continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The
related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven
or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit
or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that require a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those asset, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset. A
liability is recognised as benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to service providers

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investment in subsidiaries and
associate, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. An internally-generated
intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of CGUSs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairments loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of CGUs)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of CGUSs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories comprised of raw material, work-in-progress and right
to returned goods and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average
basis. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure,
the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to
make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

@) Financial assets

() Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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3 FEMBTEHRREZEER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FEFHHERK@® CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

£RMT A (&) Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) ZTHEE & (a)  Financial assets (Continued)
(i) THEENTEREE (i) Classification and subsequent measurement of
FrE (&) financial assets (Continued)
RFE TIRENSREE Financial assets that meet the following conditions
HEBBR AT ESAEME are subsequently measured at fair value through
i (B2 A ET AR other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

fhzmEuE) 518 ¢

J REIFRMUEE K& . the financial asset is held within a business
WA &N IRE R model whose objective is achieved by both
EAENNER selling and collecting contractual cash
BRFENE M flows; and
BE; &

. BHBRRRIERE . the contractual terms give rise on specified
BREELENRE dates to cash flows that are solely
TME AT A AT payments of principal and interest on the
KERKEBER principal amount outstanding.

EHFE o

FrEEMEMEERRES All other financial assets are subsequently

BAFEAEB@T= measured at FVTPL, except that at initial

ERVREREMEE recognition of a financial asset the Group may

28 MRAKRELIERF irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes

EEE > INIERRINER in fair value of an equity investment in other

FEERR SRS 2R E3 comprehensive income if that equity investment

SRE A HPTERINZER is neither held for trading nor contingent

BHPRERNIARE consideration recognised by an acquirer in a

Bl A< 65 [ AT R RI R EH 3t 28 business combination to which IFRS 3 Business

EREMEER R 25 Combinations applies.

RALE AT ENEES

o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
@) Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition, it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that is required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 FEMBTEHRREZEER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FEFHHERK@® CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

ERMITAE @ Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) ZTHEE & (a)  Financial assets (Continued)
(i) BHEHAHFEUA (i) Amortised cost and interest income

M E AR ERF =X Interest income is recognised using the effective
% ILE B S S AN 5 interest method for financial assets measured
EZERBEEREFIE subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
AT 53848 B PR A 2 fE is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
BREmEENREZE to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
B EEREREER except for financial assets that have subsequently
ENTREERIN (BT become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
X) cEBEAEER assets that have subsequently become credit
ERNEREEMS  FIE impaired, interest income is recognised by
WATE B N —ER S HE R applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
TS BRERFERAR cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
S RNE RV H AN T period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
R fEERENERT financial instrument improves so that the financial
BENEERRBINE asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
B ESREERNBHIRE is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
BRE BETEETE to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
HIREERENRSIEEY from the beginning of the reporting period following
e B IR XA R the determination that the asset is no longer credit
BENREEERESTE impaired.

NG

1 38 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@) Financial assets (Continued)

(iir) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOC/

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserves, and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to

accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the other income line

item in profit or loss.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets at amortised cost which are
subject to impairment under IFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade and bills receivables and contract assets.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balance or collectively
using a provision matrix with similar credit risk
characteristics based primarily on the debtors’
aging profiles.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognizes lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3 ﬁ-?A MIZRRENERER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FEFHHERK@® CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

ERTE (&) Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) ZTHEE & (a)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) ZHEERE & (iv)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
EEREAIE L Significant increase in credit risk
REMEEERBESBEY In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
YETE S LATR AR _E B significantly since initial recognition, the Group
AEERKRS B SR T compares the risk of a default occurring on the
BHIRBAE R R financial instrument as at the reporting date with
PR HAER T AY the risk of a default occurring on the financial
BRI EREITLE instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
8o PRE R L TE T4 B » In making this assessment, the Group considers
rEEEETRSIERAIE both quantitative and qualitative information that
BEXRFHNEEREEE is reasonable and supportable, including historical
B BiREFRRE N EA experience and forward-looking information that is
B AT IE ATMEFHY available without undue cost or effort.
EEES=
AR ML EERE In particular, the following information is taken into
BEANEBLEFR > AEE account when assessing whether credit risk has
BERUTEN ! increased significantly:

. SR T BN (W . an actual or expected significant
B) HABEET deterioration in the financial instrument’s
RERZ AR external (if available) or internal credit
TREE ; rating;

o EERRINEE T . significant deterioration in external market
SR RNIREE indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
BlnEgH ZE K increase in the credit spread, the credit
B EH N EBAE default swap prices for the debtor;
EENEIER
AIELEF;

1 42 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that result in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group). Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

AERAEHE

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic

RZzEFRAER or contractual reasons relating to the
B8 F B IR borrower’s financial difficulty, having
HAERBNKER granted to the borrower concession(s) that
BREE A TE the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
RATEHMIBER
TAEEHBE
2
EE NI o it is becoming probable that the borrower
EETEME will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
TREA ; 5 reorganisation; or
%Rl E E R B o the disappearance of an active market for
5 R B ok A& that financial asset because of financial
iz difficulties.
WEEEER Write-off policy
EEERNETRZHFR The Group writes off a financial asset when there
AR E RS 2 B i is information indicating that the counterparty is in
BRI EIB R EEZ B (I severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
URZHFEBHEIE prospect of recovery, for example, when the

EARERF MBS
FEWGRIRM & > 8RB
BEmER  URFER
%) REBE MR
BE - RipAaEEUEIE
FitEEERER B
F) - EMEERIERE AT
Pl B SR BT - #iEHE
B AR LERESR (R 1R B UX
[EIRRIRNS s P EESS o

counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised

in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default

occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and
contract assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking

macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when

formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by

management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables and contract assets, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a

loss allowance account.

(v) Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the assets expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or

|oss.
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(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 FEMBTEHRREZEER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FEFHHERK@® CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

ERTE (&) Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) ZTHEEREZ (b)  Financial liabilities and equity
(i) DB EFES (i) Classification as debt or equity
BEEEEFETARES Debt and equity instruments are classified
NZHz EEESREaE either as financial liabilities or as equity in
KR T B2 €085 accordance with the substance of the contractual
=N EIR n arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

(i)  #mITH (i) Equity instruments
@ T AR —(EEEE An equity instrument is any contract that
RN EatRzEE evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
A RIFER 2 ERS entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
No LB Tz m T instruments issued by the group are recognised at
BT RSRUE R E R the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
TR AHESR 0

(i)  EHEE (i) Financial liabilities
FiE R B BB All financial liabilities are subsequently measured
AR BRI Z AT at amortised cost using the effective interest
NEEETAE @ T U method or at FVTPL.
2o

1 48 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is

designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the

purpose of repurchasing it in the near
term; or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative, except for a derivative
that is a financial guarantee contract
or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.
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(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 FEMBTEHRREZEER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FEFHHERK@® CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

ERMTA (@ Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) ZTHEEREZ &) (b)  Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
(i)  ZHEE (B (i) Financial liabilities (Continued)
BT ES A B mAER Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

afE @

PBrRAIEEBNERSH A financial liability other than a financial liability

AU TS B IR ELASN held for trading or contingent consideration of

NEmas mMEaUT an acquirer in a business combination may be

& > EX IR TR SRR ol 15 designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

EARATFEFT A8t

= .

J Z15EH BRI EE . such designation eliminates or significantly
EZ R/ g HIR reduces a measurement or recognition
Mt 2T ERB inconsistency that would otherwise arise;
A—RIER ; 3K or
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
(i) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

° the financial liability forms part of a
group of financial assets or financial
liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the
Group’s documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that
basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9
permits the entire combined contract to be
designated as at FVTPL.
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(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 ﬁ-?A MIZRRENERER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FEFHHERK@® CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

ERMITAE @ Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) ZTHEEREZ & (b)  Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
(i)  EHEE (&) (i) Financial liabilities (Continued)

AT ES ABmIER Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)
a8E®
”‘”]LEA?':*%$§@$E§H\ For financial liabilities that are designated as
BmstEmlNERes at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair
BENEE lgﬁ“?‘ﬁhﬁxﬁl value of the financial liability that is attributable
NEMaE AT EESE to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
Bt AR EmEE bR recognised in other comprehensive income,
JEE E e U e RS unless the recognition of the effects of changes
BEEERREENTE in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
SELEFIEABRTNEG income would create or enlarge an accounting
sHEE e B A BRANIT mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities
S TEZEREBE @ that contain embedded derivatives, such as
AARES) s REE convertible bonds, the changes in fair value
REMEEEHPTZIRIE of the embedded derivatives are excluded in
B bR ARNTTET R determining the amount to be presented in other
ZATEEH sHEE comprehensive income. Changes in fair value
EERBERZ ATEE attributable to a financial liability's credit risk that
E)NE Rl i are recognised in other comprehensive income
BEEAZENDEEE are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss;
o MERIEER SR E instead, they are transferred to accumulated losses
ERFERE Rt upon derecognition of the financial liability.
DU E A st ENE/ME Financial liabilities at amortised cost
B
TRaE (BRESEN Financial liabilities including trade payables,
A~ EME R FUE G other payables and borrowings are subsequently
) HBREABREA XX measured at amortised cost, using the effective
DUBSHR A TE interest method.

1 52 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of a financial asset or
financial liability to which the amortised cost
measurement applies as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to account for these changes by
updating the effective interest rate, such change in
effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant
financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is required by interest
rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these
conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark
reform; and

o the new basis for determining the

contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis (ie the
basis immediately preceding the change).
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

(iv)

Convertible loan notes

A conversion option that will be settled other than
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Group’s own equity instruments is a conversion
option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and
derivative components are recognised at fair value.
In subsequent periods, the debt component of the
convertible loan notes is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the debt
and derivative components in proportion to their
relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the
derivative component are charged to profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs relating to the debt
component are included in the carrying amount
of the debt portion and amortised over the period
of the convertible loan notes using the effective
interest method.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue from provision of ethanol production system
technology integrated service in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industries is recognised over time when the Group's
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. The Group cannot change or
substitute the product or redirect the product for another use as
the product is tailor made to each customer’s needs and thus the
product does not have an alternative use to the Group. However,
whether there is an enforceable right to payment depends on the
terms of contract and the interpretation of the applicable laws
that apply to the contract. Such determination requires significant
judgments. In assessing whether the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for its contracts, the Group has performed an
assessment on the contractual terms as well as any legislation
that could supplement or override those contractual terms, and
conducted an evaluation of any existence of circumstances
that could restrict the Group to enforce its right to payment for
specific performance. Management uses judgments to classify
contracts into those with right to payment and those without the
right. Management will reassess its judgments on a regular basis
to identify and evaluate the existence of any circumstances that
could affect the Group's enforceable right to payment and the
implication on the accounting for contracts.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation at the reporting date. The progress is measured
based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract costs incurred
up to the end of reporting period as a percentage of total estimated
costs for each product in the contract. Significant judgments
and estimations are required in determining the completeness of
the estimated total costs and the accuracy of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation at the reporting
date. Changes in cost estimates in future periods can have
effect on the Group's revenue recognised. In making the above
estimations, the Group relies on past experience and work of
contractors and, if appropriate, surveyors.

Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs

The Group capitalises costs incurred on development projects
as intangible assets when recognition criteria are met. Significant
judgment is involved in assessing whether the criteria set out
in the accounting standards required for capitalisation of such
costs have been met, including the likelihood of the project
delivering sufficient future economic benefits, and whether costs,
including employment costs, were directly attributable to relevant
projects. The Group starts to capitalise research and development
expenditure upon patent application. Notwithstanding that the
Group has used all available information to make this estimation
and judgment, inherent uncertainty exists and the capitalised
costs may have to be expensed if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs
(Continued)

Capitalised development costs are amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The Group reviews the estimated useful
lives of the assets semi-annually. The amortisation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes on the
useful lives from previous estimates.

Development cost not yet ready for use, which are capitalised as
intangible assets are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Impairment assessment requires
the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
both the carrying value of intangible assets and the impairment
charge in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Impairment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade and
bills receivables and contract assets in addition to the specific
provisions. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade and bills receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and
bills receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the ECL for trade and bills receivables are
a reasonable approximation for the loss rates for contract assets.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. In assessing forward looking factors, the Group
considers factors including economic policies, macroeconomic
indicators, industry risks and changes in customers’ conditions.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECL is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECL on the
Group’s trade and hills receivables and contract assets is disclosed
in Note 38(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

State-owned enterprises and non-state-owned enterprises are
deemed to have different credit risk based on experience of
defaults and write offs. ECL for these customers is based on aging
where there are no known disputes. Customers in liquidity issues
relates to those who may be disputing invoices or in bankruptcy
and so 100% provision is made against these debtors.

B —FFR
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible asset — internal
development costs

Intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated amortisation
and impairment, if any. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’'s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test.

Based on the management's assessment, no impairment was
recognised on the intangible assets — internal development costs.
Please refer to Note 17(a) for details of the impairment test.
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& 5. REVENUE
@) BEFR&a# =R (0] Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers
EY et iR R Types of goods or services
20214 20204
ARETT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRHEERES Provision of construction services
— O EEE ERGTM — ethanol production system
=S BRTS technology integrated services
IR T Ethanol fuel industries 277,905 422573
BEREEUEHT 2 Alcoholic beverage industries 105,009 97,695
Hi Others 3,917 1,293
st Total 386,831 521,561

Efth) T RIRB KRR

“Others” mainly refers to revenue generated from projects

TZAERIER EE AU relating to medical and industry of ethyl acetate.
W oz FESTPFET - Timing of revenue recognition:
20214 20204F
ARETT ARET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
%5 5 i Over time 386,094 519,683
REEE At a point in time 737 1,878
386,831 521,561
(i) PEFEFENFGREBENE (i)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied
BHRRXSER: performance obligation for contracts with customers:

A DS ER SRS
15975121 RV B B B 75 VA M
IR LR B AR TS
ARG HEA% Bt bRE
BT BE RSB TERES
B ERA—ER TR ANE
TSR AR
wEkto

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
provision of ethanol production system technology
integrated service such that the above information does
not include information about revenue that the Group will
be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the contracts that had an original
expected duration of one year or less.

B —FFR
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segment. The chief operating decision maker has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated services in the ethanol
fuel and alcoholic beverage industries. Management reviews
the operating results of the business as one segment to make
decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the executive
directors of the Company regard that there is only one segment
which is used to make strategic decisions. Revenue and profit
before income tax are the measures reported to the executive
directors for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Geographical information

The amount of the Group’s revenue from external customers

B AU NERFTR broken down by location of the customers is shown in the table
below.

202145 20204
AREBTT AR®FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FfEH PRC 383,962 511,873
41 Myanmar 1,972 7,723
BEEHT Russia 635 =
Efe Indonesia 262 1,704
HAER Other countries = 261
st Total 386,831 521,561

20214 202012831 8 » A~EEERIFT
BIERSEEE R RE-

1 62 China New Energy Limited

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the non-current assets
of the Group were located in the PRC.
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing

PRI over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:
202145 20204
AREETT AREEFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEA! Customer Al 198,754 256,933
= FB!2 Customer B2 N/A REH 85,142
gRC Customer C3 70,111 N/A 3
BED? Customer D3 63,547 N/A R 5E B
332,412 342,075
1 EEARE FBAMILHIRIHAT] L Customer A and Customer B are related companies of each other.
2 HEFE U I S A EE [ &L 22021 6F 12831 2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
HIEFEAEWERAN10%M o revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
9 HEFEUN R I S A AN SR [ & 22020512531 3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
H I FEARRRAI10%L ko revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Hh g A 7 OTHER INCOME
20214 20204
ARBTT ARBEFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR (FFEEO)) Subsidy income (note (i)) 3,517 2,350
BELAEREEER (UEEGD)) Refund of legal and
professional fees (note (ii)) 10,764 -
14,281 2,350
@ LA F EIE BN R A E B IR HNE (i) Subsidy income mainly represented government grants provided to the

(i)

B (ERHRIFTRIE RE CEN T R
[ - B RAFEBD 2 R M RIS IR B RS RSB 2%
Ao

MINAR S B TS IR M S 10FR I BE e SRE
B ZE2020F 128310 L FE - B9 1ERAZS
ZREDHAEBERREEERIA
E#518,603,0007T ° B E2021412H31H
LEE BEREBPOEMRXZHARE
10,764,000 T FESR 7 A S BRI AU A ©

Group for its support and award to innovative and growth enterprises. The

grants were unconditional and were recognised as income when received.

(ii) As disclosed and defined in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements, some Concerned Transactions were recognised as legal
and professional fees of the Group of approximately RMB18,603,000
during the year ended 31 December 2020. During the year ended 31
December 2021, part of the Concerned Transactions of approximately
RMB10,764,000 were refunded and recognised as other income of the
Group.

B —FFR
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8. OTHER GAINS - NET

20214 20204

AR#TT AR¥FT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wi SREE Contract assets written off - (2,752)

edEpEd:S Recovery of bad debts 2,687 3,270

ERUE, (518) > F48 Exchange gains/(losses), net 1,407 (1,409)
HEYIZE - BERRED Losses on disposal of property,

518 plant and equipment (56) (179)
AR EEN AT EW TR Fair value gains on convertible notes = 1,462
Hih Others 3 359

4,041 751
9 MBWARKZ 9  FINANCE INCOME AND COST
202145 20204
AR®TT AR®EF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
HBEBA Finance income
BHERSBEMESREEMNF]  Interest income from financial
BUWA assets held for cash management
purposes 11 45
57895728 Finance costs
IRITERMN EMX Bank borrowings interest expense (1,842) (1,184)
HEaENSRX Lease liabilities interest expense (165) (231)
(2,007) (1,415)
AT Al A~ — 2 28 Finance costs — net (1,996) (1,370)

1 64 China New Energy Limited
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10 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BRPRSIR AT A THASHI PR P B IRER Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging
20215 2020
AREFT ARETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
BTMAE (BEESH) Staff costs (including directors' remuneration)
TE e A REMETR Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 16,549 16,260
BEDHENMER Contribution to pension scheme 1,654 1,739
DRHAERNMAR Share-based payments = 948
18,203 18,947
w o REYEEEARE Less: Capitalised in intangible assets (2,053) (2,529)
16,150 16,418
HALUTHEEE Amounts included in
—HERMAE — Cost of sales 3,190 2,934
—HEREHEY — Selling and marketing expenses 5,569 4,220
—THBRX — Administrative expenses 7,391 9,264
TRERBEMA Costs of engineering services 49,283 63,295
EREME R EFER Raw materials and consumables used 281,628 315941
MEBERERERE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 4421 3454
FREEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,131 1,131
E EESHE Amortisation of intangible assets 1,357 1,072
T RIER AR ESE (05EE) © Impairment losses, net of reversal recognised on:
—BRRWFIERENEE — Trade and bills receivables 6,818 4773
—GREE — Contract assets 15,868 3928
—HtEIREIE — Other receivables 1,725 7510
24411 16,211
STATERSNEE Amounts included in administrative expenses:
FEREEER W2 Legal and professional fees (nofe) 5,782 20488
ZEEm B Auditors' remuneration 808 2,656
Naiili53 Listing expenses = 17482
TN Research and development costs 5,838 4,466
KiaE - Note:

FEBPNEE2020E12831H I EERTERR
HEEH ARIE18,603,0007T AR ILEHE
BAEXREBEE2020F12831H EHHEELES
MISIRRIZ ML BN (TRIEZEET)) BE
BERLBHRY (HRAXS)) A2 aRBRER
(TERFBEME)) NRELTRRREE ((Biz=E
1H1) - AR ZNEZEEEIER2020578
I5EARATRMREBHERBMARAR LH
BAAZRBREREFREZSREURBLR
HENSENEEETE REEER > UkE TR
RUBRAEERESER > BESEEIMNRE
B o AABMINBIAELZECTERE—REIL
SEEER (TZEER)) HERAR ZE T B RHE
BB SR EAE T HEHEA2022418178H
B AERE -AMBI AT EEERNAERN
AT BHEIA202241 B28 A AL o

Regarding legal and professional fees of approximately RMB18,603,000 recognised
by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020, the auditors which
were originally engaged by the Company to act as auditors of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2020
(the “Predecessor Auditor”) had raised concerns (the “Audit Issues”) over these
payments to various service providers (the “Service Providers”) for the professional
and consultancy services (the “Concerned Transactions”). The Audit Issues in relation
to the Concerned Transactions included the commercial substance and business
rationale for engaging the Service Providers to provide such services shortly after the
listing of the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
on 15 July 2020 and for prepaying the entire contract sum in full, and whether
there was any relationship between certain Service Providers with the Group and its
management. The Independent Investigation Committee formed by the Company
has engaged an independent professional advisor (the “Advisor”) to conduct an
independent investigation on the Concerned Transactions. The Advisor completed its
investigation and issued an independent investigation report dated 17 January 2022.
Details of key findings of the independent investigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 January 2022.
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

202145 20204
AR®BTT AR®EF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
BIHEATRIE ! Current tax:

FRET b 2P R PRC Enterprise Income Tax 4,468 14,709
EIEFTISIRIE R Deferred income tax credit (3,299) (2,129)
RSz 4a%s Total income tax expenses 1,169 12,580

EAFER Hong Kong profits tax

REFSRMEH s EREEEERN
BE2B BB T U8.25% iR &L
Mo BB E B AT 2 L16.5%89
MUEREARG -

R AEBRNWALIEREBELE
REER B EREBRIBEIEL RS
(20204 : #E) o

BINFRIFIR

KRABIRIRIOIF ZFAE A BATE 2R
EEMMIIAARBIRAS - SIRFEM
B ARARBRIEEAEBER Bt
B IEETE SPTEME (19619F) (@&1&
) MEmNEmMBREEERALEXE
B AR ABRIEAENENREAT
pzZEo

PEEERSR

AEBEGEMNE QTN B ERER
PRSI s 5 IR IR B 22021 5 522020F
12B31 B 1L FERITER s R 1B A
RfhsHERM ST B RIRERT R

1 66 China New Energy Limited

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong
(2020: Nil).

Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in Jersey as a public company
with limited liability under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. The
Company is regarded as resident for tax purposes in Jersey and
on the basis that the Group is neither a financial services group
nor a utility group for the purposes of the Income Tax (Jersey)
Law 1961, as amended; The Company is subject to income tax in
Jersey at a rate of zero per cent.

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of the operations
of its subsidiaries in mainland China has been calculated at the
applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable profits for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

PRC enterprise income tax (Continued)

The enterprise income tax rate applicable to the group entities
located in mainland China is 25% according to the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “EIT
Law”) effective on 1 January 2008 except Guangdong Zhongke
Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co Ltd (“Zhongke
Tianyuan”), which was qualified as “High and New Technology
Enterprise” in 2016 and was entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15% on its estimated assessable profits for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020. On 19 February 2020, the filing
of Zhongke Tianyuan’s renewal of the High and New Technology
Enterprise qualification for another 3 years starting from 2
December 2019 was completed.

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of
the PRC and effective from 2008 onwards, enterprises engaged
in research and development activities are entitled to claim
an additional tax deduction amounting to 50% of the qualified
research and development expenses incurred in determining its
assessable tax profits for that year. The additional tax deduction
has been increased from 50% of the qualified research and
development expenses to 75%, effective from 2018 to 2020,
according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by the State
Tax Bureau of the PRC in September 2018 (“Super Deduction”).
Effective from 2021 onwards, the additional tax deduction
rate of the qualified research and development expenses for
manufacturing enterprises has been increased from 75% to
100%, according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by
the State Tax Bureau of the PRC in March 2021.

B —FFR
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FRiEMHAXZ @ 11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

P EFENFRER PRC withholding income tax

RIBEZEFAERIE > B2008F181H#E According to the EIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, a
EFEIRINERERATNFENREA withholding tax of 10% will be levied on the immediate holding
3 B/R2008F1 81 H & BEMIF EE IR companies outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare
BER HPEIEIERIERATE dividend out of profits earned after 1 January 2008.

H10% 783075

FeEmkEMEERGERAFERNE The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

MRSz BB AT EFIVEERIT ¢

profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

20214 20204
AREETT ARETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FRIS AT A A Profit before tax 8,964 56,944
BERATEMERETEN Tax at the applicable enterprise
FRIE : 25% (20204 : 25%) income tax rate: 25% (2020: 25%) 2,241 14,236
WMEBABMEEENTE Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries (1,206) (376)
RERARLERIBESEN Effect of tax losses and temporary
MIBEIE R R AN difference not recognised
as deferred tax assets 773 320
TR B RIMES » BEZEHRUA  Income not taxable for tax purposes (16) =
IR BRI S » Ar/H0EBESZ  Expenses not deductible for
tax purposes 335 204
P EE S BBV AR Super deduction of research and
development expenditure (958) (990)
Hfh Others - (814)
1,169 12,580

1 68 China New Energy Limited




iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

12 EFRFETHAEME 12

RIEBEA LR RERQBRPIRE
WEFERNESEREBTHRASMEWT -

HE221F12B31HIEFESSE/N

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

The remuneration of each director for the year ended

SEEINT 31 December 2021 is set out as follows:
I& -Hig
AR &ELHE DU
fig &Rl Mt ERNHE st
ARETT AREFT ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Salaries,
wages,  Contribution
honuses and to pension  Share-based
Fees other benefits scheme compensations Total
4 Name RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BTES Executive directors
SERLE Mr. Yu Weijun = 558 = = 558
BRELSE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing - 460 13 = 473
BiEHTES Independent non-executive directors
Richard Antony Bennett4c £ Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 177 20 - - 197
BERLE Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 100 60 = = 160
BOLEE Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam 100 268 = = 368
377 1,366 13 - 1,756
2 —FFR
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12 EERTEFTHAESISE 12 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

(%) EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
B E20205F 12831 HIEFEREE09E The remuneration of each director for the year ended
SEEIT 31 December 2020 is set out as follows:
TE fid
TEIREM BEEE5HE s
ik &Rl miER  ERDHE st
ARETE ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT
Salaries,
wages,  Contribution
bonuses and topension  Share-based
Fees  other benefits scheme  compensations Total
4 Name RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BiTES Executive directors
SERLE Mr. Yu Weijun = 594 = ) 636
BkELE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing = 494 14 ) 550
BIERTES Independent non-executive directors
Richard Antony Bennettz Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 181 = = 42 223
BERLE Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron
(1202078150 (Appointed on 15 July 2020)
EZf) it = - - Q9
BOLEE Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam
(1202078150 (Appointed on 15 July 2020)
EZf) it = - - Q9
279 1,088 14 126 1,507
AR TEEMNEETEATEMN The executive directors” emoluments shown above were mainly for
BIEAN B RAEBEFHRENRFER their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
Bl the Company and the Group.
XS REIIER TESNEARSE The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

TR AR E SRR RIS o

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

FABESREEHNENRENETM There was no arrangement under which the directors waived or
BV ZHE o agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
HE017F12B31HIEEE B TEER During the year ended 31 December 2017, certain directors were
BN BB E N E R AN EE IR granted share options in respect of their services to the Group
R ARFSER B - BRAE B EN &7 under the share option scheme of the Company. Details are set out
B ERARMIEE34(d) in note 34(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

13 EEHM 13 EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
FR> AEBRERESHMATEIES The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
ATESE (20206 : 22 ESH) » EHHEN include 3 directors (2020: 2 directors) of the Company, details of
SHIEEHN LI T FEr T mE whose emoluments are set out in note 12 above. The emoluments
(2020FF : =%) ATHIEEMAN T - paid to the remaining two (2020: three) individuals are as follows:
202145 20204
AR®T T AR¥TT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE e tik Salaries, wages, bonuses
Hhras| and other benefits 900 1,262
BEETEIPHER Contribution to pension scheme 25 37
DURRAR B E BRI Share-based payments = 92
925 1,391
REBEERT ATWEFTBNBR LA TEE ! The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group fell

within the following bands:

20214 20204F
2021 2020
FBNEsE Emolument bands
=2 1,000,000/ 71 Nil to HKD1,000,000
(FEE AR #830,0007T) (equivalent to RMB830,000)
(20204 : AR #915,0007T) (2020: RMB915,000) 2 3
14 KRR 14 DIVIDENDS
FR20214F » i A A A B & @ A A B K No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
I BRI HKMEMRR S » BHRS AR shareholders of the Company during 2021, nor has any dividend
TNEEEKEARR S (20204 : #8) © been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020: Nil).
2 —FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RSB BRI FTEZEB AR ARETIT)

15 EKEF

(@ EBRELSER

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

202145 20204
ARBTT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
KABEB AEL A Profit attributable to owners

of the Company 8,421 44,364

BEETZERIMMETIIH Weighted average number of

(F5) ordinary shares in issue
(thousand shares) 589,759 504,524
SRELREF Basic earnings per share 0.014 0.088
(b) ESRESERT (b)  Diluted earnings per share
202145 20204
AR®BTT AR®FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
KABEB AEML A Profit attributable to owners

of the Company 8,421 42,902

BT EERNNEFTE Weighted average number of

(FR) ordinary shares in issue

(thousand shares) 589,759 534,454
SR#ERH Diluted earnings per share 0.014 0.080

() HESREBFMABMNEHIK

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings

per share
202145 20204
ARETT AR®EFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREEER T Diluted earnings per share
Bt ESRERRT Profit from continuing operations
HARA B S @RS attributable to the ordinary equity
BAEGLFELSE holders of the Company used
FriS &) - in calculating basic earnings
per share: 8,421 44,364
TR R Less: fair value gain
NEEW TR on convertible notes = (1,462)
ARt ESRE SR Used in calculating diluted
earnings per share 8,421 42,902
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RSB BERBIN FIESEEMBARETT)

15 EREZF @

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(d)

BED BRARMG MEFI9

(d)
denominator

Weighted average number of shares used as the

202145 20204
ARBTT AR®FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
STEESREARFBEAIE  Weighted average number of
DN ER N ordinary shares (thousand shares)
FHE (FHR) used as the denominator in
calculating basic earnings
per share 589,759 504,524
SEEREERTN Adjustments for calculation of
HE diluted earnings per share:
BEERARZEER Share options granted under the
BEREAEEEN Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
FERERE (F19) (thousand shares) (note i)
(Htazi) (Heatiin) (note iii) - 17,118
AMRERE (FH%) Convertible notes (thousand
(Hazii) (i) shares) (note ii) (note iii) = 12,812
STESRIEERFARFAIE  Weighted average number of
PDENEBERKRBES ordinary shares (thousand shares)
BRIEEEEE (FR) and potential ordinary shares used
as the denominator in calculating
diluted earnings per share 589,759 534,454

Mati

F20174F 10817 H » N5 [F#F4139,300,508
DBRIEEA A EFERRSGRIESH <
KO o 5% |ZaA 2 R 33 i) o

RRFE R TR BIREC TR E
=D ) € =F el s A

(IR BT BT 2 IR-F I 5 (B 15 &
&) EITHIR P EE A E M BEE TR E
B - GREAXFF PR HIIEEEZTT
RIGEE A 5t B /RAEEEFFFHED

Note |

On 17 October 2017, the Group granted 39,300,508 share options for the
long-term incentive of directors and senior employees of the Group. For

details, please refer to Note 33(ii).

The number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise
of the share options less the number of shares that could have been issued
at fair value (determined as the average market price per share for the
period before exercise) for the same total proceeds is the number of shares
issued for no consideration. The resulting number of shares issued for
no consideration in basic earnings per share is included in the weighted

BT S average number of ordinary shares as the denominator for calculating
diluted earnings per share.
Bt Note ii

KRB FK2019F258H K2019F28
15H #175,250,000;& 7z 526,250,000 7T
H912% BI #5215 o 5% (5 73 2 R M1 531
BIHRBR E 15 E 1T H I B E 2R #
BT HETER

Kz

B E2021F 12531 H IEF/Z » BHEEZ1T
ETEBER

The Company issued 12% convertible notes for HK$5,250,000 and
HK$6,250,000 on 8 February 2019 and 15 February 2019 respectively.
For details, please refer to Note 31. Convertible notes are included in the

determination of dilutive earnings per share from their date of issue.

Note iii

There were no potential ordinary shares in issue for the year ended 31

December 2021.

——_
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RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

16 ¥ BKE kK&

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BF HoRE R0 HE st
ARETT ARETRT AREBTR ARETRT ARETT
Office Motor
Buildings  equipment  Machinery vehicles Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
D% COST
RR2020F 1818 At 1 January 2020 5,772 780 15,146 8,004 29,702
RE Additions - 47 4,466 2,251 6,764
HE Disposals 37) (1,814) (1,739) (3,600)
12020128311 At 31 December 2020 5,772 790 17,788 8,516 32,866
NE Additions - 35 7,204 - 7,239
HE Disposals - - - (613) (613)
12021128311 At 31 December 2021 5,772 825 24,992 7,903 39,492
BEHRE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RR2020F18 18 At 1 January 2020 4400 514 5,408 7,791 18,113
FEREE Provided for the year 133 67 3,035 219 3454
HE Disposals - (33) (1,810) (568) (3,411)
120206128311 At 31 December 2020 4533 548 6,633 6,442 18,156
FREE Provided for the year 133 62 3,740 486 4421
HE Disposals = = (552) (552)
1R2021%12H31H At 31 December 2021 4,666 610 10,373 6,376 22,025
fREE CARRYING VALUES
R20215E12H31H At 31 December 2021 1,106 215 14619 1,527 17467
12020128311 At 31 December 2020 1,239 242 11,155 2,074 14,710
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FH GNF) DEEAE GDRRETIRE
B :

P 5% 104
AEE 5E 105
N4 3E5F
S5 20%F

BEENNREERIERFHESRS
HRE TS REBER R

StAGRE R RAYE BB MR BN
EWMT

16

iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Office equipment 3-5 years
Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged
to the consolidated income statements as follows:

202145 20204

AR®T T AREEFTT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

TR Administrative expenses 452 153
THE R AR Cost of sales 3,882 3,189
THE R EHAY Selling and marketing expenses 87 112
4,421 3,454

120214 5220205 125 31 H AR EAREAY
# N 151,106,0007t % A K 51,239,000
TR F BN IR E R T EREERE
R (EE29) o

Buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,106,000 and RMB1,239,000 as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 respectively were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings (Note 29).

B —FFR
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RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

m2EE 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BiTR®
NS HEF wiE  HERE st
ARETT ARETR AR%®Tr ARETRT ARETR
Self-
Computer  developed Development
software patents  Trademarks costs Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
s COST
RR2020F 1818 At 1 January 2020 60 8,393 1,374 11,284 21,111
"B Additions - - - 2,667 2,667
B ES Transfer to patents = 9,176 = (9,176) -
12020128311 At 31 December 2020 60 17,569 1,374 4775 23,778
hE Additions = = = 8971 8971
BREER Transfer to patents - 340 = (340) -
12021128311 At 31 December 2021 60 17,909 1,374 13,406 32,749
e 5 AMORTISATION
RR2020F18 18 At 1 January 2020 60 2,639 160 - 2,859
FRRE Provided for the year = 935 137 = 1,072
1R2020F12H31H At 31 December 2020 60 3,574 297 - 3931
FREE Provided for the year = 1,220 137 = 1,357
202141283181 At 31 December 2021 60 4,79% 434 = 5,288
fREfE CARRYING VALUES
12021128311 At 31 December 2021 - 13,115 940 13,406 27461
12020128318 At 31 December 2020 - 13,995 1,077 4775 19,847

FEBMENBRARBEREBEE
BB EEE URERERE R ZE
TEXHHEELRBAMAE - AEER
SRR FERRABESCAERE -BE
2021F 2020 12831 H IEFE AT 8
TR RMAINEM A EEEN KA
HEACAEN A B ERERB M
R B (BEFRER LK
SZEERA) B ERAY A AR 13, 90800078
(2020%F : AEH7,137,0007T) °

1 76 China New Energy Limited

The Group incurred development costs on its research and
development projects for enhancing and upgrading its alcohol and
ethanol production technology, and expanding the business scope
of alcohol and ethanol production. The Group starts to capitalise
development costs upon patent application. During the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, some of the self-developed
technologies were successfully registered as patents of the Group
and the related capitalised development costs were transferred
to self-developed patents of the Group. The total expenditure on
research and development, including capitalised and expensed
costs for the year amounted to approximately RMB13,908,000
(2020: RMB7,137,000).
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iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life
using the straight-line method over the following periods: The
useful life of computer software is best estimated based on the
asset’s conditions and management'’s past experience. The useful
life of trademarks and self-developed patents is determined in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations.

Computer software 10 years
Trademarks 10 years
Self-developed patents 10-20 years

Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in cost of
sales and administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statements.

(a) Impairment tests for development costs not yet available
for use

The following table sets out the key assumptions for
impairment tests for development costs not yet available

for use:

20214 20204F

2021 2020

Y e SR R (%) Revenue annual growth rate (%) 5.00 5.00
TEEEF)(%) Budgeted gross profit (%) 15 15
RHAE R (%) Long term growth rate (%) 2.5 25
TR ARG IR ZE(%) Pre-tax discount rate (%) 16.8 18.2

2 —FFR
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RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

17 BREE ®

(@) ERFIE) A BY R R AR (E R
= (@)
EEEER THEESRE X
BEERRIEE:

o« YGEEEEED): BEE
A ELERNTIE
R

o TEEEF(%): BRELE
BB E R EIEE S
RARHIFERR

. FEEAMX REEE
BRNRAREMRE - H
BN EEENBEERR
STEBIRTRAS o WA
ZFxMmEEREERI
PR R 8 B
ZNESE

. R RER(%): IE3H
PONETRBEERRIINR 2R
ENMEFIERE L
EUTHEREPRETAR—

i&"
o FRATARIRE(%): KA RS
B S PRE a1 T B
SREVEFE A R
(b) FERIJFIEEINTE
BB N SN e D N

SREE ARBEEAREERER
ZRRHMEEERRVSIER E
28 WEBHIEMSEFAIEE
AR EREEBHE AU
[ElE%E°
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Impairment tests for development costs not yet available
for use (Continued)

Management has determined the values assigned to each
of the above key assumptions as follows:

° Revenue annual growth rate (%): Average annual
growth rate of comparable patents over the five-
year forecast period.

° Budgeted gross profit (%): Based on past
performance of comparable patents and
management’s expectations for the future.

° Annual capital expenditure: Expected cash costs
in the cash generating unit. This is based on
the historical experience of management, and
the planned refurbishment expenditure. No
incremental revenue or cost savings are assumed
in the value-in-use model as a result of this
expenditure.

° Long term growth rate (%): This is the weighted
average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows
beyond the budget period. The rates are consistent
with forecasts included in industry reports.

o Pre-tax discount rate (%): Reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant industries and the countries
in which they operate.

Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

The recoverable amount is significantly above the
carrying amount of the development costs. The directors
and management of the Company have considered
and assessed reasonably possible changes for the key
assumptions and have not identified any instances that
could cause the carrying amount of development costs to
exceed its recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

FHE L HEmE
hiz0)) (B &£ i) st
AR¥TT ARETIT AR¥TT
Leasehold Leased
lands properties
(Note (i) (Note (ii)) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
#R2020%F1H1H At 1 January 2020 2,525 3,756 6,281
TEER Depreciation charge (83) (1,048) (1,131)
#2020%12H31H At 31 December 2020 2,442 2,708 5,150
TeEER Depreciation charge (83) (1,048) (1,131)
#2021%F12831H At 31 December 2021 2,359 1,660 4,019
20214 20204
AR®T T AR¥TT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FMERZ Interest expense
G AT A) (included in finance cost) 165 231
BRIEEYERAAENRSY  Expense relating to short-term leases
GTATTEMAR) in respect of leased properties
(included in administrative
expenses) 640 109
HERS AR Total cash outflow for leases 1,880 1,296
bzt - Notes:

(1) FE A E E A P E FF (F 5 B 1 A9 (1) It represents the Group’s ownership interests on leasehold land held for
B BP9 FEAFA10Z50 own use in the PRC, with remaining lease term of between 10 and 50
IFo years.

(i) RAEFEE  RXEBGRESEHEPRAE (i) For both years, the Group leases offices and staff dormitories for its
RETEZ fra] LB S4909EE R operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5
#1254 (2020 © 1254F) » IWHERK years (2020: 1 to 5 years) without extension and termination options. In
AR I EEFEFE o R EEE TARE R 51 1 Al 1507 determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
HOIR = Z 0% » N EE[F fEFH S 4909 E Z il B period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
JE B3 B 1T EFIBIHIR ° period for which the contract is enforceable.

(iii) F2021F 12831 HAREARE BN B (iii) Right-of-use assets with a total carrying amount of RMB2,359,000 as at 31

2,359,0007T (20204 : A B #2,442,000
TT) B/ B E B IE 5 K E BN
B9 (H15229)

December 2021 (2020: RMBZ2,442,000) were pledged as collateral for the
Group'’s borrowings (Note 29).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

19 BAFEAEHMZEUY 19 FINANCE ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

mNEMEE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
20214 F2020E12H31 H » &EE K E As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group invested in 2.08%
R—ER AR EEFMAZNIE LT AR equity interests in an unlisted company incorporated in the PRC,
SHPEEEYRE B RA B 82.08%% Inner Mongolia Zhongneng Biotechnology Co., Ltd., which is not
O WIERHEE S » BAEEE A rIHa held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at
PV IEFE R RPEIEN I AT Et AR initial recognition to recognise in the financial assets at fair value
temEmiEm (AT ESARMEmEU through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) category. This is
) BB R E E D FERERR o L A SRR MR a strategic investment and the Group considers this classification
BEAEERABILEDEEARE to be more relevant.
BREE AT EFMR L AR RENER Information about the methods and assumptions used in
R HIEE37(c) © determining fair value is provided in Note 37(c).
AT ESFAEMEERENEHREE The financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in RMB.
MAREEHE

20 BEEIRHIEREUWE 20 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

20214 20204
ARETT AE¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
B S EEIE & EWE S Trade and bills receivables
—%=5h — third parties 112,705 90,092
A BEEWFUEREWEYE  Less: Allowance for credit losses
EEBEERE of trade and bills receivables (22,312) (15,494)
B EWHITELEWZIEBEE  Trade and bills receivables — net 90,393 74,598
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(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

20 BEFEWRHIEREWES 20 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

€=
RIFEEZ AN E S RRFIE R ERE An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables based on invoice
& FOBRRERE BERBR DT ! date (net of impairment losses) is as follows:
202145 20204
AR®T T AR¥TT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—%FR Within one year 55,594 58,051
—EmE One to two years 33,877 12,398
“E=F Two to three years 922 4,143
=FE Over three years = 6
90,393 74,598
20215 2020512831 H » E Z FEURR As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, trade and bills receivables
BN EWERUA RS E are denominated in RMB.
2021128311 » ##E (2020 : AR As at 31 December 2021, no trade receivables (2020:
#%36,100,0007T) & 57 EWFIEE K IBE RMB36,100,000) was pledged as security for the Group’s bank
AAREEIRTERER (I5E9) o borrowings (Note 29).
B RAE 5 TR K R E R E TG Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables are
BUREIBEE A MIEES7(b) set out in Note 37(b).
T —FFR
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RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

21 HthEULRIE R T8 (4 R IE

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

21 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

HAEWRRIE R TR RIERF IR T -

Details of other receivables and prepayments are as follows:

()

(i)

(iii)

&2
=

515

(=]
=)

E M B EBRIZE

Bl

Z SN RISE BEIMHER K Bie
BRI BRI H HIa% 1 7R (T 70 R
BT R A B R0 A5 85 &
o

BIRRT T EIEBEREITE
AMEAR G FELYREE
IR A B R #4813 3 5E IR B IR A
B (FBIRITHIE > 2R A R
#&78,000,0007T (2020% : AR
780000007T) B A B #51,0000000

(2020%F : A R #1,000,0007T) -
WARGREE L REE S
BFiRIE ° IS COVID- 19 IS 524 -
BEH20214F 12531 H 5 KB
B o BE F20214F 12531 H IFFE
FEST R 1B ErRAIN B 151,363,000
7T (20204 : A B HE7,492,0007T) °

1 82 China New Energy Limited

(1)

(i)

(i)

20214 20204
AREBTT ARET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
e U R B 7 =3B (AL ()) Amounts due from related parties
(note (1)) 279 356
RiITEE R AMEER Amounts due from directors related
BT BB NESS to the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
e Q=] Option Scheme 399 412
EITEE X AEZERMBEBIRAE  Amounts due from employees related
Bl E R to the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme 1,904 1,969
CERIRRLE RS K B RE R Prepayment for equipment of ethanol
2 IEE R EEMNIE fuel construction and alcoholic
(Bi&L i) beverage construction projects
(note (i) 28,510 109,156
KiIZE Tendering deposits = 220
FEUs% & - 728 (W a20ii)) Deposits receivables, net (note (jii) 70,550 71,508
Hfh 5% Others, net 2,574 2,788
104,216 186,409

The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand.

The amounts represent the prepayment for equipment
of ethanol fuel construction and alcoholic beverage
construction projects, which will be recognised as cost of
sales when the equipment is delivered.

Deposits receivables mainly represents up-front payments
for guaranteeing performance of the contracts to Inner
Mongolia Zhongneng Biological Technology Co., Ltd
of RMB78,000,000 (2020: RMB78,000,000) which
will be returned upon the project completes and to Xin
Jiang Botai Energy Co., Ltd of RMB1,000,000 (2020:
RMB1,000,000) which will be returned upon the project
initiates. Due to the COVID-19 epidemic impacts, the
project is not yet initiated as at 31 December 2021.
Impairment losses of approximately RMB1,363,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB7,492,000).
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(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

21 HhERFHIEKRTE(HRIE 21 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

€= (Continued)
H R IE R Fa I RUER L N S5t Other receivables and prepayments are denominated in:
f&:
202145 20204
AR®T T AR¥TT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 101,414 183,854
T GBP 2,769 2,555
BT HKD 33 _
104,216 186,409
HtpE B 2 R E R B & M s Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set out
37(b)° in Note 37(b).
22 EREEE 22 CONTRACT ASSETS
20214 20204
AR®BTT AR®F T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRSO FRN Contract assets relating to
EREE construction contracts 290,659 153,768
B EE R Less: Loss allowance (25,795) (9,927)
HEEEE—FE Contract assets — net 264,864 143,841
R2020F1 818 » EREENEEENA A As at 1 January 2020, contract assets amounted to approximately
R #118,108,0007T ° RMB118,108,000.
T —FFR
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RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

22 ERAEE®W 22 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
SREEFEZHEAEEWEESTRM The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
AHETEREBRRAENEY REAB consideration for work completed and not billed because the
RARER) AR EARE BB RERITMAE © rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The
EERENNARKRGER SRBEER contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
T B S EWEIE AN A EETER become unconditional. The Group classifies these contract assets
REEESEBRNEZESREEE as current because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
I WA EDEAREEE - operating cycle.

REE KSR EI0RNERBERER The Group typically agrees to a retention period of one year after
REFRBEE TR E AR —FENREB- the completion of construction project for 5% to 10% of the
HER A EEZAEZEA B ERNEUR contract value. This amount is included in contract assets until the
RAEBEN T ERESIERN U > HA BE end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this final
FIEFAGREE BEERZBHGEERES payment is conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing
1FeR2021F12H31H st AEBREE inspection. At 31 December 2021, the retention receivables (net
HEWRE S (OREEERE AARKE of loss allowance) included in the contract assets amounted to
35,617,0007T (20204 : AE#§10,717,000 RMB35,617,000 (2020: RMB10,717,000).
7T) ©
AEBEEEINTBERAERRIGERE Contract assets have increased as the Group has provided more
GRENHREERZAIREEZ RS R services ahead of the agreed payment schedules for service
EFHEEFIBEE I MIEE37(0) contracts. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in
Note 37(b).
23 F&8 23 INVENTORIES
202145 20204
AR®TT AR®EF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
E AR Raw materials 442 174
SRETHIERS Work-in-progress for standard parts 6,692 5,796
7,134 5,970

1 84 China New Energy Limited
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(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

24 SBITHBRIRE 24 BANK BALANCES AND CASH
20214 20204
ARETT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITAFHEERES Cash at bank and on hand 6,904 37,322
IRITHEERIZNF0.02%E0.30% (20204 : Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
002%ZE030%) IHIZHZEET S o 0.02% to 0.30% (2020: 0.02% to 0.30%).
RITRFEIREIRUATEEEHE - Cash at banks and on hand were denominated in:
20214 20204
ARETT ARB¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR (H1zE) RMB (Note) 5,827 26,978
BT HKD 1,029 10,246
TRfE GBP 32 60
E7T usD 2 32
Hth gk Other currencies 14 6
6,904 37,322
Hiat - Note:
TN BE M& 52 1 725 51 5 38 T A [ S B B FE 1547 Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations.
IRTT/AEER R EIRIRIR TR 2R E G Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged
EAEEININESUOE bank deposits are set out in Note 37(b).
“EC—FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

25 BHEARIE

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

25 TRADE PAYABLES

202145 20204

AR®BTT AR®EF T

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ENRIA Trade payables 106,911 85,685

R2021F K20205E12H31 H » 1R #52%
HA B2 5 FE (SR BERYBREE DA T

=2
>~

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis of trade
payables based on invoice date was as follows:

202145 20204

AR#TT AR¥TT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

DR —& less than one year 84,939 72,665
1Z24F 1-2 years 9,471 8,249
2FE3F 2-3 years 7,751 857
3FELE over 3 years 4,750 3,914
106,911 85,685

RNEBR20214F KR2020F 12831 BN E

ZRMNTEANUARE &

26 HfthfE{tRIR

The Group's trade payables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
were denominated in RMB.

26 OTHER PAYABLES

20214 2020
ARETFT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE(TIBERR VAT payable 53,594 60,371
HhpE(TIE & et & A Other payables and accruals 18,654 16,733
BRITE Wages payables 3,384 826
ETEEIE (I32) Amounts due to directors (Note) 382 306
76,014 78,236

gz Note:

JENTA BB~ BERICERIEE

1 86 China New Energy Limited

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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26 HthFEMIRIE @)
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iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

26 OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Other payables were denominated in:

20214 20204

AREFT AR®FIT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

— AR - RMB 73,190 73,356
—B7T — HKD 2,732 4,768
—E - GBP 92 112
76,014 78,236

27 ERA&&

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

20214 20204
AREBTT AREEFT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBRSAA RN Contract liabilities relating to
aE&E construction contracts 21,823 20,226

B EE RS MInm A EBUEIRE
AReRFrAMEESREAR BEE
ARG REEZ W aBBREER
Al REE R IFERRERSTE
B EX15% E30% 2 & R R T 1F
FAUARTINEN15% 2 30% 2 # <& © 22020
FIAIE EREENZBEA/ARE
15,140,0007 °

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity
commences, this gives to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives a
15%-30% deposit on acceptance of construction services orders
and 15%-30% deposit before construction work commences. As
at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
RMB15,140,000.

B —FFR
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RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

27 SRIEE® 27
TRETNRE 20214 K2020412831
HIEEERRNELEE SR AERR
a8 U B E E 2021 8 52020
F12R31HILEEEBITHNRANSES

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities and how much relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in the year ended 31 December

REAIUS TR B8 2021 and 2020.
20214 20204
AR#TT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
REY A G R EEGERN Revenue recognised that was included
[SrE in the contract liabilities balance
at the beginning of the year 12,863 15,140

28 RIERIBEBE QA&

() EEREBEREE

28

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(i) Deferred tax assets

RERRIBEEDMU T - The analysis of deferred tax assets is as follows:
20214 20204
AR®TT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
RIEFRIE S E - Deferred tax assets:
—BRBRI2ER % — to be recovered after more than
el 12 months 8,567 4,904
— #1218 B AUk =] — to be recovered within 12 months 1,269 1,575
9,836 6,479

1 88 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

28 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)
@) IRIERIBEE (& (i) Deferred tax assets (Continued)
ISR TE S EEEE T - The movements on the deferred tax are as follows:

20214 20204
AREFT AR®FIT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
RER At beginning of the year 6,479 4,327
st AT Credited to profit or loss 3,299 2,129

SFAEMEEWE Credited to other comprehensive
income 58 23
RER At end of the year 9,836 6,479

B E2021F 522020125318 1E
FENELEREEEZS (LK
st RE—RF R A& N RYAEER

The movements in deferred tax assets for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax

HEEH) w0 jurisdiction, are as follows:
BATE
ST AHA
EEREE  REEER BREBA HE 2EKE st
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETET
Bad debt Deferred
provision Accruals income Lease FVTOCI Total
BEREEE Deferred tax assets RMBOOO ~ RMBO00O0 ~ RMBO00O ~ RMB000  RMB'0OO0  RMB00O
1202061 81H At 1 January 2020 2,569 1,727 - 31 - 4,327
FABE Credited to
profit or loss 2335 (580) 360 14 23 2152
12020 At 31 December 2020
12831H 4904 1,147 360 45 23 6,479
R20215181H At 1 January 2021 4904 1,147 - 45 23 6,479
FABE Credited to profit or loss 3,663 - (360) (4) 58 3,357
12021 At 31 December 2021
12H31H 8,567 1,147 - 41 81 9,836
“EC—FFR
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(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

28 BRILEMBEEE &BFE@w 28 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)
(i) EEREERE (i)  Deferred tax liabilities
B E2021F 2020512831 H 1E The movements in deferred tax liabilities for the years
FENRLEREBESRES (X ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, without taking into
SR E—RFE R AR AR ER consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
HEEH) TN jurisdiction, are as follows:
BATE
=t AE At
2ERE
AREBTT
FVTOCI
RIERIEAE Deferred tax liability RMB’000
20201811 At 1 January 2020 2
REMEmEE 0k Charged to other
comprehensive income (2)
1220205 K2021F12831H At 31 December 2020 and 2021 -
(iii) MIEESIE (iii)  Tax losses
202145 20204
AR®TT AR¥TT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
W R BRI I & B Unused tax losses for which
RARFRRIBEIE no deferred tax asset has
been recognised 5,682 2,588
AR ERSR Temporary differences calculated
MRESTENEREE at applicable enterprise
income tax rate 1,421 647

1 90 China New Energy Limited
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(iii)

(iv)

RSB BERBIN FIESEEMBARETT)

REMIEEE, &BE®

mmEsiE (&8

REEAMRIEEIETS AL FEIRY
MEBAREL MZARNRAR
R A B BEEE AL FEERTRURA o

iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

28 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)

(iii)

Tax losses (Continued)

The unused tax losses were incurred by a subsidiary
located in the PRC that is not likely to generate taxable
income in the foreseeable future. Their respective expiry

HEBEmEARIWT- dates are as follows.
202145 20204
AR®T T AR¥TT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
20224 2022 29 29
20234 2023 1,281 1,281
20244 2024 1,278 1,278
20254 2025 3,094 -
5,682 2,588
KRB GRFESE (ivy  Unrecognised temporary differences

20214 20204
AR#ETT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

BURFESRIERRIBE S Temporary difference relating to

N B AR R E BRI investments in subsidiaries for
BB BFE%E - which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised:

—RDBEC B — Undistributed earnings 156,197 147,053

1R20214F K% 2020512831 H »
MRTREREEEBTRT
SR IEARAE (HERE
A7) BERDEEF D& H
# AR 15156,197,0007c 2 A R 5
147,053,0007T * fE{EARR B 32
AZAR RN FERINM - BRINE
I 72 SR 7 71 (B30 S hE SR AERR
BaE RER TR EHIESR
by B AT 0 IR - 0 B TR
AEIH] BRI IkZ F it o

Zhongke Tianyuan and Guangdong Boluo Tianyuan
Jiuneng High Technology Engineering Co Ltd (“Boluo
Tianyuan”) have undistributed earnings amounting in
aggregate to RMB156,197,000 and RMB147,053,000
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively, which,
if paid out as dividends, would be subject to tax in the
hands of the shareholder. An assessable temporary
difference exists, but no deferred tax liability has been
recognised as the parent entity is able to control the timing
of distributions from the subsidiaries and is not expected to
distribute these profits in the foreseeable future.

—ECEFR
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29 SRITE™

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 BANK BORROWINGS

20214 20204
ARETT N
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ENHA Current

—BiKH — Secured 21,520 11,172
— KR — Unsecured 2,843 =
24,363 11,712

JEENHA Non-Current
—BiKH — Secured 7,500 9,500
31,863 20,672

(@)

1120214 2020512431 H » &
EEFTARITEFIGUARES
&e

REEK2021F %2020F 1248
BIHNERFRITEMARE

(@)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the Group’s
bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

The Group's secured bank borrowings as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 of RMB29,020,000 and RMBZ20,672,000

29,020,0007t K& A R #20,672,000 respectively were secured by the following.
ToH NS IE IR IF

20214 20204
AR®T T AR®EFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
IEN VY Property, plant and equipment 1,106 1,239
EREEE Right-of-use assets 2,359 2,442
B 5 EW A Trade receivables = 36,100
3,465 39,781

PREEIRIEIN > 52202112831
B > RIT AR A R #393,00070H
AT B A B EEIREH B
(R

120214 K2020FE12H31H > /N
T EERIES 9 54.62% R
4.72%°

1 92 China New Energy Limited

In addition to pledge of assets, bank borrowings of
RMB393,000 as at 31 December 2021 were guaranteed
by Mr. Jiang Xinchun, the general manager of the
Company’s subsidiary.

The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 were 4.62% and 4.72%
respectively.
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29 IRITER @

©  HRREREENRERITEL
AEX RITERNREEREE
1R202145 520205 12B31H A
FEHEE

(d) R20214F 202091285318 » &K
EEREENRTERIT !

iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

(c)

(d)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximated
their fair values as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 as the
impact of discounting borrowings with fixed interest rates
was not significant.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s bank
borrowings were repayable as follows:

202145 20204
AR®TT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
1R Within 1 year 24,363 11,172
15225 Between 1 and 2 years 7,500 2,000
PESD = Between 2 and 5 years — 7,500
31,863 20,672
30 RIEUA 30 DEFERRED INCOME

20214 20204
AR®BTT ARH¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

BB EENETEE Government grants relating to
intangible assets - 2,400
B mBER D Less: Current portion = -
JERENEL Non-current portion = 2,400

BN RRENTL L 3% R ER AR B B UeEt
A BAFHREEE - EIEE e L R34
ZE AR AR B EN RS I EAER
IR BEAABIEERm-

The government grants were subsidies received from local
governments for development of ester fuel project. The amounts
will be amortized to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the expected useful lives of the related assets when the project
completes and delivers.

B —FFR
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31 AR ERE 31 CONVERTIBLE NOTES

202145 20204

AREETT ARETTT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

FEER Opening balance = 11,847
BRI Converted to shares = (10,385)
NEEED) Change in fair value — (1,462)
FRAERR Closing balance - -

AT RIF2019F2H8H 52019528
158 #175,250,00078 7T, 526,250,000/ 7T
BY12% AR SRR Z E BN AR T
HAEREB LHRARKASEIATER
I NS BERNEITHRRI2ERERER-
FR2019% 128 » AR BRI EEA LB
FER3ME A - AR AR A o AR (E
AERIRRH04818 7T Al FREEIL
EITAHII BT BEZF
FEAEMZBREBATHEE  AS
DB B LUE ST BB R PR ERR
MRmEE-

AR BBERRADNTETLRZH DR
mBE HHERZEFRBEUTATNI
SEELUMIERET AN T A
SRANTETR  HERYGESER
BEARAFES AR Bt BRA
NBREEB AR D8 - BREE AR
A EFABTNERTENAERS
PUAST LR AR o

12202078 158 > PR R IR E A HE
Ha7523,924, 50288 R 15

1 94 China New Energy Limited

The Company issued 12% convertible notes for HK$5,250,000
and HK$6,250,000 on 8 February 2019 and 15 February 2019
respectively. The notes were convertible into ordinary shares of the
Company upon the Company obtaining the approval for listing in
Hong Kong, or repayable at 12 months following the respective
issue dates. The Company extended in December 2019 the
termination date of the notes by 3 months with other terms
unchanged. The conversion price was HK$0.481 per conversion
share subject to adjustments for consolidation or sub-division, in
the event of which, the conversion price in force immediately prior
thereto shall be adjusted by multiplying it by the revised nominal
amount and dividing the result by the former nominal amount.

The convertible notes and embedded derivative were classified
entirely as liabilities because they were issued in a currency other
than the functional currency of the Company. As the instrument
contained an embedded derivative, it had been designated at fair
value through profit or loss on initial recognition and as such the
embedded conversion feature was not separated. All transaction
costs related to financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed as incurred.

On 15 July 2020, the convertible notes were fully converted into
23,924,502 shares.
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32 HE&R

32 LEASE LIABILITIES

20214 20204F
AREBTT AR®EFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEHEEaE Lease liabilities payable:
—FR Within one year 1,186 1,075
—FU EERBEREZ Within a period of more than one year
R but not exceeding two years 746 1,186
MEN LERNBBERFZ Within a period of more than two
FARIA years but not exceeding five years = 746
1,932 3,007
B ORBBEIE N Less: Amount due for settlement
1218 B R EIERAS (89 within 12 months shown
FIE under current liabilities (1,186) (1,075)
JEREIEEIE NI Amount due for settlement
128 B %R BR4E 1Y after 12 months shown under
TIE non-current liabilities 746 1,932

BRENESaEZINETEESETF
K #653% (20204F : 653%) ©

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease
liabilities was 6.53% (2020: 6.53%).

33 Bx& 33 SHARE CAPITAL
LEREE f& s B&7s
FoEEE AR®ETIT
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital Share capital
GBP’000 RMB’000
ERE - Authorized:
1120204 522021 5 As at 31 December 2020 and
12H31H 2021 40,000,000,000 10,000 N/A- 5 FB
BRTIEHRE : Issued and fully paid:
20201 81H At 1 January 2020 444 447 541 111 1,444
BLTRRAD (B5E0)) Issuance of shares (note (i) 82,600,000 21 182
AR ZEE AR Convertible notes converted to
(Coz100), shares (note (i) 23,924,502 5 52
TEEXRARMRZEERE  Exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
BeHESTEI (HaE i) Option Scheme (note (i) 38,786,855 10 84
120204 522021 4 At 31 December 2020
12H31H and 2021 589,758,898 147 1,762
(1) FR20205E 78 15H » 52\ E]15 =% (i) On 15 July 2020, the Company issued 82,600,000
0.98B7THIEIS 37782,600,0008% ordinary shares each at a price of HKDO.98 per share.
ZiER
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RSB BB FTEEERE A ARETT)

33 ikZEx w

(i)

(i)

BT LI IFTH%EE 2 S 202075
15H > KRR EE LT L
b » PR R B 112 5 RO A81E
TOHVIEIE 8814 7323,924, 50248 &
B

JR20174E10517H » KX EE 57K
EEHEERERIESHI=RTHE
TIRIE A L\ Bl AR 1 st 242 17
B1E ((BRA % ERIER T
2)) M 5453930050814 FE I
O FEBERSRESIZEGR
1L5@ BB EZ BN 1A
EZE A T B
BI1EE - [T127,633, 16717 FE IR 1717
FEFER - FR2HP927,633, 16715 FE R
O G AR 3 = B 4F
BITIE B THI11,667,34117 fE R
BRI B =502 — R
R EBE—RE _HFEH
Ei=522—> el =FATT
1& 0 JR20204F9/5 23 H » 38,786,855
R BB B R0, 015850918
BT FPEERERES

1 96 China New Energy Limited

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

33 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(i)

(i)

As disclosed on Note 31, on 15 July 2020, upon the
listing of the shares of the Company in Hong Kong, the
convertible notes were converted to 23,924,502 ordinary
Shares each at a price of HKDO.481 per share.

On 17 October 2017, the Group granted share options
under the share option scheme of the Company for the
long-term incentive of directors and senior employees
of the Group (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”).
An aggregate of 39,300,508 options were granted fo
allow directors and senior employees to acquire ordinary
shares at a price of 1.5 pence per share subject to
vesting conditions under these schemes while there are
27,633,167 options being accepted. The 27,633,167
of the share options granted may be exercised after
the third anniversary of the grant date. The remaining
11,667,341 share options vest as to one third on the date
of grant and an additional one third on each of the first
and second anniversaries of the date of grant and are
exercisable for a period of three years. On 23 September
2020, 38,786,855 ordinary shares have been exercised
by the directors and senior employees each at a price of
GBPO0.015 per share.
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34 RESERVES

BATE
SHAHf
PLr] 2EWEH
HiE Shg EHEE
RDER Al EERE IR BERHE 1] RERT o JEERER @t
Hita) Hstt) i) i) e i
Foreign Financial
Share-based currency assets Non-
Share  Combination Statutory payment translation at FVTOCI Retained controlling
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves reserves eamings Total interests Total
note (a) note (b) note(c) note (d) note (&) note (f)
R2020F181AKER Balance at 1 January 2020 64,246 (33,156) 1982% 1017 23713 13 53327 128,986 - 128,986
FRER Profit for the year - - - - - - 44,364 44,364 - 44,364
H2ERE Other comprehensive loss = = - - 145 (145) - - - -
BETETHE Transfer to statutory reserves - - 8108 = = = (8,108) - - -
DB AERRNRRR Share-based payment expenses - - - 948 - - - %8 - %8
BaRMA Issuance of shares 72,965 - - - - - = 72,965 = 72,965
BIRHEERERE Transaction costs attributable to
issue of shares (21,700) - - - = = = (21,700) - (21,700)
ARREEERARN Convertible notes transfer to shares 10333 - - - - - - 10333 - 10333
IEERAREER Exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
R Option Scheme 6917 = = (1,965) = = - 4952 - 4952
14202012831 HBYAEER Balance at 31 December 2020 132761 (33,156) 27934 - 23858 (132) 89,583 240,348 - 240,348
1#2021518 1 BREERR Balance at 1 January 2021 132761 (33,156) 27934 - 23858 (132) 89,583 240,348 - 240,348
FREF Profit for the year - - - - - - 8421 8421 (626) 7,79
Hih2ESR Other comprehensive loss - - - - (847) (324) - (1,171) - (1,171)
BETITRE Transfer to statutory reserves - - 1,081 = = = (1,081) = = =
WiEE—TEME/AR (H5835)  Acquisition of a subsidiary
(Note 35) - - - - - - - - 41 41
#2021512831HAEER Balance at 31 December 2021 132761 (33,156) 29,015 - 23011 (456) 96,923 248,098 (185) 247913
(a) RKMHiEE (@  Share premium
BIOIRMOPTEENRS REN B Share premium arising from the issue of shares can be
RIGINESHENE R E A utilised in increasing paid-in capital as approved by the
directors.
(b) BHEE (b)  Combination reserves

GHEFIEFER S HERR
AERWEREANEEFER
BERESEBHREREZRER

=l

Combination reserve represents the differences between
the nominal amount of net assets of the combining entities
under common control at the date on which they were
acquired by the Group and the nominal amount of the
consideration for the acquisition.

——_
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34 #E®

(c)

(d)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

34 RESERVES (continued)

EEREE (c)  Statutory reserves
RIEAE B PR FE AL 2 Y According to the rules and regulations applicable to the
BRAEERENRALERN e Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, when
FRIRAH R ZEM B ARE distributing net profits of each year, these subsidiaries
BAERBEMIRAN ERIEEE are required to transfer an amount of their net profits as
BEEAEHE BEEZELEHE reported in their statutory accounts to statutory reserves
ZEEFMEAR50% % L o 1R until the accumulated balance of such reserves reaches
YE ARG BEIRHEN 50% of their registered capital. Depending on the nature,
NEINREEIEI AL 5D the statutory reserves can be used to set off accumulated
IKTFTAEE - losses of the subsidiaries or distribute to the owners in
form of bonus issue.
LU A ER SRR (d)  Share-based payment reserves
DR BRI A B The share-based payments reserves are used to recognise
6 B T TERITREABARE the grant date fair value of options issued to employees but
FIRH AR AT E. not exercised.
R2020E9H 231 ' EE M= k(R On 23 September 2020, the directors and senior
B ER0015HEIENBIE TR employees exercised the share options of the Company for
A EI F38,786,3550% A% 15 HI BE 38,786,855 shares, at a price of GBP0.015 per share. The
BE-BFRTHNERERETES rest of options had been forfeited due to the resignation of
FHEMH2 U o certain employees.
DUR 85 R 4R 51835 B B BB AR A Set out below are summaries of options granted under the
BE . plan:
202145 20204
fERc SR EREHE
2021 2020
Number of Number of
options options
=] At beginning of the year = 39,300,508
FRITE Exercised during the year = (38,786,855)
FR I Forfeited during the year = (513,653)
RER At end of the year = -

1 98 China New Energy Limited
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34 #E®

(d)

(e)

()

HURn AERN TR EE (@)
PR i FE IR 1EBY 22T 18

BN H BN AT EER
MR- E R
FE ZEREtARBRAN N
B E2020F 12831 HIEFE 2 5

AR E W R NS B LRRS 23
BB H R st AR B9 LA
B B ERNIREERSARE
461,0007T °
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34 RESERVES (continued)

(d)

(e)

U]

Share-based payment reserves (Continued)
Fair value of options granted

The fair value of the options at grant date was calculated
using the Black Scholes option pricing mode, with this
amount to be charged over the vesting period. The share-
based payment charge included within expense in the
consolidated income statements and in the share-based
payment reserves in equity was RMB461,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Foreign currency translation reserves

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign
operations are recognised in other comprehensive
income as described in Note 3 and accumulated in a
separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount
is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is
disposed of.

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserves

The Group has elected to recognise changes in the
fair value of investments in equity securities in other
comprehensive income. These changes are accumulated
within the financial assets at FVTOCI reserves within
equity. The Group transfers amounts from this reserve to
retained earnings when the relevant equity securities are
derecognised.

—FFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 FEMBARINER 35 LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
DU AFR20214 52202012831 B = The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December
BB AR - 2021 and 2020:
AL/ B¥TR 12021%128318 142020%128318
b BiHERAH &S HREr FEERGRE FEEEERE TTEBROEHE
Attributable equity  Attributable equity
Place and date of interest of the Group  interest of the Group
incorporation/ Registered Issued and fully ~ as at 31 December  as at 31 December  Principal activities and

Company name establishment capital paid capital 2021 2020 place of operation

BREE .

Directly owned:

BRORRTHAR HE 10955,529% 71 10955,529% 7% 100% 100%  ReERMZEEERGRRS
BEAE (MBEXT) 200659828 it

Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan The PRC, USD 10,955,529 USD 10,955,529 100% 100%  Provision of ethanol production system
New Energy Science 2 September 2006 technology integrated services in
and Technology Co Lid the PRC
(‘Zhongke Tanyuan”)

R

Incirectly owned:

EREEETNATES R AEB5000000  ARH5,0000007 100% 100%  PHEREEENERRREER
RITEERAE 1998498308 NG
(1BZx7))

Guangdong Boluo Tianyuan ~ The PRC, RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Fabrication and manufacture of
Jiuneng High Technology 30 September 1998 equipment in accordance with
Engineering Co Lid project requirements and designs
(“Boluo Tanyuan”) inthe PRC

BNEBREERAT DB 018E8AE AREL000000w  ARH1,000,0007 51% - RTRERERGEERE

(=)
Guangzhou Hydrogen Power  The PRC, RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 51% - Provision of technology development
Technology Co., Lid. 8 August 2018 (Note) senvices in the PRC

MIEE © 20201282 AEE (EAEH) H1— Note: On 2 December 2020, the Group as a purchaser entered into sale
CEIE= (EAER) TUSEBER and purchase agreement, and the supplemental agreement dated 14
H0020fE 128148 %{ﬁ?ﬁﬁtﬁ/%’:‘uuy,ﬂ% Defember 2Q20,lwith an inldependent third party as the vendor to acquire
e ASIB1%HE s ES 51% of equity interests in Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology
E”@@Jﬂﬁﬁ_ﬁﬁéjmmy%\””‘” = Co., Ltd. at a total consideration of RMB544,000. The acquisition was
AE5544,0007T - Z B R IR E 1202141 completed on 4 January 2021, which is also the acquisition date for
B48 A g st B Wi B Take accounting purpose.

= Za

36 EXERERE 36 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

FEERBEEEEN UREFRAEENE
BRI ARSI U B R LS WEBEIE
BB RERGRSER ARNRAR
o AEEZBIRRIRE P FEERT

o

FEBNBEAEREEES BT el
RITREM (5E29) RA AT R AL
#m (BEEETRE  REEF REM
&) ©

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank borrowings (Note 29), and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, retained earnings
and other reserves.

2 OO China New Energy Limited
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BEXREEE® 36 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

RABIEECHERERGEHE - EAILL The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly.
BERN—IR EFEEEEAMEAR As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
ZERERIFTMTEHNRR - RIEEEE and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
0 REBBZEEZIIRE BITHR recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
KRB THERNERREEH LT overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
HERBE AL REETAZHINE share issue and the issue of new debt or the redemption of
RSN ERER ANV ES AN B2 3K o By 22021 5 K¢ existing debt. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
202012831 HIEFE  BEAEEREZE capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,

BRI B IR E)

policies or process for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

ERMTH 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) E=MIANDE (@  Category of financial instruments
20214 20204
ARETT AE®FIT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMBEE Financial assets
B IE R A ST E R Financial assets at amortised cost
TREE
B S WA Trade and bills receivables
N E 90,393 74,598
HAthrE W =Ia Other receivables 75,706 77,253
IRITAE R RIRE Bank balances and cash 6,904 37,322
BT EFAHMEZE Financial assets at FVTOCI
W &R E E 4,463 4,845
177,466 194,018
EREE Financial liabilities
G IE A ST E B Financial liabilities at amortised cost
BREEE
B 5 R E M EIRRIE Trade and other payables
(R EIEEMIGER) (excluding VAT payable) 129,331 103,550
HEeal Lease liabilities 1,932 3,007
SRITRERR Bank borrowings 31,863 20,672
163,126 127,229
“EC—FFR
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(b) MBEREEBRRKRER

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

SEENFESRTEGEES
JE WUk T e FE U 2248 ~ ELAth U
FIB R RIRSEEY) BIRE
IRITEFBRAFEFAEMS
ANRNEREE 5 REM
FERIBE HESE RITERR

MR ER -ZESm T A
BINENS BN BEmT

S 8RR 2 @}EFE%J—LB
RN EER
/)IL@JQ?EHB””OBEFTE_EE\ZTI

(»n:

Il E’\J

RN T -EEEEERE
R FRE > DR FRKRF LA

B E 2 RIE T

45 3 %

Ei&m

BRI ERREER %‘E]‘t

FELUBRISEE B ERYTh
ENEHTEENERE-

FERETEETEEE
RZUAEEEIRHITY

K5t

REB7
A

RESHERGEE - NEBEERK
BEXEARMEE (R =1
(T%&7T)) RABTHINERZHNE

B3

REE B RE PHEIINERER
% 0 AT » AEEEIREBEERE K
R WA A BERE BT
BEAEKREPS

2 02 China New Energy Limited

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposits, financial assets at
FVTOCI, trade and other payables, lease liabilities, bank
borrowings and convertible notes. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with the financial instruments include market
risks (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant

group entity.

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of
transactions denominated and settled in RMB, which is
the functional currency of the entities in the Group. The
Group was exposed to currency risk arising from foreign
currency transactions, primarily with respect to Great
Britain Pound (“GBP”), United States Dollar (“USD”) and
HKD.

The Group has not hedged its foreign exchange rate
risk exposure. However, management of the Group
monitors currency risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant currency risk exposure should the need arise.
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37 EMITH® 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HHEEAMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

HE B (2 Market risk (Continued)

E%RE (E) Currency risk (Continued)

REGEHBRIRBE & The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
BLSMESHENEBEERE denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
BEMNIREEWDT the respective dates of consolidated statement of financial

position are as follows:

20214 20204
ARETT AR¥FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
g GBP
—H A EWFIE — Other receivables 2,769 2555
—IR{TAER IR E — Bank balances and cash 32 60
—HAENFIA — Other payables 92 112
ET usD
—IR{TAER IR E — Bank balances and cash 2 32
BT HKD
—IR1THE R MIRE — Bank balances and cash 1,029 10,246
—H AW FE — Other receivables 33 =
—HENRIE — Other payables 2,732 4,768
“EC—FFR
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37 EMT AR w

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) HBEEMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
BB (2 Market risk (Continued)
E%RE (8) Currency risk (Continued)
TERIRA R D HAER N The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
EN5%BIBURLE DT - BUREE 24T change in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
EEELUMESHENEIIER > The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency
WRERFRAEINEERES) denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
5% o YN R A R IR IAERA & 1 F at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
8Bz (E5% > QI EEHRRE Should RMB  strengthened/weakened by 5% against the
AR AT relevant currencies, the effect on post-tax profit for the

years would be as follows:

PREG BRI, CRiL) EEh
2020 20194
AREBTT AR®EFT
Change of post-tax profit
increase/(decrease)
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHERTEFE RMB against GBP:
FHES% Strengthened by 5% (115) (105)
B2 (5% Weakened by 5% 115 105
AEERET: RMB against USD:
FHES% Strengthened by 5% = (1)
B2 {85% Weakened by 5% - 1
AEBERET RMB against Hong Kong dollar
(F87t)) ¢ (“HKD"):

FHES% Strengthened by 5% 71 (233)
B2 1E5% Weakened by 5% (71) 233
R EFE R b Fair value interest rate risk

FEENTENRRABRKRBEEE
MERBER > S AER@EAF
BFRE R - A5 B BB R T
RSy ap SRR IEIA
=48,

o=

AEE HARETEAFREHLL
HPEFRERE

2 Oll- China New Energy Limited

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings
with fixed rates, which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors trend of
interest rate and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk
exposure.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BEEREEEEREE (B) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EEE MG R B EFFEG Credit risk and impairment assessment
rEEHRAESREE -BS The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
FE U RN IE K FEWR 4% ~ EAEUR contract assets, trade and bills receivables, other
MIE RIS RIRE U R ER receivables, bank balances and cash and pledged
HIRITERBERNEERRK B bank deposits. The carrying amounts of trade and
e IE R FEUR 24 ~ g bills receivables, other receivables, bank balances and
WERIB N IRITAE R IR UK E cash and pledged bank deposits represent the Group’s
IR ITERNREEARNER maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
MEMBEMSNRAEER assets. The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
Fo MR AERTMEEM the Group's financial assets and contract assets, which are
SREE CBETTEPEERE subject to ECL assessment:
) BEE R
12(8R =2 A
NEEETHR TEHEERSE AREAR(E
ARET
Internal 12-month Gross
20214 Kzt credit or carrying
2021 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB’000
B AETEA  Financial assets at
TREE amortised costs
RITEEGR AR E Bank balances and cash 24 FNi): 128 B T8 HA 6,904
N/A EEHHE
12-month-ECL
W EE Bills receivables 20 (M &) 128 B Y8 5B 2,080
(note i) EEBE
12-month-ECL
B S EWTIE Trade receivables 20 (Bff5Ei) 2 HATAHA 110,625
(note i) =EE51E
Lifetime ECL
EREE Contract assets 22 (Msi) 2 HATALA 290,659
(note i) B3t
Lifetime ECL
HAhpE WIS Other receivables 21 (Fffsii) 1218 A 7a4H 84,944

(note ii) EEK518
12-month-ECL

_E_—FEFR
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37

(b) MBEREEBRRER (&

15 B Jm 2 R B 1B 5P 1 (4

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

12{8F s 25
NEEETHR TEEEEEE AREAR(E
AREFT
Internal 12-month Gross
20205 Kzt credit or carrying
2020 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB'000
RS AStER  Financial assets at
EMEE amortised costs
RITEEGR RIRE Bank balances and cash 24 NEA 128 B 84 37,322
N/A FEEE
12-month-ECL
W ZE Bills receivables 20 (ED) 1218 B T85R 2,600
(note 1) 8B
12-month-ECL
B S WIS Trade receivables 20 (35t 2 HATEH 87,492
(note 1) EEEHE
Lifetime ECL
BREBEE Contract assets 22 (&) 2 HATEHA 153,768
(note i) E8H18
Lifetime ECL
Hh e EIE Other receivables 21 (Bf=Eii) 1218 B 7858 84,766
(note i) 818
12-month-ECL

Mzt - Notes:

) TS EWIE N B EIE R S (i) For trade receivables, bills receivables and contract assets,
[RIEET 5 » 25 2 E e EE the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to
IR EZER BIOTHIE 412 measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for items
IR BE 185 SRR that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
1 o BRI TIE R R ES (8 impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these
FERET TR (EFTHE) S REE[E iterms by past due status.

HIgREEZEEANFEHEE
iz
(i) BEITASEEREERE KE (ii) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the

ERE s BTt s B R
VRSB A NG o 72
20214 R 20204F 12531 H » 5% %
BRI AR B EIE S o

2 06 China New Energy Limited

Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition. As at 31
December 2021 and 2020, these balances are either not past
due or does not have fixed repayment.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables

The credit risk on other receivables is also limited because
of the historical settlement record, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

Bank balances and cash and pleaged bank deposits

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are international
banks and state-owned banks with good reputation.

Bills receivables

The credit risk associated with bills receivables, which
are all bank acceptance drafts, is limited because the
accepting bank will cash the bills unconditionally when the
Group presents these bills on due dates.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
contract assets and trade receivables.

—ECEFR
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) HHEEMEEEEREER (E (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
1EE R R B EFFE () Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
ESEKFHIEREREE (& Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
AEtEEAEERR B5EW To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
MERGEEENDRERREE and contract assets have been grouped based on shared
RS RE AR D E & credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The
BENARHAENTREIREARR contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
W BB [EIFE AL & [EIRY B 5 e IR have substantially the same risk characteristics as the
EAEBABUIERE R A trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
It NEERR A B S ERGEIERN Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss
BB EXASREERIEEXEN rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation
BIERLUE of the loss rates for contract assets.
AR IEET DRI ER S EES The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
{E7< B HARI36(E B BB IHE 2 of sales over a period of 36 months prior to each balance
IR U EZ B AKEN sheet date respectively, and the corresponding historical
IEEESLEERE  EL AR credit losses experienced within this period. The historical
THETRBU R M ER R ES loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
FEWFIBSE N R B B R =B looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
BRI AIREEER the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
REEBBREEIRS £0EE Analysis of trade and bills receivables and contract assets
SREWGERIE K FEW 3R LU K & ) by categories based on method of provision for credit loss
BEZDN allowance
RMB’000
ARETIT
20214 20205
2021 2020
IREEE EEBRRE IREAEE FEBREE
Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance
S8 Wfln  SE  HA BEE S8 HAW 2B WAl BEE
Proportion Proportion Carrying Proportion Proportion Carrying
Category 5 Amount (%) Amount (%) amount Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
Provision on individual basis (BRI E# R
~ Trade and bills receivables —BZEWABRENZE 45,655 11 (13,864) 304 31,791 37,840 16 (4,745) 125 33,095
- Contract assets —-BRBEE 45,751 11 (6,955) 15.2 38,796 42,384 17 (3,527) 83 383857
Provision on portfolio basis M AEE R
- Trade and bills receivables —EZEBFIERENZE 67,050 17 (8,448) 126 58,602 52,252 21 (10,749) 206 41,503
- Contract assets —-BREE 244,908 61 (18,840) 77 226,068 111,384 46 (6,400) 5.7 104,984
Total @it 403,364 100 48107 o3BT 23860 00 @542 o 21843

2 08 China New Energy Limited
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

HUTEHBE— -
P IR R AT

1=} >

B 5 IR IEAR A

BET

B Z EWRIE6 KR S [F

HE3 S

H ZEWRIE KR 5 F

BEA R

8 Z EWRIEIOR &

FE&EE6°

MHEEKREEEEREE (B (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EEEERBEFG (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

EBZEKFIEREREE () Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

s BEEEEtE S EnEE Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract

SEWEIE - EREENRERE assets by categories based on method of provision for

EZ O @@ credit loss allowance (Continued)

@) ER BEESHREE IR 0) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
BENESEREIERS for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
BEEZ D individual basis:

RMB’'000
AR IT
2021 FHiREEER
2021 Closing Balance

IREME EEGRRE EEA(%) BERE

Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for

Item 15H amount allowance (%) provision
Trade receivables 1 B S RElIE] 1,732 (1,732) 100.0% Note Ffi3E (i)
Trade receivables 2 B 5 EEaE2 8 (8) 100.0%  Note FfizE (i)
Trade receivables 3* B 5 EWFaE3 35,351 (3,560) 10.1%  Note 3% (iii)
Trade receivables 4* B AW FIEs* 2,384 (2,384) 100.0%  Note FftzE (i)
Trade receivables 5 B REEIED 1,617 (1,617) 100.0%  Note FffzE (i)
Trade receivables 6* B S EWFEe 30 (30) 100.0%  Note i3 (ii)
Trade receivables 7 B 5 a7 2,506 (2,506) 100.0% Note Ffiz¥ (i)
Trade receivables 8 B 5 EFIaEs 89 (89) 100.0%  Note FfizE (i)
Trade receivables 9 B 5 W IR 980 (980) 100.0% Note Fffz¥ (i)
Trade receivables 10* &5 FEWFIAEL0* 958 (958) 100.0%  Note Bzt (i)
Contract assets 1* BREEL 43,140 (4,344) 10.1%  Note HizE (i)
Contract assets 2 BREE2 1 (1) 100.0%  Note i3 (ii)
Contract assets 3* BREE3" 120 (120) 100.0%  Note FfizE (i)
Contract assets 4* BREES 449 (449) 100.0% Note FfzE (i)
Contract assets 5 BREES 440 (440) 100.0%  Note FftzE (i)
Contract assets 6* SREE6 700 (700) 100.0%  Note i3 (ii)
Contract assets 7* BREET 901 (901) 100.0%  Note [ff3% (ii)

91,406 (20,819)

The following pairs represent each of the same party.

Trade receivables 3 and contract assets 1;

Trade receivables 4 and contract assets 7;

Trade receivables 6 and contract assets 3;

Trade receivables 9 and contract assets 4; and

Trade receivables 10 and contract assets 6.

——_

—_=—
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(b) MBEREEBRRER (&

15 B Jm 2 R B 1B 5P 1 (4
EZBNNERSFEE (B)

RIEEEBREHEHE AN EE
ZREWRIE BB RERERE
EZ D (@

0] BER B 2R EEREIR
BHENEZRUBER S
EEEZ D (@

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets by categories based on method of provision for
credit loss allowance (Continued)

(i) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
individual basis: (Continued)

2020F HRAEER
2020 Closing balance

REAE EEHERERE EEI(%) BERR

Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for

Item JEH amount allowance (%) provision
Trade receivable 1 B RIRIEL 1,732 (1,732) 100%  Note FfizE (i)
Trade receivables 2 B SRR 8 (8) 100%  Note Pi3E (ii)
Trade receivables 3* B 5 fEa3 36,100 (3,005) 8.3%  Note PizE (iii)
Contract assets 1* BREEL 42,384 (3,527) 8.3%  Note Fffz¥ (iii)

80,224 (8,272)
* 8BS ENSIEIRSE * Trade receivables 3 and contract assets 1 are the same
EEIBR—F° party.

2 1 0 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets by categories based on method of provision for
credit loss allowance (Continued)

0)

Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
individual basis: (Continued)

Description of trade receivables and contract
assets for which credit loss allowance is provided
on an individual basis:

Note:

The Group considered the reasonable and
supportable evidence and information (including
forward-looking information) available in relation
to the counterparty, to assess the expected
credit losses and recognised the loss allowance
accordingly.

(i) The management believes that full
impairment is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as there were internal
changes of debtor in respect of this trade
receivable and the Group is considering to
have litigation to collect the debts.

(ii) The management believes that fully
impairment is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as the Group has lost
contact with this debtor.

(iii) The management consider the debtor with
significant outstanding balances as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 was assessed
individually.
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37 €T H @ 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HBEEMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EER R B EFFE (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
B EUSIBEREEEE (B) Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
(ii) WHAEEHREEEIE (i) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets

BRENEZSRIEERS
FEEREEH AR Z

for which credit loss allowance is provided on
portfolio basis, based on aging of debtors:

DT
1ER 122ER 2E3ERN 3ENLE ast
AEETR ARETR ARETR AREFR ARETR
Over Over
lyearand 2 yearsand
Within within within Over
B AREKHER Trade and bills receivables 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
EREELRAFEE  and contract assets RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB'000
F#2021%12H318 At 31 December 2021
IREAE Gross carrying amount
—ESEWTIER — Trade and bills receivables
Al 57,647 2,303 950 6,150 67,050
BEEER Expected loss rate 4% 9% 3% 100% =
BREELE Loss allowance provision 2,053 217 28 6,150 8,448
FEFE Net carmying amount 55,594 2,086 922 = 58,602
IREAE Gross carrying amount
—AFEE — Contract assets 96,834 145,685 = 2,389 244,908
BHEER Expected loss rate 3% 10% = 100% =
BEAELE Loss allowance provision 2,505 13,946 = 2,389 18,840
IREFE Net carrying amount 94,329 131,739 = = 226,068

2 1 2 China New Energy Limited
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(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 €T H @ 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HHEEAMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EERERBEFFG (B Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
B ENSIBEREEEE (B) Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
&R 1E2ER 2E3ER 3ELE st

AEBTT ARETR ARBTn ARETR ARETR
QOver Lyear ~ Over 2 years
andwithin 2~ and within 3

BREKTER Trade and bills receivables Within 1 year years years  Over 3 years Total
ERZRURAFAEE  and contract assets RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
#2020%12A31H At 31 December 2020
REEE Gross carrying amount
-BERNFER — Trade and bills receivables
EWZEE 25863 13,037 4519 8334 H2,253
EHEEX Expected loss rate 4% 5% 8% 100% -
BREELE Loss allowance provision 907 638 376 8,328 10,749
REFE Net carrying amount 24,956 12,399 4143 6 41,504
FEAE Gross carrying amount
—AREE — Contract assets 108,994 = = 2389 111,383
EHEEX Expected loss rate 4% = = 100% =
BREELE Loss allowance provision 4011 = = 2,389 6,400
FE3E Net carrying amount 104983 = = = 104983
FRARE SRR M ENE Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and
B ES IR EREBI T - bills receivables during the year is as follows:
202145 20204
2 HATEHA 2HATEAR

FEBIREE EEBEEs
AREBFT ARBT T

2021 2020

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Total Total

RMB’000 RMB’000

R1B 184S ER Balance at 1 January 15,494 11,124

FAREBIRESE Impairment losses recognised

during the year 6,818 4,773

b GI=pE Bad debts written off = (403)

12831 B4R Balance at 31 December 22,312 15,494
“EC—FFR

Annual Report 2021 21 3



rREMEIRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RSB BRI FTEZEB AR ARETIT)

37 EMT AR w

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) MBEREEBRRER (& (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EERBERBETE (&

EZBNNERSFEE (B)

FREMGREENBERHRR

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of contract

EEINT assets during the year is as follows:
20214 20204
2 HATEHA S HATEHR
EEEEME EEkRBAEST
ARETT N
2021 2020
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Total Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
181 H SR Balance at 1 January 9,927 5,999
F AR EEE Impairment losses recognised
during the year 15,868 3,928
R12831 B 4S &R Balance at 31 December 25,795 9,927

1R20214F 2020512431 H » A<
EEFTA Bt EUGRRIE R A HR
TNERBEER  AEEZI2ER
BHEEGRFEBREE -F
WA RE B UGRIRRYEIE R A

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the Group's other
receivables are either not past due or does not have fixed
repayment, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL. Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
other receivables during the year is as follows:

EREEUT
20214 20204
st R12(EAH st R 12(E R
TEEREERSIE 2 TAHAEEEIE
AR®TT AR¥TT
2021 2020
Total and Total and
12m ECL 12m ECL
RMB’000 RMB’000
R1B1HM4SER Balance at 1 January 7,513 3
F AR EEE Impairment losses recognised
during the year 1,725 7,510
R12831 H 45 ER Balance at 31 December 9,238 7,513

2 1 ll- China New Energy Limited
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(b)
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iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage
of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group'’s objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through financial support of business partners and
suppliers.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserve of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. At present, the Group is
financed by advance payments from customers and bank
borrowings.

—ECEFR
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37 EMITH® 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HBEEMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EER R B EFFE (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
REBENET R (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TRABETA R AR A The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
SERRERBENEMEEEIH Group's financial liabilities at the reporting date based on
=P, contractual undiscounted payments:
—FR B —F st
AR®FTT ARETIT AR®FT
Less than More than
one year one year Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2021%F12H31H 31 December 2021
RITHER Bank borrowings 25,372 7,578 32,950
B REMPEMIIE  Trade and other payables
(FEIERERHEER)  (excluding VAT payable) 129,331 - 129,331
HEaRE Lease liabilities 1,277 762 2,039
155,980 8,340 164,320

2020%12831H 31 December 2020

SRITER Bank borrowings 11,454 10,030 21,484

B REMPENFIE Trade and other payables
(FEFEFETIE(ER)  (excluding VAT payable) 103,550 = 103,550
HEaE Lease liabilities 1,240 2,039 3,279
116,244 12,069 128,313

2 1 6 China New Energy Limited
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iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made
in determining the fair values of the financial instruments
that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
financial statements. To provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the
Group has classified its financial instruments into the three

iRz BREE TR levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the table.
BEME A FEFE Recurring fair value measurements
34K st
AR®FT AR®FT
Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
$£2021412A31H At 31 December 2021
ETREE Financial assets
BAFESFAEMEE  Financial assets at fair value through
W EREE other comprehensive income 4,463 4,463
#2020%F12H31H At 31 December 2020
ETREE Financial assets
BAFESFAEMEE  Financial assets at fair value through
W EREE other comprehensive income 4,845 4,845
2 —FFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. These instruments are
included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the
case for unlisted equity securities.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for

recurring fair value measurements during the year ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair value

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

° For financial assets at FVTOCI, asset-based
approach (Note (i))

° For convertible notes, weighted scenario approach
(Note (ii))
Note i: The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI represent 2.08%

equity interests in an unlisted company, Inner Mongolia
Zhongneng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. The investee was
established on 4 April 2019 and as at 31 December 2021,
the investee has not launched any operation, the majority of
the assets are one building and land use right. Therefore,
the valuer used asset-based approach for financial assets at
FVTOCI.

Note ii: The fair value of convertible notes was arrived at by
calculating the weighted average fair value of the convertible
notes under two scenarios: disapproval and approval of
listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Under the
disapproval and approval of listing on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange scenario, the fair value was arrived at
using discounted cash flow analysis and market approach
respectively.

B —FFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

() EWMIAMNQTFEFE (&)

BEMLFEFNE (B

1EEBA 5 RE LT ER

R 1%

TRBABEAEIR LT EAE
FRRERTAIREHABRNE
EEN BRPmGEERN B

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs used
in level 3 fair value measurements (see (b) above for the

b)) - valuation techniques adopted):
20215
R2021F EAFAHER 12A31HK FAHREAHEE
Ht 12A31AMATE BAHE BAMEEE ATENRG
Fair value as at ~ Significant Range of inputs as at  Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 December 2021  unobservable inputs 31 December, 2021 inputs to fair value
BATES ARH2ER 4463 FRETE-ME- 59%-83%  PEEER AATENS
HNEHEE i Koz te
Financial assets at FVTOC 4463 Rate of newness - 59%-83%  The higher the rate of newness, the
Property, plant higher the fair value.
and equipment
T REFHE 1092833  mEHE BATEYS
AR/ THR)
Market price of 109-2833  The higher the market price, the
land and buildings higher the fair value.
(RMB/square metre)
1420205
R2020F EAFAHR 12A31HK FAHRRAAHEE
Ht 12A31AMATE BAHE BAMEEE ATENRG
Fair value as at ~ Significant Range of inputs as at  Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 December 2020  unobservable inputs 31 December, 2020 inputs to fair value
BATES ARH2ER 4845 FRETE-ME- 75%84%  PEEER AIATENS
HNEHEE i Koz te
Financial assets at FVTOC 4,845 Rate of newness - 75%-84%  The higher the rate of newness, the
Property, plant higher the fair value.
and equipment
T REFHE 1102867  mEHE BATEES
AR/ THR)
Market price of 110-2867  The higher the market price, the
land and buildings higher the fair value.
(RMB/square metre)

FrEENZATES ARMEE
WamEMEERBILIMNGE
BIGEMETHE - MFRER

HEMMEERRE RS

A
aff ©

22 0 China New Energy Limited

EITH

The financial assets at FVTOCI of the Group was valued
by independent and qualified valuers. Discussions of
valuation processes and results were held between the
Chief Financial Officer and the valuers.



iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 EMT AR w 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) ETMIAMNAFEFEZE @ ()  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)
F3RLAFEAERH IR Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

BNFEFA

Hih 2@

MRS E

AR¥FT

Financial assets

at FVTOCI

RMB’000

HR2020F1H1H At 1 January 2020 5,015

4BE51E Total losses:
—REMEEKRE — in other comprehensive income (145)
Hith Others (25)
1202012831 H At 31 December 2020 4 845
4EES1E . Total losses:

—REMEEKE — in other comprehensive income (324)
—HAh — others (58)
12021 12H31H At 31 December 2021 4,463
AJARREIR

AR¥FT

Convertible Notes

RMB’000

11202018 1H At 1 January 2020 11,847
AN Conversion to shares (10,385)
NEEES) Change in fair value (1,462)
1R20205F K2021F12831H At 31 December 2020 and 2021 -

“EC—FFR
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38 REREMERME

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
(a) PBREAIEMAIEF ELKSFRHAR (@  Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash
EFEMNHIER used in operations
HZE12H31HLLEE
202145 20204
AR®BTT AR®EF T
Year ended 31 December
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPTSH AR Profit before income tax 8,964 56,944
KLU A% Adjustments for:
— B &R AN R RE — Finance costs — net 1,996 1,370
— W BB KRS — Depreciation of property,
e plant and equipment 4,421 3,454
— B EITE — Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 1,131 1,131
— BB E — Amortisation of intangible assets 1,357 1,072
—SMEEREREE - Netimpairment losses on
ERIRFER financial assets and contract
assets 24411 16,211
— R AERBIEN  — Share-based payment expense
52 - 948
— ARG ER A TE — Fair value gains on convertible
g notes = (1,462)
—ER &) EiE — Exchange (gains)/losses, net
JFRE (1,407) 1,409
—HEMERREZ — Loss on disposal of property and
518 equipment 56 179
—iEEREE — Contract assets written off = 2,752
— Ui [o]iR AR — Recovery of bad debts (2,687) (3,270)
SEEESEFHAIZ Operating profit before working
KA capital changes 38,242 80,738
HEETED) Changes in working capital:
—aREBEE — Contract assets (136,891) (32,413)
—FE — Inventories (1,164) (2,612)
—BSRBFIEREW - Trade and bills receivables
ERMAEME and other receivables and
FIB B FIA prepayment 61,139 (66,573)
—&aRaf’ — Contract liabilities 1,597 5,086
—BEREMMENMIUE - Trade and other payables 18,927 (23,616)
—IRIEUTA — Deferred income (2,400) 2,400
KEFTRIRE Cash used in operations (20,550) (36,990)

222 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREIN FRESEENA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

HERERMFE @ 38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

BETHIER (b)  Net debt reconciliation
KEFHIN S EVFEFEE X This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
BESEBB T o movements in net debt for each of the year presented.
202145 20204
ARBTT AR®FT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
REMRIREEEY) Cash and cash equivalents 6,904 37,322
IRTTERKEESRE Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—ng——FARER — current — repayable within
one year (25,549) (12,247)
RITERREESE Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—IEREN — non-current (8,246) (11,432)
FETS Net debt (26,891) 13,643
20214 20204
AR®BTT AR®FTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
REMIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 6,904 37,322
wEF—ETEHE Gross debt — fixed interest rates (33,795) (23,679)
FETS Net debt (26,891) 13,643
—ECEFR
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38 FEHRERERMFT @ 38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) FEFHIKR @ (b)  Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

R—ER
Hek KRR fém— HEN HERRA- HERR-
ReEE EENED FRE FHBRRE ik ] FETE st
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARKTT ARBTT ARETR

Convertible Lease

Cash  Borrowings  Borrowings  notes due Lease Liabilities

and cash  due within - non- within  Liabilities - non-
equivalents 1 year current 1 year - current current Total

RMB'000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMBOOO ~ RMB'O00 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000

1120205 Net debt as at

18188 1 January 2020

FEH 26,466 (18.941) - (11,847) (1,073) (2,3%9) (8,284)
Behes Cash flows 12,102 7,769 (9,500) = 955 = 11,3%
NFEWT Fair value gains = = = 1,462 - - 1,462
=AY Converted to shares = = = 10,385 - - 10,385
SN Reclassification - - - - (957) 957 -
HWEEE Translation differences (1,246) - - - - - (1,246)
12020F Net debt as at

128318H 31 December 2020

FEH 37,322 (11,172) (9,500) = (1,075) (1,932) 13643
12021% Net debt as at

1818H 1 January 2021

BEHE 37,322 (11,172) (9,500) = (1,075) (1,932) 13643
BE&ng Cash flows (309770  (11,191) - = 1,075 - (41,093)
ERipaE: Reclassification = (2,000) 2,000 = (1,186) 1,186 -
BEERR Translation differences 559 - - - - - 559
12021F Net debt as at

1283188 31 December 2021

BEHE 6904  (24363) (7,500) - (1,186) (746)  (26891)

224 China New Energy Limited
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(a)

(b)

iR E M IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

R Bk 75 4 BR (@  Related party balances
BiRAE S 2 W R EE G EREB Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are
N ST BRI R M2 K set out in the consolidated statement of financial position
26° and in Notes 21 and 26.
FTEEEEHM (b)  Key management compensation
202145 20204
AREETT AR®EFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE e Ttk Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
HAth4EZ 7 benefits 3,726 3,075
DUBRAD AEERIBN S Share-based compensations = 240
3,726 3,315

40 FHAEE

TR20214F 5220205F 12331 H » A< S El
ERERAEE-

41 BEAEIE

JR20214F K 20206 12831 B » A S 1 #
EREREA -

40 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

41 CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any material capital commitment as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

—ECEFR
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42 BATMBRRRRGHE

28

(@ FAFMBRIER

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position of the Company

20214 20204
ARETT AREEF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
ERENEE Non-current asset
R—REMEBASIA  Investments in a subsidiary
®"E 86,034 86,034
REMEE Current assets
FEU AR B Dividend receivables 5,758 6,013
FEUSHIEB/ATIZIE  Amounts due from subsidiaries 8,439 =
HhfEWGRIERTE  Other receivables and
NE/RE prepayments 3,081 3,387
IRTTHEGRRIRS Bank balances and cash 1,095 10,332
18,373 19,732
mEE Total assets 104,407 105,766
T EQUITY
EATEBA Equity attributable to
FE(L i Owners of the Company
&N Share capital 1,762 1,762
(=] Reserves 96,957 97,880
4ERE T Total equity 98,719 99,642
aE LIABILITIES
mENEE Current liabilities
RITER Bank borrowings 2,450 _
FES—RIMB/AS  Amount due to a subsidiary
=I1E - 883
HhpEI I8 Other payables 3,036 5,033
FEfIIRIE Tax payable 202 208
5,688 6,124
wmas Total liabilities 5,688 6,124
mEmkaf Total equity and liabilities 104,407 105,766

ARB MBI R B 1202256
RAlABHEFEEHERKET

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

AT ATRRES Directors on 14 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf
by:
RIEE FE IR E
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
EF EE
Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve Movement of the Company

Mg
AERN SMERE
BRiniEfE e il B4y g st
AEETT  ARETR ARETr ARETT ARETR
HiEE34() HiEE34(d) Hi&34e)
Foreign
Share-based currency
payment translation  Accumulated
Share premium reserves reserves losses Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Note 34(z) Note 34(a) Note 34(e)
142020515 1B /48R  Balance at 1 January 2020 64,246 1017 (7,424) (66,222) (83%3)
Syl Profit for the year = = = 7483 7483
Ht2EYE Other comprehensive income - - 31,282 = 31,282
DR AERRMIES Share-based payment expenses - 048 _ _ 948
BRG Issuance of shares 72965 = - - 72.965
BIRATELETHAA  Transaction costs attributable to
issue of shares (21,700) - - - (21,700)
MREEEEZERG  Convertble notes Transfer to shares 10333 - - - 10333
TEETRAREER  Exercise of the pre-IPO Share
2 Option Scheme 6,917 (1,965) - - 4,952
#2020%12A31H Balance at
iofeg 31 December 2020 132,761 - 23858 (58,739) 97,880
#2021 1B 1B M48:  Balance at 1 January 2021 132,761 - 23858 (58,739) 97,880
ERiaF Profit for the year = = - 33 33
Hth2EEE Other comprehensive loss = = (956) - (956)
[#2021&£12A31R Balance at
fses 31 December 2021 132,761 - 22902 (58,706) 96,957
“E—FFR
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M E
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TREPMAEE & ZE20174F ~ 201845 ~ 20194
2020F Fe2021F12B31H L FEZ 28 - BER
afE:

The following table summarises the results, and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and
2021:

REFEEE20175 ~ 2018F 520195 12H31H 1k
FEZFE BEROEHEREREALT A
72020565308 2 1B =Z

The summary of the results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 was extracted from the
prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2020.

BE12A31HILEE
2021F 2020 20194 2018%F 20174
ARETRE ARBTrT ARBTT AR®TRT ARET®
Year ended 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ZEEEREME  Major Items of Consolidated
AREREE Statement of Profit or Loss and
EHH Other Comprehensive Income
e Revenue 386,831 521,561 398,558 249,978 257,109
E7 Gross profit 45,322 132,716 109,417 72,604 77,321
ESIIES Gross profit margin 11.7% 254% 27.5% 29.0% 30.1%
PR Profit for the year 7,795 44,364 59,168 45,821 45,659
NEVHEB NG Profit attributable to the owners
gl of the company 8,421 44,364 59,168 45,821 45,659
FEIER R RS Loss attributable to the non-controlling
;= interests (626) = - - =
A= Net profit margin 2.0% 8.5% 14.8% 18.3% 17.8%
FEMBRAR Major Items of Consolidated
FEER Statement of Financial Position
ERBEE Non-current assets 63,246 51,031 45,464 27,599 16,567
MENEE Current assets 473,511 448 140 355,569 221,323 176,314
JEREEE Non-current liabilities 8,246 13,832 2,891 = =
mEmaE Current liabilities 278,836 242,729 267,712 177,896 163,231
NEHEE AE Capital and reserves attributable to
BRKEE the owners of the company 249,860 242,610 130,430 71,026 29,650
FEERR R Non-controlling interests (185) = = = =
BEAREX Gearing ratio 1.15 1.06 2.07 2.50 S5l

228 China New Energy Limited
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